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Highlights in 2021
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In April, CPMC and Friendship Chemical signed
a strategic cooperation agreement to deepen
cooperation with strategic downstream customers
through innovative cooperation mode.

CORPORATE

INFORMATION 0 2
 J

In April, the second production line of Tianjin
can-making project was successfully launched.

HIGHLIGHTS
IN 2021

03.

In April, Lu Jun, Secretary of the Party Leadership
Group of COFCO and Chairman of COFCO,
conducted research investigation at CPMC
headquarters in Hangzhou.

CHAIRMAN'S
LETTER
® O I
In May, CPMC held a seminar on “3+N” system
technology innovation, continuously promoting
CPMC’s R&D innovation system, innovation
GENERAL capability, innovation execution and innovation
MANAGER'S capacity cultivation.
REPORT

05.

In May, the second production line of Wuhan
can-making project was successfully launched.

4 CPMC Holdings Limited




06.

Highlights in 2021

In May, CPMC and Gunuo (Tianjin) Industrial Co.
Ltd. held a comprehensive strategic cooperation
signing ceremony in Hangzhou. As the first choice
and main supplier of Gunuo (Tianjin) Industrial Co.
Ltd., CPMC will fully cooperate with Gunuo (Tianjin)
Industrial Co. Ltd.’s new industrial layout and
ensure product quality so as to promote customers’
success.

07

In August, CPMC and Blue Moon signed a strategic
cooperation agreement to further deepen their
strategic cooperation in the areas of “sustainable
development, collaborative research and
development, mutual promotion and progress, and
business priorities”.

08.

In October, CPMC and Longjiang County
People's Government held a signing ceremony
for a packaging products project, promoting the
construction of CPMC’s Longjiang packaging
products project.

09

In December, CPMC was awarded the title of “Five
Star Supplier” by China Resources Group for the
year 2022-2023 at the first supplier conference held
by China Resources Snow Breweries.
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of CPMC Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased the audited annual results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group” or “CPMC") for the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Year”).

In 2021, the global economy continued to recover,
commodity prices rose, inflation continued to
rise and volatility in the international financial
markets intensified. In the face of the complex and
challenging development environment, China’s
economy recovered steadily and maintained its
global leadership in economic development as well
as in epidemic prevention and control. Based on
scientific principles, the Group co-ordinated the
prevention and control of epidemics and actively
promoted quality development, with its results
showing a steady reinforcement and continuous
improvement for the year. Both sales revenue and
net profit reached record highs, with sales revenue
increased 30.2% and net profit increased 20.2%
year-on-year compared to last year. CPMC took new
steps in the new development environment of the
14th Five-Year Plan and achieved a good start.

China has a huge market with extremely large population, which is the foundation of the Group’s ability to
meet risks and challenges. With the consumption potentials of the new generation gradually unleashed
and becoming stronger, the food and beverage market is also undergoing rapid changes. New brands
and traditional brands are competing with each other, by constantly launching new innovations, new
products and new packaging. Young consumers are diversified, open to new ideas, quality conscious and
environmentally conscious. Their iterative updates and advancements in consumption concepts, needs and
scenarios are bringing opportunities as well as new challenges to the food and beverage industry.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Chairman’s Letter

Global commodity prices continued to rise in 2021, with prices of major raw materials such as aluminium,
tinplate and cold rolled sheets increased to record highs, putting enormous pressure on the profitability
of companies. With a general objective of carbon neutrality, the industry is removing inefficient and
ineffective production capacity and engaging in the important task of controlling energy consumption.
The environment of the industry is expected to further improve with continuous increase in industrial
concentration. As the industry leader, CPMC, through diversified product mix, continuous improvement
in capacity utilisation, as well as strengthened technology research and development innovation, has
optimised its supply chain competitiveness, incessantly implemented benchmarking improvements,
launched multiple initiatives to reduce costs and increase efficiency and achieved rapid response
and interaction between supply and sales, thus improving its operational efficiency and manpower
effectiveness, and enhancing product competitiveness and added value. As a result, it has achieved
performance growth for the year despite a downward trend in the industry, with a steady increase in its
overall scale and overseas business turning losses into profits. Its resilience against the overall impact of
increased costs on gross margin is gradually becoming more prominent, with relatively stable net profit
attributable to owners of the Company.

Looking ahead to 2022, the global economic recovery is uneven. The pandemic and its prevention policies
are still key factors in determining a sustainable economic recovery. The uncertainties in the environment
will call for a greater emphasis on resilience and risk resistance in the composition of an enterprise’s supply
chain. As the pandemic gradually gets under control, the market recovery momentum will also gradually
shift from external demand pull to more domestic demand driven, and the industry is expected to pick up
gradually. At the same time, as the urbanisation rate continues to rise, the trend of consumer upgrading
will also continue. As ESG concerns continue to grow, the goal of promoting manufacturing upgrades and
creating green carbon reduction is becoming more apparent. When all uncertainties become certainties,
CPMC has the confidence, qualifications and ability to promote the smooth, healthy, sustainable and
high-quality development of the enterprise.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express our sincere gratitude to the management and all the staff
of the Group for their valuable service and contribution during the past year. | would also like to express
our heartfelt gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners, and shareholders for their continuous
support to the Group.

Zhang Xin
Chairman of the Board
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General Manager’s Report

In 2021, when various uncertainties in the
post-pandemic era became certainties, and when
the sharp rise in raw material costs repeatedly hit
record highs, CPMC withstood multiple challenges
and achieved significant growth in sales volume and
steady improvement in profitability for the year.

Externally, the Group actively deepened cooperation
with key customers, strived to explore new market
opportunities and continuously improved its regional
layout. Internally, the Group enhanced its level
of refined management, utilised benchmarking
to continuously promote quality and efficiency,
strengthened its credit risk control system, made
early judgments and carried out drill practices of
unexpected situations, and effectively implemented
measures to secure the supply of raw materials.

The Group’s aluminium packaging business
continued to grow rapidly, with sales revenue
increased by 43.7% over last year and further
increased share in the overall business structure.
The two-piece can business continued to deepen
its close cooperation with strategic customers, and
in response to the demand for differentiated can
types, continued to improve its product quality and
service levels, and was awarded the title of “Five Star
Supplier” by China Resources Holding for the year
2022-2023. In addition to business expansion, it strengthened the layout of existing production lines and
effectively promoted the construction of new sites, with the second production lines in Tianjin and Wuhan
successfully launched during the year. The capacity enhancements in Chengdu and Guangzhou and the
construction of the new plant in Kunming all progressed orderly, consolidating and enhancing the Group’s
competitiveness in South and Southwest China continuously. The operations of overseas projects were
normal and the construction of the second line in Belgium has commenced.

The Group'’s tinplate packaging business has a wide range of products, with milk powder cans, spray
cans, steel drums and screw-on lids maintaining their leading positions in the industry. The milk powder
can business has optimised its strategic layout, with downstream core customers’ milk sources located
initially in the northeast, and the Group’s key projects supporting customers such as Feihe, Yili and Mengniu
have been progressing orderly. At the technical level, innovative breakthroughs were made, with the
development of a variety of new can-types and the tagged easy-to-tear cover which was granted a patent
license. New business models were explored for spray cans. Through cooperation with Linyi Friendship and
low-cost operation model, it achieved market expansions to Shandong, Henan, Anhui and other regions,
effectively increasing market share and achieving a high/low mix. Steel drum business has maintained its
rank as the largest scale in the industry for three consecutive years. In response to the continuous sharp
rise in steel plate prices, it made use of information technology in analysing, facilitating the rapid interaction
between production and sales, and applying timely adjustment of pricing strategy, which resulted in
positive and effective cost transfer. In terms of organisation, it achieved integrated management, resource
sharing and standardisation, effectively enhancing management efficiency.

CPMC Holdings Limited



General Manager’s Report

In the plastic packaging business area, the Group optimised its customer structure, continued to
consolidate cooperation with customers of household chemical products, increased the proportion
of non-household chemical customers in orders, and captured new as well as old customers. The
cooperation with strategic customers was stable and positive, with expanded advantages of factory-in-plant
construction. A strategic cooperation agreement was reached with Blue Moon and the bidding for the
second phase of the Blue Moon project in Chongging was successful. This business area actively seized
the development trend of high-end household chemical products and invested with precision in the field
of laundry beads for P&G and Unilever, rapidly expanding its leading position in the market segment.
Internally, it continued to expand its informatization in its operation infrastructure and promoted the
automation of production, which effectively sped up production cycles and improved overall profitability.

The Group vigorously promoted the construction of the “3+N” technological innovation system, forming
an optimal state of synergy from R&D, engineering and information technology for efficient business
development. The Group introduced high-speed packaging production lines and various advanced testing
equipment to enhance the automation of major packaging processes. At the same time, it leveraged on
information technology management methods to accelerate the upgrading of traditional manufacturing
processes by rapidly transforming the traditional packaging manufacturing to intelligent manufacturing.
The pilot MES-based partial dark factory in Tianjin has achieved all-round digitisation of manufacturing
execution, production planning, production process and quality management, enabling the full process
information of production that can be traced at any point in time. This represents an important step in the
digital transformation of subsequent packaging factories.

The Group has effectively implemented full-process control of food safety, improved the standard of
system risk management, continued to consolidate the construction of a dual prevention mechanism and
carried out in-depth special safety remediation. The Group has also prepared the “2021 Special Action on
Ecological and Environmental Protection” and the “Programme for CPMC’s Peak Carbon dioxide Emission *,
establishing a sound supervision, guidance and support system for energy conservation and environmental
protection. It organised environmental audits and special actions for the dual goal of “carbon peaking” and
“carbon neutrality”, and promoted green development of the manufacturing industry.

CPMC will further strengthen its technological research and development efforts, continuously improve
its technological innovation system, constantly enhance its technological innovation capability, effectively
implement the requirements of innovation drive, strengthen environmental protection and safety assurance,
and earnestly fulfil its social responsibility. At the same time, it will pay attention to changes in domestic and
international markets, expand its ability to develop new customers, explore more opportunities in overseas
markets, improve its performance and profitability, provide quality and reliable products and services to the
customers and create greater value for the shareholders.

Zhang Ye
Executive Director and General Manager
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Description

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of packaging products used for consumer
goods such as food, beverages and household chemical products, extensively covering the packaging
markets of tea beverages, carbonated beverages, fruit and vegetable beverages, beer, dairy products,
household chemical products and other consumer goods. In addition, the Group provides comprehensive
packaging solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics and comprehensive
customer services. As a leading metal packaging provider in the PRC, the Group is committed to
developing into the leader of the comprehensive consumer goods packaging industry in the PRC. The
products of the Group mainly include aluminium packaging, tinplate packaging and plastic packaging.
The Group carries out operations through 37 operating subsidiaries and 2 joint ventures (which are
strategically located in different regions of the PRC), an offshore operating subsidiary and their branches
in order to serve customers more efficiently. Ranking first in multiple market segments, the Group has
earned the appreciation and trust of many well-known brands domestically and abroad, and established
a solid customer base, including domestically and internationally renowned high-end consumer goods
manufacturers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Aluminium Packaging

The Group uses aluminium as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging products, which
mainly include two-piece beverage cans (two-piece cans) and one-piece cans. Aluminium packaging
products are characterised by a high degree of automatic production and full product recyclability,
etc., and has been one of the Company’s core businesses in recent years.

In 2021, in face of the substantial increase in aluminium prices, the Group actively responded
with precise measures to strengthen the interaction between supply and sales to reduce costs. In
addition, it continued to promote internal tapping and efficiency enhancement, steadily releasing
new production capacity, building regional multi-type can supply capacity and enhancing overall
competitiveness. Significant growth in sales revenue from aluminium packaging products was
achieved during the reporting period. In 2021, the Group’s sales revenue from aluminium packaging
was approximately RMB4,463 million, (2020: approximately RMB3,107 million), increased 43.7% from
2020, accounting for approximately 46.7% of the overall sales (2020: approximately 42.3%). The
gross profit margin of the aluminium packaging business was approximately 15.5% in 2021 (2020:
approximately 17.1%).

Two-Piece Beverage Cans (Two-Piece Cans)

Two-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of beer, carbonated drinks and tea
beverages. In 2021, the Group’s sales revenue from the two-piece can business was approximately
RMB4,288 million (2020: approximately RMB2,948 million), representing an increase of 45.5% over
2020. Renowned customers of the Group’s two-piece can business include Anheuser-Busch InBev,
Coca-Cola, CR Snow Beer, JDB and Tsingtao Brewery.

One-Piece Cans

One-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products,
beers, carbonated drinks and medical products. In 2021, the Group’s sales revenue from one-piece
can products was approximately RMB175 million (2020: approximately RMB159 million), representing
an increase of 10.1% over 2020. Renowned customers of the Group’s one-piece cans business
include Anheuser-Busch InBev, Tsingtao Brewery, Carlsberg, Daizo Group and Sinochem Group, etc.

Tinplate Packaging

The Group uses tinplate as the primary raw material for its tinplate packaging, the products of which
include steel barrels, milk powder cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, three-piece beverage cans, round
and square shaped cans, printed and coated tinplate and other metal packaging. The Group is in a
leading position in a number of market segments, with steel barrels, milk powder cans, twist caps and
aerosol cans ranking No. 1 in market shares nationwide.

In 2021, the price of tinplate materials rose sharply. The Group continued to promote internal tapping
to reduce production costs and deepen cooperation with customers, resulting in a steady increase in
the market share of core customers. The milk powder cans business continued to maintain its leading
position in the niche market, while the spray cans business deepened its market layout and signed
strategic cooperation agreements with Friendship Chemical and GNS to deepen the synergy of the
industrial chain. In 2021, sales revenue from the Group’s tinplate packaging business amounted to
approximately RMB4,461 million (2020: approximately RMB3,660 million), representing an increase
of approximately 21.9% over 2020, accounting for approximately 46.6% of the overall sales (2020:
approximately 49.8%). The gross profit margin of the tinplate packaging business in 2021 was
approximately 11.7% (2020: approximately 14.5%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Steel Barrels
gg’éﬁgg:ﬁm The Group produces steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres or above, which are mainly used
AND ANALYSIS for carrying chemical products and raw food ingredients (e.g. bulk edible oil). In 2021, the sales
revenue was approximately RMB1,427 million (2020: approximately RMB958 million), representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 49.0%. Renowned customers of the Group’s steel barrels
business include Wanhua, Sinopec, BASF, Nippon and Exxon Mobil, etc.

Milk Power Cons

Milk powder cans are mainly used for the packaging of infant formula milk powder, health food
and other products. The Group is the largest milk powder can manufacturer in the PRC. In 2021,
the sales revenue from the milk powder can business amounted to approximately RMB737 million

CORPORATE (2020: approximately RMB678 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 8.7%.

GOVERNANCE L A . . . . .

REPORT Renowned customers of the Group’s milk powder cans business include Feihe, Yili, Mengniu, Unilever
and Nestle.

Aerosol Cans

Aerosol cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products (e.g. car
maintenance products, alcohol disinfectant, air fresheners, personal care products and pesticides)
and other chemical products. In 2021, the Group recorded sales revenue of approximately RMB617
million (2020: approximately RMB482 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
28.0%. Renowned customers of the Group’s aerosol cans business include Gunuo Tianjin, Johnson

E(N)\é"Z(E"mENTAL’ Shanghai, Shanghai Daizo and Zhongshan Lanju.

GOVERNANCE

REPORT Metal Caps
Metal caps products include twist caps and crown caps. In 2021, the Group’s sales revenue from
the metal caps business amounted to approximately RMB543 million (2020: approximately RMB537
million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 1.1%. Renowned customers of the
Group’s metal caps business include Haiday, Jiajiahong, Huanlejia, Lao Gan Ma, Chubang, China
Resources Snow Breweries, Anheuser-Busch InBev and Tsingtao Brewery.
Three-piece Beverage Cans (Three-Piece Cans)

DIRECTORS AND Three-piece beverage cans (the “three-piece cans”) are used widely for the packaging of protein

f/li\’\l‘\:/?gEMENT drinks, energy drinks, mixed congee, fruit and vegetable juice, coffee, etc. In 2021, the sales revenue

PROFILE from three-piece cans was approximately RMB210 million (2020: approximately RMB182 million),

representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 15.4%. Renowned customers of the Group’s
three-piece cans business include Yinlu, Lulu, Yangyuan, Nestle, Mengniu and Yili.

Round and Square Shaped Cans
The Group’s round and square shaped cans products are mainly used for the packaging of various
chemical oil paint, paint and small package of oils and fats products, etc. In 2021, the Group’s sales
revenue from round and square shaped cans business was approximately RMB339 million (2020:
REPORT OF THE approximately RMB264 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 28.4%.
DIRECTORS ) . :

Renowned customers of the Group’s round and square shaped cans business include Valspar
Corporation, Asia Paint, Yip’s Chemical and Carpoly.

Printed and Coated Tinplates

The Group’s printed and coated tinplates products are mainly used for various gift candy boxes,
food, chemicals, caps, batteries and other electronic and electric appliances (e.g. rice cookers). The
products are also used to satisfy the Group’s internal demand arising from the manufacture of cans
(e.g. milk powder cans and three-piece beverage cans, etc.) and metal caps (e.g. twist caps and
crown caps). In 2021, external sales revenue from the printed and coated tinplates business was
approximately RMB300 million (2020: approximately RMB305 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 1.6%. Renowned customers of the Group’s printed and coated tinplates
business include ORG Technology, Lao Gan Ma, Supor and T.G. Battery.

14 CPMC Holdings Limited




Management Discussion and Analysis

° Plastic Packaging

The Group’s plastic packaging products are mainly used for the packaging of personal care,
household chemical and food and beverage products. In 2021, the customer structure was
continuously optimised and the sales proportion of food and beverage customers was increased.
In terms of production operations, the degree of automation of production processes continued to
increase with the per capita output efficiency improved significantly. The sales revenue from the
plastic packaging business was approximately RMB642 million in 2021 (2020: approximately RMB578
million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 11.1%, accounting for approximately
6.7% of the total revenue (2020: approximately 7.9%). The gross profit margin of the plastic packaging
business in 2021 was approximately 17.8% (2020: approximately 17.2%). Renowned customers of
the Group’s plastic packaging business include P&G, Reckitt Benckiser, Blue Moon, Haiday, and SC
Johnson.

Outlook for 2022

In 2022, the pandemic will continue to be the greatest uncertainty throughout the year. Looking back at
2021, against the backdrop of recurring pandemics, the market of the industry has seen varying degrees of
fragmentation, with consumption power and willingness-to-pay affected to a certain extent. However, with
the normalisation of the pandemic and the development of the home consumption scenario, the marginal
impact of the pandemic on food and beverage will become less and less, and the overall trend of long-term
domestic consumption growth will continue.

Despite the significant increase in raw materials and various uncertainties, the Group’s performance was
remarkable for the year, with sales revenue increased 30.2% year-on-year and net profit increased 20.2%
year-on-year, with stable development in its core businesses and sufficient growth momentum. The Group’s
overseas businesses continued to operate smoothly and profitably, despite being in an environment
characterised by fluctuations and waves of infections as well as supply chain and labour shortages.

The Group will continue to optimise its regional layout in China, continue to promote refined management
and improve operational management efficiency. By implementing product diversification, it will enhance
differentiation and competitiveness. It will increase innovation in low-carbon products as well as research
and development of environmentally friendly products to meet consumer demand for low-carbon and
environmentally friendly packaging. It will promote digitalisation as an important method to improve its core
competitive advantage by increasing investment in digitalisation and information development. The Group
will continue to adhere to its determined objective of improving investment returns and continue to reward
shareholders with good results, innovate and improve sustainable profitability and achieve high-quality
developments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial review

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately RMB9,566 million
(2020: approximately RMB7,345 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB2,221 million or
30.2%. Gross profit margin reached approximately 13.9% in the year of 2021 (2020: approximately 15.8%),
representing a decrease as compared with the same period in the previous year. The decrease was
primarily due to the prices of raw material increased.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net profit amounted to approximately RMB473 million (2020:
approximately RMB394 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB79 million or 20.2% as
compared to the same period in the previous year, primarily due to increase in sales volume and decrease
in expenses ratio.

GROUP’S PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's profit before income tax was approximately RMB567
million (2020: approximately RMB507 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB60 million or
11.8% as compared to the same period in the previous year.

Finance costs were approximately RMB66 million (2020: approximately RMB99 million), representing a
decrease of approximately RMB33 million or 33.8% as compared to the same period in the previous year,
which was mainly due to the decrease of the overall cost of capital.

Income tax expenses were approximately RMB93 million (2020: approximately RMB113 million). The
effective income tax rate of the Group in 2021 was approximately 16.4% (2020: approximately 22.3%).

CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

In 2021, the Group’s main sources of funding were cash generated from operating activities and bank
loans.

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

RMB (million) RMB (million)

Net assets 5,819 5,503

Cash and cash equivalents 1,917 1,944

Total borrowings 4,214 4,264

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 5,478 5,218

Current ratio 1.4 1.4

Gearing ratio* 41.9% 44.5%
* The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the Company,

in which the net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB5,819 million (31 December 2020:
approximately RMB5,503 million). Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB5,478 million, which has slightly increased as compared to approximately RMB5,218 million as at 31
December 2020.

The current ratio and gearing ratio as at 31 December 2021 were approximately 1.4 and approximately
41.9%, respectively (31 December 2020: approximately 1.4 and approximately 44.5%, respectively).
The current ratio as at 31 December 2021 was approximately 1.4 which is the same as compared to 31
December 2020. The decrease in gearing ratio from approximately 44.5% as at 31 December 2020 to
approximately 41.9% as at 31 December 2021 was mainly due to the slightly increase in equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company. Interest-bearing bank loans were approximately RMB4,214 million
as at 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by
mortgages over the Group’s buildings, which had a net carrying value at the end of the reporting period of
approximately RMB64 million (31 December 2020: Nil).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB678 million,
which was as follows:

Percentage of

RMB million capital expenditure
Belgium project 107 15.8%
Two-piece cans project 302 44.6%
Tinplate project 125 18.4%
Plastics project 83 12.2%
Steel barrels project 31 4.6%
Other equipment purchases 30 4.4%
Total 678 100.0%

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had the following capital commitments:

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Contracted for, but not provided for in the
consolidated financial statements:
property, plant and equipment 459,311 383,452
capital contribution payable to a joint venture 4,680 8,280

As at 31 December 2021, save as mentioned above, the Group had no other significant commitments and
contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits
which are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros and Hong Kong dollars, most of the assets, income, payments
and cash balances are denominated in RMB. The Directors consider that exchange rate fluctuations have
no significant impact on the Company’s results.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 6,049 full-time employees (2020: 6,131), of which approximately
1,623 were engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below
shows the number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2021:

No. of Percentage of total
Function employees no. of employees
Management and Administration 680 11.3%
Sales and Marketing 251 41%
Research and Development in Technology and
Engineering 832 13.7%
Production and Quality Control 4,286 70.9%
Total 6,049 100.0%

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB769 million, as compared to
RMB646 million in the same period last year. The Group determined the salary of the employees based
on their performance, the standard of salary in the respective regions, and the industry and market
conditions. The benefits of the employees in the mainland China included pension fund, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and employment-related injury insurance and housing fund
contributions. In addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has made voluntary contributions
to an annuity plan, which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for the benefit of the Group’s
employees when they reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong Kong included
mandatory provident fund, life insurance and medical insurance.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Major risks and uncertainties
MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION
In order to stabilise business operation, the Company’s management shows great concern on the risk AND ANALYSIS

factors which the Company may face in its operation. Based on critical risk indicators and through
assessment and analysis, the following major possible risks are identified:

1. Operational risks from macroeconomic control:

Macroeconomic control has considerable impact on downstream companies and will indirectly affect
the sales and profits of packaging companies (including the Group).

2. Operational risks from fluctuations in raw material prices and exchange rates: Ggesgﬁmgg

REPORT
Raw material costs represent a relative high proportion in our production costs, hence, fluctuations in

raw material prices will have considerable impact on the generation of profits.
3. Risks from market competition:
With relatively low concentration in our sector, companies with considerable scale and capacity have

viewed further expansion of their production and marketing scale and maximisation of market share as
their main objectives. This will give rise to keen market competition.

ENVIRONMENTAL,
i SOCIAL AND
4.  Risks from food safety: GOVERNANCE
REPORT
Failure to meet the national or industrial safety standards in food production will cause food safety
issues to customers. This will give rise to the risks of return of goods or financial losses.
5. Quality risks:
Failure to satisfy the statutory standards or customers’ needs in relation to product quality or
performance will give rise to lot quality problem, of which defective lots or inventories will result in
losses. DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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The Board is fully aware of the importance of corporate ethics in running a successful company and
believes that a good and solid corporate governance framework has given the Company the edge in
attracting and retaining talent, enhancing customers’ loyalty and reinforcing relationships with suppliers,
and retaining its position as a leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods.
During the Year, the Company had adopted all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. The
Directors consider that since the listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 November 2009, save for those disclosed in
this annual report, the Company has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the
Company from time to time and will maintain and further enhance the standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect
and maximise the interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business
partners and the community as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all
Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021,

CPMC Holdings Limited



Board composition

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the Group. Decisions made
are in the best interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) and for maximising the
Shareholders’ return. The Directors formulate strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the
financial and management performance of the Group as a whole. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprise a combination of two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors as follow:

Executive Directors:
— Mr. Zhang Xin (Chairman)
— Mr. Zhang Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:

— Mr. Li Minghua (resigned on 18 January 2022)

— Mr. Chen Qianzheng (resigned on 18 January 2022)
— Dr. Zhao Wei (appointed on 18 January 2022)

— Mr. Meng Fanjie (appointed on 18 January 2022)

— Mr. Zhou Yuan

— Mr. Shen Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
— Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

— Mr. Pun Tit Shan

— Mr. Chen Jihua

The members of the Board are well-balanced in abilities with each Director having sound industry
knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of the Group.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out on pages 79 to 83 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the
Board. Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, being one of the independent non-executive Directors, has professional
qualifications in accountancy. One of the important duties of the independent non-executive Directors is
ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation
provides adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders,
including the review of continuing connected transactions described in other sections of this annual report.
The Board confirms that the Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
a confirmation of independence for the year ended 31 December 2021 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers such Directors to be independent.

Although Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo served as an independent non-executive Director for more than nine years,
the Board considers that Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo is a person of integrity and independent in judgement
and character. He is independent of management and free from any business or other relationships or
circumstances which could materially interfere with the exercise of his independent judgement. The Board
considers that Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo meets the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
and is of the view that his independence is not affected by his long service with the Company.
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Functions of the Board
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the
goal of maximising the Shareholders’ return. The Board has the following major duties:

° determination of all the corporate matters;

° be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;
° to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;

° formulation of business strategies and business plans;

° planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

° internal control and risk management;
° evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and
° be responsible for the annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Company, formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the
Group and management, and approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring
disclosure under the Listing Rules.

The management, under the leadership of the general manager of the Company (the “General Manager”), is
responsible for the business and day-to-day operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies
and policies set by the Board. The General Manager is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the
operations of business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of
the Board have been delegated by the Board to an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), a
risk management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”) and the senior management. On 23
October 2009, the Board approved the forming of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee upon the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange. On 22 December 2016, the
Board approved the formation of the Risk Management Committee. The Board delegates the authority
and responsibility of the daily operations, business strategies and day-to-day management to the General
Manager and senior management. The final decision(s) are still under the control of the Board unless
otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the four committees.

Chairman and General Manager

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and General Manager should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. In effect, the Chairman, Mr. Zhang Xin,
had been responsible for the Group’s business strategic and effective operation of the Board during the
Year. Furthermore, the role of the Chairman is to encourage and facilitate active contribution of Directors
in Board activities and constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the
support of the executive Directors and the senior management, Mr. Zhang Xin had ensured the Directors to
have receive adequate information, which is complete and reliable, in a timely manner during the Year. The
General Manager, Mr. Zhang Ye, is primarily responsible for the executive management of the Group’s daily
operations and to ensure the Group’s business plans and strategies are effectively implemented to achieve
the goals of the Group during the Year.



Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal
Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provides that any Director appointed by the
Board, either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Further, under the Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Articles,
remove a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in the Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in
approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with the Articles. The Board meets physically and regularly.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, 6 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the
meetings in person or by telephone in accordance with the Articles. A summary of the Directors’ meeting
attendance during the Year is as follows:

Attendance/Total board
meetings held during the Year

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 6/6
Mr. Zhang Ye 6/6

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Minghua 6/6
Mr. Chen Qianzheng 6/6
Mr. Zhou Yuan 6/6
Mr. Shen Tao 6/6

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 6/6
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 6/6
Mr. Chen Jihua 6/6
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According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are served to all Directors before
the meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to all
Directors. Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together
with all appropriate, complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary
to include any matters in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with
comprehensive briefing papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

General meetings with the Shareholders
The 2021 annual general meeting (the “2021 AGM”) was held on 31 May 2021. A summary of the general
meeting attendance during the Year is as follows:

Attendance/Total general
meetings held during the Year
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 1/1
Mr. Zhang Ye 1/1

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Minghua 0/1
Mr. Chen Qianzheng 0/1
Mr. Zhou Yuan 0/1
Mr. Shen Tao 0/1

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 1/1
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 1/1
Mr. Chen Jihua 0/

Code provision C.1.6 of the Code stipulates that the independent non-executive Directors and other
non-executive Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the shareholders of the Company. Mr. Li Minghua, Mr. Chen Qianzheng, Mr. Zhou Yuan, Mr. Shen
Tao and Mr. Chen Jihua were unable to attend the general meetings of the Company held on 31 May 2021
due to Covid-19.



Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and
meetings of the Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for
inspection at any reasonable time upon reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the
Company to provide independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to
the Company.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before
approval is granted. Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be
considered and approved by the Board. If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter
to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal
with the matter by the way of written resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an
active role and make an independent judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his
close associates have any material interest in any proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote
(nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a meeting of the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract
or arrangement or concerning a matter in which he or any of his close associates has directly or indirectly
a material interest (save as provided under the Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior
management of the Company for the year 2021/2022. The insurance covers the corresponding costs,
charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations
and business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the
business and governance policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board. Among the three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Company secretary
Mr. Yim Ming Chung had been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 6 March 2016. He has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

Corporate Governance Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Code Provision
D.3.1. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate
governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy
of the Group.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s operation performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. Furthermore, all
Directors acknowledge the needs to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making
contributions to the Company. The table below shows the participation of individual directors in continuous
professional development during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 4 v
Mr. Zhang Ye 4 v
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Minghua 4 v
Mr. Chen Qianzheng 4 4
Mr. Zhou Yuan 4 v
Mr. Shen Tao 4 4
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 4 4
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 4 (4
Mr. Chen Jihua 4 v

Audit Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Audit Committee upon the listing of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference stating its authority and duties. A majority of
the members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 3/3

Mr. Zhou Yuan (Note 2) 3/3

Mr. Chen Jihua (Note 1) 3/3

Notes:

1. Independent non-executive Director

2. Non-executive Director



The Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary had been
circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the meetings. No member of
the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the
requirements of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are published on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee’s main responsibilities include the following:

° review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial
reports;

° monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and
° consider the independence of the external auditor.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee had performed the following work:

° reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing and internal control systems and financial reporting matters;

° reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s interim and annual reports, the
letter to the management from the auditor of the Company, the audit scope and fees for the year ended
31 December 2021;

° approved the internal audit plan for the year of 2021;
° reviewed continuing connected transactions; and

° met with the external auditor to discuss the general scope of their audit work for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board that, subject to the Shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited be re-appointed as the Company’s
external auditor for the year ending 31 December 2022.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary
can arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such
advice be considered necessary by the Audit Committee.
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Nomination Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Nomination Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of reference for the Nomination
Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are published on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee
are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to (i) review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (ii)
make recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment as Director and senior management
of the Group; and (iii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee had performed the following work:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of skKills,
knowledge and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group;

° made recommendation to the Board for the re-election at the 2021 AGM; and

° assessment of the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.

Nomination Policy

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of the Board, the Nomination Committee
would consider factors including:

(a) Reputation;

(b) Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age and other qualities
required, with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to contribute to the overall effectiveness of the
Board and work constructively with the existing Directors;

(d) The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings to the role and how they will enhance the
efficiency and performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed candidate including directorships or other
relationship with the Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on his ability to exercise
independent judgment; and

(fy  Factors which may affect the proposed candidate’s time commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.



Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all measurable objectives set for
implementing the policy during the year ended 31 December 2021. The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, all Board appointments will continue to be made on a
merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2021. The composition and
the details of the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Zhang Xin (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 1/1

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Note 2) 1/1

Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Note 2) 11

Notes:

1. Executive Director

2. Independent non-executive Director

Remuneration Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Remuneration Committee upon the listing
of the Shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A
majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management to ensure that
no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; (ii) determine
the specific remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and approve
performance based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board.
The Remuneration Committee may have access to independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense if considered necessary.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee had performed the following work:

o review and discuss the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Company; and

o made recommendation to the Board on the emolument of the executive Directors, non-executive
Directors, independent non-executive Directors and senior management of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 9 to
the financial statements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follows the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to
the Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human
resources related decisions.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2021. The composition
and the details of the attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year are as
follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 11

Mr. Shen Tao (Note 2) 11

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Note 1) 11

Notes:

1. Independent non-executive Director

2. Non-executive Director

CPMC Holdings Limited



Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established on 22 December 2016 and the Board has adopted the
terms of reference for the Risk Management Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code and are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee are mainly to (i) review the Group’s enterprise
risk management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures for risk assessment and risk
management; (ii) review the Group’s major risks and key emerging risks and the controls in place to mitigate
such risks; and (iii) review the effectiveness of the enterprise risk management function.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Risk Management Committee had performed the following
work:

° review and discuss the overall risk management framework, and the guidelines, policies and
procedures for risk assessment and risk management;

° review and discuss the major risks of the Group such as credit risk and market risk; and
° review the effectiveness of the overall risk management function.
The Risk Management Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2021. The

composition and the details of the attendance of the members of the Risk Management Committee during
the Year are as follows:

Members of Risk Management Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Chen Jihua (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 1/1

Mr. Chen Qianzheng (Note 2) 1/1

Mr. Zhang Ye (Note 3) 11

Notes:

1. Independent non-executive Director

2. Non-executive Director

3. Executive Director
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts,
the financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided
information and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial and
other information put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable and ensured the financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the auditor of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board has the responsibility to maintain appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems in order to safeguard the interest of the Group and the Shareholders, review and monitor
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that
the systems in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems comprise, among others, the relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures, a well-established organisational
structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable for its
daily operations and is required to implement the business strategies and policies adopted by the Board
from time to time.

The internal audit department and the risk management department of the Company supported the
Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee in reviewing the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems and performed its functions during the Year following annual
plans and submitting their reports of their findings to the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk
Management Committee at the meetings. The Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee
provide independent review on effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and gives their recommendation to the Board. The Board is responsible for reviewing the internal
audit report and approving policies and procedures designed by the management.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness,
accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and implemented
an inside information procedure. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include the maintaining of a good control environment with defined organisational structure, limit
of authority, reporting lines and responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s guidelines and the
regulatory requirements. Appropriate control measures have been taken place to facilitate a good control
environment for handling and dissemination of inside information. The access of information is restricted
to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.



Corporate Governance Report

The Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and procedures during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 by way of
discussions with the management of the Group, members of the Audit Committee, members of the Risk
Management Committee and the external independent auditor. The Board considered major investigation
findings of the external consultant on risk management and internal control matters and management’s
response to these findings.

The Board believes that the existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate and
effective. The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training schemes and budget and was satisfied with
their adequacy.

The Board also assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and external audit process,
and satisfied itself, through the work of its Audit Committee, that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and is effective at providing assurance to the Board on the relevant risks faced by the Company,
and that the external audit process is effective.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhance the efficiency of the operational
process and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.

Auditor’s Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit services 1,700
Non-audit services 700
Total 2,400

Annual Report 2021
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The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognises the effective communication with
investors is the fundamental element to build up the Shareholders’ confidence and attract more new
investors.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the Shareholders to
communicate directly to the Board;

(if)  the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

(iii) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website;

(iv) the holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time
to time. There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and presentations are made when
financial results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s
website and raise enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are
available on the Company’s website; and

(v) Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of
the Company, for any enquiries of their shareholdings and dividend entitlements.

Shareholders’ Right

The annual general meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on Monday, 30 May 2022 (the
“2022 AGM”) will provide opportunities for the Shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors,
the management and the external auditor. At the 2022 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general
meeting and the chairman/member of each of the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee will be available to answer questions from the
Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Articles, the Company should send a notice to the shareholders at least 21 clear days or 14
clear days before the annual general meetings or all other general meetings respectively.

Pursuant to the Articles, any two Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued Share carrying
the right of voting at general meetings may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general
meeting by sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary. The objects of the meeting
must be stated in the written requisition.



Shareholder(s) may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or proposals to
the Board. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2833 0554

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send or fax the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address or fax number and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has not made any changes to the Articles. An
up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and
the poll voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.cofco-pack.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2022 AGM. The Shareholders will be
allowed to have one vote for every Share they hold. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at the
meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively.

Policy on Payment of Dividends

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of dividends to Shareholders after considering
the Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its actual and
expected financial performance, its current and future business operation, level of liquidity, capital
requirements, contractual and regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has complete discretion on
whether to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides
to recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon its actual financial
performance, its current and future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual
and regulatory restrictions of and affecting the Group. The Board may also consider declaring special
dividends from time to time, in addition to the interim and/or final dividends. The Company would review and
reassess the Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

INTRODUCTION

This report is the sixth Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) report issued by CPMC Holdings
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “CPMC” or the “Group” or “we”/"us”), with an aim to give an objective and
fair picture of CPMC’s ESG performance in 2021.

REPORTING SCOPE
The disclosure in this report is consistent with that of financial information in the Group’s 2021 annual report,
and covers the performance of CPMC from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

This report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SOURCE OF INFORMATION

The information and cases in this report are derived from the statistical data, relevant documents and
internal communication documents of CPMC during its operation. CPMC undertakes that there are no false
records and misleading statements in this report, and is responsible for the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness thereof.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES
The report is prepared based on the four principles of “materiality”, “quantification” “balance” and
“consistency”, to define the content of the report and the information presentation.

Materiality: This report carries out materiality assessment in compliance with the Guide. Our work
procedures include: i) identifying relevant ESG issues, ii) assessing the materiality of the issues, and iii)
reviewing and confirming the assessment process and results by the Board. We report on ESG issues
based on the results of the materiality assessment. For details of the materiality assessment, please refer to
the section headed “Materiality Assessment” below.

Quantification: This report uses quantitative methods to measure and disclose applicable key performance
indicators in compliance with the Guide and with reference to applicable quantitative standards and
practices. The standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools to measure the key
performance indicators in this report, as well as the source of the conversion factors used, have been
explained in the corresponding context, where applicable. The environmental targets are described in the
section headed “Energy Saving and Emission Reduction Facilitating Low-carbon Development”.

Balance: This report discloses the problems encountered and rectifications in a positive and responsible
manner in compliance with the Guide, to avoid selections, omissions or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence the report readers’ decisions or judgments.

Consistency: The ESG report for the year has been prepared in the same manner as used in those for
previous years. Any change that may affect a meaningful comparison with previous reports has been
explained in the corresponding section(s).
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

The board of directors (“Board”) of CPMC makes the following statement in accordance with the
requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) set out in
Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the environmental, social and governance (ESG) governance of
CPMC. The Audit Committee of the Board supervises and governs the implementation of ESG-related
matters of CPMC. The ESG task force comprising of the officers in charge from various departments
implements ESG policies and reports to the Audit Committee.

CPMC attaches great importance to the potential material impact of ESG risks on the Group, and assesses,
prioritizes and manages material ESG issues every year through ESG risk Group, macro policies and hot
topics, so as to clarify the ESG governance priorities of the Group. The assessment results of CPMC'’s
material issues for the year have been submitted to the Board for approval.

During the reporting period, the Board has set environmental targets related to business operations, and
has reviewed and discussed the progress of the targets established.

This report also discloses in detail the above ESG related issues, which have been reviewed and approved
by the Board on 22 March 2022.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

1. ESG GOVERNANCE

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
1.1. ESG Governance Structure AND ANALYSIS
Good ESG governance is a key way to achieve the goal of the Group’s sustainable development,
and an effective ESG strategy is of great significance for guiding the ESG work execution of the
Group. Through risk management and control, the Group identifies ESG risks and proactively
responds thereto to guide operations and optimize business. We implement ESG strategies
in respect of business ethics, green operation, employee growth, quality innovation and
contributing to the society, and have formed a systematic ESG governance structure centralizing
on the Board, the Audit Committee and the ESG task force as approved by a Board meeting in
2021, which has clarified the powers, responsibilities and decision-making procedures at all
levels and ensured the full implementation of ESG work. CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
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Board: As the highest decision-making body for ESG governance, it oversees the overall
ESG strategy and annual ESG targets of CPMC, as well as reviews and approves disclosures
including the ESG report.
Audit Committee: It undertakes the responsibility to supervise ESG-related work, so as to better
. . : , REPORT OF THE
supervise and govern the implementation of the Group’s ESG work. DIRECTORS

ESG task force: It formulates its ESG annual goals and work plans according to ESG
management policies and strategies; implements key tasks and monitors the achievement of
goals in accordance with ESG annual goals and work plans; regularly reports the progress of its
ESG work to the management; is responsible for the specific ESG work execution; and submits
annual ESG information and disclosures.
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1.2. Stakeholder Engagement

gg’éﬁggg\‘m We attach great importance to the communication with stakeholders, and have established a
AND ANALYSIS diversified communication system for stakeholders to identify the ESG issues of stakeholders’
concern and proactively respond thereto. During the year, CPMC communicated with
stakeholders mainly for the followings:
Labour standards . .
- Policy consultation
Product responsibility . .
Government and ) . Incident reporting
CORPORATE regulatory bodies Anti-corruption Information disclosure
GOVERNANCE Emissions
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND

Climate change

Shareholders and investors

Product responsibility
Anti-corruption
Climate change

Shareholders’ general
meetings

Annual reports

Periodic announcements

Official website

Employment
Health and safety

Employee training

Empl . ff meetin
SONERNANCE ployees Development and training Staff meetings
REPORT Face-to-face exchange
Labour standards
Information disclosure
Social media
Customers Product responsibility Face-to-face
communication
Meetings
DIRECTORS AND
. upply chain management upplier meetings
SENIOR Suppliers and other partners S bRl . 9 Supp 9
MANAGEMENT Anti-corruption Phones and emails
PROFILE
Press conference and
Media and charity Community investment exchange meetings
organizations Product responsibility Social media
Official websites
. Community interaction
. ) Emissions ) .
Community and public i Charity activities
REPORT OF THE Community investment Social medi
DIRECTORS ocial media

44

CPMC Holdings Limited



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

1.3. Materiality Assessment
Based on the communication with key stakeholders and taking into consideration the Group’s Mg??&?g%ﬂ
operation characteristics, we conducted a materiality analysis on the ESG issues in 12 aspects AND ANALYSIS
listed in the Guide, which served as an important reference for the Group’s ESG management
and information disclosure.

During the year, CPMC identified “product responsibility”, “employment” and “emissions” as
the key material issues; other material issues included “health and safety”, “development and

» oo T » oo« T

training”, “anti-corruption”, “supply chain management”, “use of resources”, “climate change”,

“labour standards”, “environmental and natural resources” and “community investment”.
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1.4. Anti-corruption
CPMC adopts a zero-tolerance attitude towards corruption, fraud and other acts that violate
business ethics. We have consistently implemented the “Implementation Opinions on Promoting
the Reform of the Disciplinary Inspection and Supervision System of Central Enterprises” issued
by the General Office of the Central Commission for Discipline Inspection and the arrangements
and requirements of the COFCO Party Group and the Discipline Inspection and Supervision
Team of the Group on the construction of party conduct and integrity and anti-corruption, to REPORT OF THE
establish and continuously improve the anti-corruption and anti-fraud management system. DIRECTORS

The Party Committee of the Group implements the primary responsibility for governing the Party
comprehensively and strictly, while the Disciplinary Committee performs the responsibility for
supervising the comprehensive and strict Party governance, and is committed to establishing
and improving a large supervision network, striving to prevent and eliminate management
risks. We have also formed a coordination team for clean and honest administration and
anti-corruption, which is responsible for the rectification and implementation of related work.
According to the contents of different information, information is exchanged and shared in all
types and at all levels, in order to share resources and form synergies. A coordination meeting is
held regularly to promote the smooth information exchange between the functional departments
of finance, human resources, audit, legal affairs, office and strategy, and to enhance risk
prevention awareness and systematic views, thus jointly improving the quality and effectiveness
of supervision and inspection.
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We regularly sort out relevant constitutional documents at the central, COFCO Group and
gg“cﬁig?gENNT CPMC levels. Currently, there are seven systems and administration measures in force for
AND ANALYSIS the construction of a clean and honest administration, covering, among others, the discipline
inspection system, the implementation methods of four forms of supervision and discipline
enforcement, and the administration measures for turning in gifts and cash gifts. In 2021, we
have revised two constitutional documents, the Administration Measures of CPMC for Turning
in Gifts and Cash Gifts (Revised) and the Anti-corruption Risk Prevention and Control Manual of
CPMC (2021 Revision).

Please refer to 2.3.2 Incorrupt Supply Chain for details on suppliers’ clean and honest
administration.

CORPORATE Whistle-blowing Channels
SS!SE?‘ANCE CPMC has multiple whistle-blowing channels including mailbox, hotline and online, adhering
to the principle of confidentiality, real-name reporting priority and rewards once verification.
Employees and any third parties are welcome to truthfully report any violations of discipline and
regulations in connection with the Group’s business activities. We regularly check the reporting
mailbox, keep the contents reported strictly confidential and respond thereto in a timely manner.
We attach great importance to protecting the privacy of whistleblowers during investigations,
and severely punish the one who infringes the privacy of whistleblowers or retaliates against
whistleblowers.

During the year, we were not aware of any anti-corruption lawsuits against CPMC and its

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND employees.
GOVERNANCE . . ‘
REPORT Trainings on Anti-corruption

Focusing on the development of incorruptible culture, the Group proactively carries out online
and offline training activities on anti-fraud, and integrates disciplinary inspection and integrity
practice requirements into its daily operation. During the year, we reported the dynamics of
discipline inspection and administration by means of thematic sessions, emails, corporate
WeChat groups and etc., by publishing a warning education briefing every two months,
compiling and distributing an anti-corruption exercise book on a weekly basis, and publicizing
the same through the integrity practice window on the intranet.

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

PROFILE e Publishinga * Weekly .
warning education anti-corruption
briefing exercise book
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integrity and Party conduct
anti-corruption L and integrity

In addition to the trainings on anti-corruption for all employees, we also organize separate
integrity trainings for our directors, supervisors and senior officers.
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2. STABLE OPERATION AND QUALITY SERVICE

2.1,

Quality Control throughout the Whole Process and Ensuring Quality

Adhering to customer demand orientation, CPMC builds up a safety quality culture of full
participation and unremitting improvement. CPMC complies with the laws and regulations
including the Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China and National Food Safety
Standards — General Rules for the Labeling on Prepackaged Foods, and strictly controls the
quality and safety of packaging materials. The Group implements a quality control system in
all respects, by formulating the rules and regulations such as the Administration Regulations of
CPMC on Food Safety and the Administration Measures of CPMC for Quality Improvement. All
subsidiaries formulate the regulations such as the Quality and Food Safety Policy Objectives and
Quality Record Control Procedures. All management systems and standards related to quality
and food safety of the subsidiaries are incorporated into ISO9001 and FSSC22000/HACCP
systems.

We emphasize on the quality of services rendered and provide customers with pre-sale,
in-sale and after-sale services in the whole process. We constantly improve the quality through
satisfaction surveys, ensuring the compliance, monitoring and traceability of our products
throughout the whole process. We also attach great importance to customers’ privacy, and
CPMC had no information leakage or invasion of customers’ privacy during the year.

2.1.1. Customer Service Management throughout the Whole Process

The Group has a Quality and Safety Management Department, arranges quality personnel
in each business unit, and sets up a customer service division in each grassroots unit
with dedicated customer service personnel, so that customers are served before, during
and after the purchase. In respect of after-sales service, we have an effective customer
complaint process in place. Once there is a customer complaint, the personnel of the
subsidiaries in charge will follow the Customer Service Management Procedures to handle
and respond in a timely manner. For key customers, a special service team consisting of
sales, technology, production, quality and other personnel is set up to provide one-on-one
services in respect of technology and improvement. We also regularly carry out activities for
key customers such as quality and improvement exchanges and key indicator testing and
benchmarking.
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Flow Chart of Customer Service Management Procedures
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2.1.2. Constant Improvement
The Group develops benchmarking management, refines quality improvement, corrects Mg??&?g%ﬂ
typical defects and other forms of quality improvement. It has put forward corresponding AND ANALYSIS
improvement plans for various issues: (l) for typical customer complaints, difficult quality
issues and key processes, we have continuously improved product quality through internal
and external benchmarking analysis; (Il) regarding printing issues, we have implemented a
quality improvement benchmarking management project specific for painting and printing,
optimized pre-printing/printing production operation practices, improved and upgraded
online automatic monitoring devices and other measures to improve product quality; (lll) as
regards packaging issues in respect of transportation, we have strengthened the protection
of product packaging, refined transportation quality requirements and conducted trainings

and appraisals for carriers for improvement. CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

REPORT

In 2021, the Group had no food safety incidents or major quality complaints and product
quality lawsuits throughout the year. During the year, we had no product recall incidents,
and received 1,710 quality feedbacks from customers, about 80% of which were caused by
poor appearance, with 100% complaint handling rate and over 90% of the satisfaction rate.

2.1.3. Protection of Customers’ Privacy
In respect of the protection of customers’ privacy, CPMC has a users’ privacy
management system in place, which organically integrates institutional regulations,

contract management, training and publicity to improve its users’ privacy protection. () ENV'R:C:‘C":'EI'_‘I‘:";
Regarding institutional regulations, CPMC has incorporated confidentiality measures into GOVERNANCE

the Group’s management practices since 2008, by issuing the regulations including the REPORT
Management System of CPMC for Sales Contracts, Management System of CPMC for Sales
Confidentiality and the Contract Management Measures of CPMC (Revised), pursuant to
which, the employees are required to abide by the confidentiality regulations and shall not
divulge customers’ secrets; (Il) in respect of contract management, the Group includes the
discharge of confidentiality obligations as a key clause in a contract, and has formulated
a confidentiality agreement both in Chinese and English to strengthen the binding force
on itself and customers; (ll) as regards training and publicity, in 2021 when the Personal

Information Protection Law (Draft) was issued, our Legal Department prepared a poster, DIRECTORS AND

. o . . SENIOR
emphasizing on the new highlights of the Personal Information Protection Law and MANAGEMENT
indicating that any person who invades personal privacy shall assume corresponding civil PROFILE

liability, which has deepened employees’ awareness of privacy protection.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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2.2. A Leader in the Industry Driven by Innovation

gé’éﬁig:\ﬁm 2.2.1. Technology Innovation

AND ANALYSIS The Group accelerates the technology innovation in respect of innovation models,
institution development and platform establishment in order to seek for healthier
development. On the basis of the existing R&D innovation system, the Group has actively
explored the “3+N” R&D innovation model; in terms of institution development, the Group
has improved the Administrative Measures of CPMC for Technology Innovation and the
Incentive Measures for Technology Innovation, as well as formulated and implemented the
Opinions of CPMC on Execution of the Decision of the Party Committee of COFCO Relating
to High Quality Development Driven by Technology Innovation, which has optimized
the implementation rules for project management mechanism and the confidentiality

ggCESEAALEE of technological achievements, and provided institutional protection for technology
REPORT innovation; as regards the establishment of R&D platforms, the Group has established

an experiment center, a packaging digital design and development platform and an
information platform based on the characteristics of its own product lines, laying a platform
foundation for technology innovation.

We are deeply engaged in the R&D innovation of each product line, and develop R&D
innovation plans by rotation in such areas as new product development, material saving
technologies, new materials and processes, environmental protection, automation and food

safety technologies, adhering to the principle of focusing on the development of application
technologies and being supplemented by the research on application infrastructure.
We actively proceed with the management of funds on R&D projects, by maintaining a
special account for R&D projects and increasing the R&D investment gradually. We attach
great importance to developing technical R&D talents, by adopting the project manager
responsibility system and training a group of young technical R&D talents in practice, to
optimize the science and technology force.

During the year, the Group won innovation awards in the packaging industry for its new
products and technologies. In particular, the Group won three gold awards, three silver
awards and four excellence awards in the application for the “Product Design Innovation

DIRECTORS AND Award” and “Technology Innovation Award” organized by the Metal Container Association
fﬂingMENT of China Packaging Federation Council in 2021, and was the one which received the most
PROFILE awards among those applicants; presided over and participated in the formulation and

drafting of four national standards including the “General Rules for the Quality of Claw-type
Twist Caps”; and was the members of five industry authoritative organizations, including
the Sub-committee of Metal Products Technology under National Standard Technology
Committee of Materials and Articles in Contact with Foodstuff.

Case:

[R)IEFE)EOCRTTOCF)(ETHE In 2021, we achieved results in the research and application of new technologies, products

and processes. In respect of new technologies, we promoted energy conservation and
environmental protection and reduced emissions by applying new technologies such as
high-frequency heating and LED-UV printing; in respect of new products, we developed a
variety of new products such as two-piece cans 450, sleek 200 cans, 82FDS twist caps and
special-shaped milk powder cans, providing customers with differentiated products and
services to effectively drive the market; for new processes, we independently developed or
introduced automation technology to carry out the projects including the development of
automatic inflation capping of steel barrels, automatic punching and locking flanges and
large-scale balancers for two-piece cans and dark factories for three-piece milk powder
cans, improving the Group’s automation level.
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2.2.2. Intellectual Property

CPMC attaches great importance to the management of intellectual property rights, and Mg’ﬁSACGUES'\glEgﬂ
strictly abides by the laws and regulations such as Trademark Law of the People’s Republic AND ANALYSIS
of China and Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China. It has formulated the regulations
to manage intellectual property rights, including CPMC Patent Administrative Measures,
CPMC Trademark Administrative Measures, CPMC Copyright Administrative Measures,
Administrative Measures of CPMC for the Confidentiality of Technology Achievements and
Technological Activities and the Notice on Further Enhancing the Prevention of Legal Risks
Caused by Infringement of Computer Software Copyrights.

In 2021, CPMC applied for 54 patents (including 6 invention patents), representing a

year-on-year increase of 82%, with 2 new copyrights. CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

REPORT
The Group enhances employees’ awareness of intellectual property protection

through training. During the year, we engaged external experts to conduct training on
reading patent application documents, writing patent prospectus and patent mining
and circumvention for 20 employees in charge of R&D innovation; and also engaged
professional institutions to conduct training on Patsnap patent search platform and the
explanation of Insights analysis system for 10 employees of the Technology Center.

Protection of its own intellectual property rights: The Group pays attention to the
protection of patent rights and copyrights in the process of project establishment, in the
joint development projects and developed. In the process of project establishment, the
Group files the patent in question in the early stage of concept formation of the project
and adds a special step on intellectual property protection in the R&D project, as well as
requires a novelty search report for cutting-edge technology research. For intellectual
property protection of joint development projects, the Group requires cooperation
agreements to be signed in relation to technological projects that are established to
develop equipment, products, raw materials, technologies and etc. jointly with external
suppliers. As regards the management and protection of patent rights and copyrights
developed, we regulate the process of external disclosure of technological achievements

and innovatively diversify incentive systems. D\RECTOSS AgD
ENIOR

MANAGEMENT

Avoiding the infringement of intellectual property rights of third parties: Leveraging PROFILE

on the patent search and analysis platform Patsnap, the Group conducts a search and
analysis on the patents of each product line before a R&D project is established, focusing
on the investigation of the patents of its competitors, so as to mitigate the risk arising from
the infringement of trademark rights, copyrights, patent rights and trade secrets. During the
year, the Group completed a special self-inspection in respect of “font use infringement”,
and checked whether the fonts used were compliant on the website, product brochures,
publicity roll up banners, product designs, product development and product displays
in exhibition halls of CPMC, among others. In addition, the Group emphasizes regulating REPORT OF THE
the management and use of proprietary software. All units are required to install and use DIRECTORS
legally authorised proprietary software on office computers in strict compliance with the
Regulations on the Use and Management of Proprietary Software Products of CPMC (Trial)
and relevant regulations.

During the year, we managed to identify and address an infringement risk. A subsidiary
Guangzhou Panyu MCP Industries Ltd. prepared to produce a metal twist cap. After
preliminary screening, we found that a company already owned the patent in question.
After making further inquiries, our authorized patent “a metal can with twist cap for food
packaging use” was filed earlier than that of such company, helping Panyu Company avoid
the risk of infringement successfully with the intellectual property management system.
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2.3. Responsible Purchase and Sustainable Operation

CPMC has formulated the regulations including the Suppliers Management Procedures of
CPMC, Management Measures for Suppliers’ Quality Safety and Supply System Management
Procedures, covering major raw material suppliers, and specifying management process
throughout the life cycle covering the admission, assessment and exit of suppliers, to effectively
identify risks, reduce potential dangers in the environment, society and safety aspects and guide
suppliers to be managed in an effective and controllable manner, thus forming a stable, reliable
and competitive supplier team.

2.3.1. Suppliers Management
The Group keeps improving its supplier management measures, and carries out the
full-process supplier management consisting of admission, assessment and exit of
suppliers, to effectively identify risks and reduce potential dangers in the environment,
society and safety aspects, thus achieving a win-win development. During the year, 85.47%
of suppliers have duly complied with the Supplier Code of Conduct.

2021 Supplier Distribution of CPMC

31, 1%
149, 4%

3785, 95%

® Number of B Number of suppliers Number of suppliers in Taiwan,
suppliers overseas in Mainland China Hong Kong and Macau
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. DISCUSSION
Eastern China 1862 AND ANALYSIS
Southern China 805
Central China 185
Northern China 538
The Northwest 18
The Southwest 203
The Northeast 174

CORPORATE

Supplier admission: For suppliers of main raw and ancillary materials, the Group gives GOVERNANCE

REPORT

priority to industry leaders or enterprises performing social responsibility well. It has
established a supplier recognition system, under which only those suppliers who have
obtained business and technology recognition are admitted. In particular, suppliers of food
safety-related materials are also subject to our quality safety assessment, and suppliers
of key materials are subject to on-site review before admission. The cooperation should
be carried out with domestic suppliers, carriers and purchasers of by-products produced
during production for the annual transaction value or expected annual transaction value
amounting to RMB300,000 or above after a sunshine agreement is entered into between

both parties. ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND

. . . ) GOVERNANCE
Supplier assessment: The Group has a multi-dimensional assessment system in place REPORT

incorporating, among others, supply assurance, business conditions, quality safety and
service evaluation, to assess suppliers’ product quality, social responsibility and other
performance. The Group makes an assessment on suppliers of major raw and ancillary
materials, including admission recognition, daily dynamic assessment and on-site reviews
from time to time.

Incentive and exit system for suppliers: The Group implements order incentives,

strategic cooperation, order punishment, exclusion and other incentives and punishment DIRECTORS AND
based on the cooperation during its ordinary operations and assessment results. SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

PROFILE

2.3.2. Incorrupt Supply Chain
The Group keeps intensifying the construction of clean and honest administration of the
supply chain, and is committed to creating a healthy business environment, as well as
establishes a fair and impartial business partnership, to strictly control corruption risks.

The Group signs a “Sunshine Agreement” with external business partners, and regards it
as a code of conduct to be complied with by both parties. The agreement sets out possible
corruption and specifies that the party who is verified to seriously breach the agreement REPORT OF THE
shall be dealt with in accordance with laws and regulations. In addition, the Supply Chain DIRECTORS
Management Department has in place a supervision and investigation system incorporating
self-inspection on the supply chain system, interior examining, special audit of the audit
department and smooth internal and external reporting, and issues the “No Gift Notice”
before important festivals to avoid the occurrence of corruption in all aspects.
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2.3.3. Win-win Cooperation in the Supply Chain
ggﬁﬁig%m The Group intensifies the collaborative management of upstream and downstream supply
AND ANALYSIS chains, and keeps cooperating with suppliers in respect of production processes, recycling
of materials, by-products produced during production and emission reduction, striving to
build a green supply chain and constantly promoting emission and consumption reduction
of the industry chain.

In terms of production processes, the Group works with upstream suppliers to reduce
raw material consumption by thinning materials, increasing the use of coil and corrugated
materials.

CORPORATE In terms of emission reduction, through the cooperation with upstream suppliers, the Group
GOVERNANCE ) . S . : . o
REPORT has become the first enterprise which innovatively applies UV coatings and LED-UV printing
technology in the metal packaging industry, promoting the transformation and upgrade
of traditional metal printing to LED printing. It also vigorously promotes the use of coated
iron and water-based coating and other environmental materials, reducing volatile organic
compound (VOC) emissions from the source.

In terms of recycling of materials, the Group increases the recycling of packaging materials
and reduces the consumption of packaging materials by replacing wood pallets with plastic
ones and replacing corrugated lining paper with plastic lining paper. During the reporting
;g‘é‘lﬁf’;’ﬁ"""‘"’ period, plastic pallets accounted for more than 70% of the total, while the proportion of
GOVERNANCE plastic lining paper increased to approximately 65%. The recovery rate of wood pallets was
REPORT more than 81%, while that of plastic pallets and plastic lining paper was more than 98%.

Regarding the reuse of aluminum by-products produced during the process of production,
we cooperate with upstream suppliers to promote the recycling and reuse of aluminum
materials and scraps through equipment and technology upgrades, achieving a direct
recycling rate of 40% and an indirect recycling rate of 60%. 100% of the aluminum
by-products produced during production is recycled and reused in our Belgium plant.
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Adhering to the principle of ecology priority and implementing the green development practice,
CPMC is committed to mitigating the environmental impact of its operations, so as to create a good
ecological environment and facilitate low-carbon development. In strict compliance with the laws and
regulations, including Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, The Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Air Pollution and The Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Wastes, the Group has formulated Management Manual of CPMC for Safety and
Environmental Protection, Administration Regulations of CPMC on Environmental Protection (Revised)
and other rules and regulations, to promote its energy- and water-saving management in various
aspects of the Group. The Group implemented a number of energy and resources saving measures to
regulate the management of emissions. During the reporting period, CPMC had no material violations
of environmental laws and regulations.

In 2021, according to the Construction Plan of Ecological Sustainable Development System of CPMC
(2020-2022), the Group continued to implement related plans and integrate the green and low-carbon
concept into corporate development. In particular, we promoted the comprehensive use of resources
and the establishment of a circular economy system; facilitated intelligent production such as dark
factories to improve the level of automation and reduce energy consumption; as well as established
a training and education system for ecology and environmental protection, improved the training
and development mechanism for talents specializing in energy conservation and environmental
protection, and included the personnel engaging in safety and environmental protection in the
scope of technological promotion, so as to lay a foundation for the stable composition and capability
improvement of the energy saving and environmental protection team.

To further strengthen low-carbon management, the Group has set the following environmental targets
for fiscal 2021:

- Use of renewable energy: by 2025, promote the implementation of photovoltaic projects and
achieve a cumulative reduction of 12,000 tons of greenhouse gases through the provision of
green electricity.

- Reduction of VOCs emissions: by 2025, promote VOCs exhaust gas treatment, complete full
coverage of treatment, and reduc VOCs exhaust gas emissions by a total of 5,000 tons.

- Reduction of solid waste: in 2022, promote the management of hazardous waste, optimize raw
and auxiliary materials, optimize processes, optimize production, and reduce the generation of
hazardous waste.

- Reduce wastewater: in 2022, promote wastewater management, focusing on rectifying the
problem of mixed flow of rain water and sewage in old plants.

3.1. Resource Saving

The main resources consumed by the Group are electricity, water and natural gas. In order to
reduce the consumption of resources, the Group formulated the Administration Measures of
CPMC for Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction (Trial) and the Energy and Resource
Management Procedures. Under the leadership and supervision of the Safety Committee,
the business unit has issued the targets on energy conservation and emission reduction and
arranged dedicated personnel in charge of energy conservation and emission reduction
to constantly manage the consumption of resources and to take a series of measures for
energy saving and efficiency improvement. In 2021, we implemented 20 energy-saving and
environmental protection projects, saving about 150,000 m® of natural gas, 500,000 kWh of
electricity, and reducing CO, emissions by about 1,800 tons.

In addition, we organize publicity activities on energy conservation and emission reduction on a
regular basis, and propagandize the laws, regulations and related measures in relation to energy
conservation and emission reduction by posting picture posters and updating billboards on
energy conservation and emission reduction periodically.
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3.1.1. Electricity Saving
gg’éﬁ%gﬁm The Group arranges its power distribution network properly, selects electric equipment
AND ANALYSIS that satisfies the power requirements of production process, as well as installs and
uses energy-saving lamps as many as possible. Employees are required to shut down
electrical appliances and production equipment timely to reduce unnecessary energy
loss. Signs are put up near the switches of air conditioners to make suggestions on the
appropriate temperatures in winter and summer. There are requirements for lighting control
in each operating area: the workshop lighting is managed by the supervisor and tuned to
appropriate brightness according to the actual needs of production; the lighting in an office
area is managed by the personnel in charge of that area, and the lights are turned off when

they leave.
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE . . . .
REPORT Case: The cloud intelligent control project for air compressors

Through flow gauges and pressure transducers, technicians can obtain accurate air
pressure and other data in real time, and then automatically adjust equipment parameters
using algorithm technology. On the one hand, air is fed according to the demand to avoid
unnecessary start-stop and frequency conversion and reduction of air compressors. On the
other hand, the constant pressure keeps the equipment running in the most energy-efficient
way and reduces inefficient power consumption. After the project was implemented by
Panyu Company, the average electricity consumption was saved by 40,600kWh per month,
and the annual cost was estimated to be reduced by RMB400,000.

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT 3.1.2. Water Saving

We put up water-saving signs near water facilities and inculcate the water-saving
awareness in employees. We regularly check the use of the Group’s water pipes, taps and
water facilities, and repair the broken facilities in a timely manner. We vigorously promote
the upgrading of water-saving technologies and improvement of water reclamation, such as
upgrading the production technologies with high water consumption and promoting water
recycling and reclamation.

DIRECTORS AND 3.1.3. Natural Gas Saving

SENIOR

MANAGEMENT ' .

PROFILE Employees are required to control the use of natural gas according to the standard standby

time, and to avoid the unnecessary consumption of natural gas when not in use by taking
the measures such as routine maintenance of natural gas pipelines and daily inspection of
gas consumption.

3.1.4. Deployment of Renewable Energies

In order to achieve green development, in addition to saving resources, we also pay

attention to the development and utilization of new energy. In particular, we have
REPORT OF THE implemented distributed PV power generation projects in the available areas on the
DIRECTORS . . o oo

rooftops of factories, warehouses, office buildings and dormitories, and promoted

the development of different types of distributed PV power generation, facilitating the
standardized and orderly development and utilization of distributed PV power generation.
In 2021, the first phase of PV power generation project of Hangzhou Branch and the PV
power generation project of Epoch Packaging were completed and put into use, with a total
installed capacity of 2.44MWP and accumulated power output of 11 million Kwh.
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3.2. Reduction of Emissions

The Group’s emissions include waste gas, wastewater, non-hazardous waste and hazardous
waste. The Group attaches great importance to compliant discharge and emission reduction,
and has formulated internal rules and regulations, including the Administrative Regulations of
CPMC on Environmental Protection (Revised), the Administrative Requirements of CPMC on
Safety and Environmental Protection of Hazardous Waste (Trial) and the Environmental Operation
and Control Procedures pursuant to relevant regulations and standards, in order to regulate the
management of emissions.

3.2.1. Reduction of Waste Gas
The waste gas emitted by the Group derives from the production process such as cleaning,
color printing, internal coating and natural gas combustion and from laboratory waste gas.
The waste gas from the production process is treated by the facilities such as regenerative
thermal oxidizer (RTO) up to the standard before discharge. For laboratory waste gas, we
have installed centralized discharge devices or exhausters.

Case: VOC rotor concentration + regenerative combustion technology

In order to reduce the VOC in the waste gas, we took the lead in the industry to use the
VOC rotor concentration + regenerative combustion technology, by which the waste gas
from the exterior coating spray room, interior coating spray room and interior coating drying
room of No. 2 workshop were concentrated by 15-20 times, and then fed in the RTO. As the
high-concentration waste gas of 5,000-8,000 air volume could increase heat, the heating
time of the burner was reduced and the energy utilization efficiency was improved. In
addition, since the implementation of the project, there has been no need to replace the
activated carbon and catalysts for the treatment of VOCs, reducing the use of resources.

By the end of 2021, the Group has 13 sets of RTOs in operation, with a VOC treatment rate
of 99% and a cumulative reduction of VOC emissions of over 400 tons in 2021.

The Group analyzed the development of material technologies and environmental
protection trend, focusing on the research and development on the application of new
materials and new technologies such as LED/UV/water-based/N-BPA/coated iron, to
optimize raw and ancillary materials, improve production processes and reduce VOC
emissions from the source, thus facilitating energy saving and emission reduction. The
Group carried out clean production to eliminate or reduce pollutants in the production
process. It also enforced national provisions and policies on comprehensive use, and
carried out comprehensive use of the three types of wastes across the board, turning
scraps into useful materials and wastes into precious materials.

Case: New materials and technologies facilitating emission reduction

We applied LED-UV printing and light oil coating technology to milk powder cans, crown
caps and other product lines, so as to achieve super low emission of ozone and VOC. By
applying the environment-friendly water-based paint technology and through the research
and development of the water-based printing ink for plastic packages, we applied the
water-based paint to the full product line of two-piece cans, with the water-based paint
replacement rate of over 80% for steel barrels. By applying and promoting the new material
Post-Consumer Recycled Plastic (PCR), we achieved PCR addition percentage ranging
from 30% to 75% for different products, which not only ensured that customers’ standards
be met, but also facilitated the sustainable development of the plastics industry.
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3.3.

3.4.

3.2.2. Reduction of Wastewater
The Group’s sewage mainly includes domestic sewage and sewage from the production
process. The domestic sewage is discharged into the municipal sewage pipeline after
treatment, while the sewage generated from the production process is discharged to
the sewage treatment station through the pipes, and then discharged into the municipal
sewage pipeline together with the domestic sewage.

3.2.3. Reduction of Non-hazardous Waste
The non-hazardous wastes generated from the Group’s operations include non-metallic
materials and other non-hazardous wastes, as well as those non-hazardous wastes that are
converted after treatment. Non-hazardous wastes that are available for sale are disposed of
pursuant to the Implementation Procedures and Rules for Scrap Management. For general
domestic wastes, we place special containers in a dedicated storage place for domestic
wastes, which will be handled by local environmental sanitation agencies.

3.2.4. Reduction of Hazardous Waste

The Group requires that all hazardous wastes must not be discarded without permission,
and qualified third parties or suppliers must be engaged for treatment according to
regulations. Hazardous wastes such as scrap fluorescent screens, scrap computers
and ink cartridges from offices are delivered to Information Management Department for
centralized collection. Hazardous wastes such as waste mineral oils, waste paints and
scrap fluorescent tubes from the production process are collected and put in designated
places by the user departments with clear markings proper leak-proof measures.

We reduce the generation of hazardous wastes by taking a series of measures, such as
recycling of used barrels by suppliers, and reduction of sludge weight through the sludge
drying technology.

Reduction of Product Weight

The Group has developed internal procedures such as Energy and Resource Control Procedures
and Equipment Maintenance Control Procedures, and formulated work guidelines for all
positions to strengthen the control over the consumption of major and ancillary materials such
as aluminum. During the year, we updated the production equipment and technologies, and
reduced the consumption of product materials while ensuring product quality. In particular, by
improving product molds and technologies, we completed the material-saving project for 500ML
and 330ML two-piece cans, reducing the material consumption of approximately 2%, and saving
approximately 150 tons of aluminum. By optimizing and strengthening the body structure, we
completed the material-saving project for milk powder cans, reducing the material consumption
of approximately 5% and saving more than 90 tons of aluminum.

Response to Climate Change

During the year, we carried out a series of activities in respect of carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality in strict compliance with the national policies and targets in this regard:

Collecting data Completing carbon Developing a carbon Collecting carbon
on carbon emissions verification reduction plan reduction cases

* Collection of ® The carbon ® According to the ® Collection of
data on carbon verification for three 14th Five-Year good carbon
emissions was pilot entities was Development Plan reduction
completed for completed. It was fortPa::kalgmg,fthe cases was
all profitin lanned to complete output value o
secaors ¢ Sarbon ver‘\ficati?nn packaging will completed.

’ . reach RMB12 billion
for all pr‘ofmng by 2025, and CO2
sectors in 2022 emissions will be no
more than 400,000
tons.
— - — —
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3.5. Environmental Key Performance Indicators

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
Total energy consumption(” MWh 704,978.32
Direct energy consumption, including: MWh 368,363.15
Gasoline MWh 903.73
Diesel MWh 962.65
Natural gas MWh 366,071.24
Liquefied petroleum gas MWh 425.54 CORPORATE
Indirect energy consumption, including: MWh 336,615.17 GOVEF;’E’;Z%E
Electricity, including: MWh 336,538.07
Purchased electricity MWh 334,363.22
Renewable energy MWh 2,174.85
Steam MWh 77.10
Energy consumption per unit of revenue MWh/
- 7.37
RMB million revenue
Total water consumption® tonnes 1,775,533.92 Slliell =0l L
SOCIAL AND
Water consumption per unit of revenue tonnes/ 18.56 GOVERNANCE
RMB million revenue ' REEORE
Total amoun.t pf packaging materials tonnes 12.907.31
used for finished products
Total packaging materials used tonnes/
. - 0.13
per unit of revenue RMB million revenue
Notes:

(1)  The comprehensive energy consumption is calculated based on direct and indirect energy
consumption with reference to the coefficients in the National Standards of the PRC, General Principles
for Calculation of the Comprehensive Energy Consumption (GB/T 2589-2020). During the reporting
period, our major energy consumption was purchased electricity and natural gas.

(2) CPMC’s water supply resources are from the municipal water supply and there is no issue in sourcing
suitable water.
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DISCUSSION

issions @)
AND ANALYSIS Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2) tCO,e 297,424.71
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO.e 74,689.88
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO.e 222,734.83
GHG emissions per unit of revenue tCO. e/
S 3.11
RMB million revenue
Total oxynitride emissions tonnes 27.06
Total sulfur dioxide emissions tonnes 10.25
CORPORATE Total soot emissions tonnes 25.45
GOVERNANCE
REPORT Total VOC emissions tonnes 36.38
Total volume of hazardous wastes® tonnes 3,461.74
Total vol f -h tes® t
qa VO lume of non-hazardous wastes®, onnes 53.773.53
including
Total volume of domestic wastes and tonnes
) 351.19
kitchen wastes
Total volume of production wastes tonnes 53,422.34
ENVIRONMENTAL,
T Volume qf hazardous wastes tphnes/ 0.04
GOVERNANCE per unit of revenue RMB million revenue
RERORE Volume of non-hazardous wastes tonnes/
i . 0.56
per unit of revenue RMB million revenue
Wastewater tonnes 1,274,042.70
Total chemical oxygen demand tonnes 34.37

(1) CMPC’s GHG inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide, which are mainly
derived from gasoline, diesel, natural gas, LPG, purchased electricity and steam. GHG emissions

DIRECTORS AND data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent. Among them, GHG emissions from electricity are
SENIOR calculated based on “Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors of China’s Regional Power Grids
MANAGEMENT in 2011 and 2012” issued by the NDRC, carbon emissions from steam are calculated according to
PROFILE NDRC's “ Accounting Methodology and Reporting Guidelines of Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Trial

Implementation)”, and the GHG emissions from other energies are calculated based on the 2006 IPCC
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (2019 Edition) issued by the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the standard “GB/T 2589-2020 General Principles of Calculation of
the Comprehensive Energy Consumption” issued by the State Administration for Market Regulation and
the Standardization Administration of China, and the Sixth Assessment Report of IPCC.

(2) Scope 1 GHG covers the greenhouse gas emissions from gasoline, diesel, natural gas and LPG
consumed by Company’s operations. Scope 2 GHG covers the greenhouse gas emissions from the

REPORT OF THE internal consumption of electricity and heat (purchased or acquired) of the Company.

DIRECTORS

(8) Hazardous wastes are mainly waste sludge, waste liquid and other hazardous wastes listed in the
“National Hazardous Waste List (2021 Edition)”.

(4)  Non-hazardous wastes are mainly domestic waste, kitchen waste and general production waste. In
particular, domestic waste and kitchen waste are handled by the environmental protection department;
general production wastes are mainly scrap aluminum, scrap iron, etc., which are mostly disposed of
by means of recycling and reuse.
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PEOPLE FIRST AND GROWING TOGETHER

CPMC has always taken talents development as one of its major tasks while strictly complying with
relevant national and local laws and regulations, including the Labour Law of the PRC and the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC. It has also formulated the Recruitment Management Policy of CPMC, the
Administrative Regulations of CPMC for Attendance and Leaves and the Performance Administrative
Measures of CPMC and other regulations and measures in accordance with the laws and regulations,
ensuring that the employment follows a policy in all respects, so as to protect legal rights and interests
of employees. We provide equal opportunities for our employees, advocate employee diversity, and
oppose all forms of discrimination to firmly prohibit the occurrence of the same in the Group.

4.1. Employees Growth and Development
4.1.1. Recruitment and Employment

CPMC has formulated standardized recruitment procedures including the Recruitment
Management Policy of CPMC and the Recruitment Process for Fresh Graduates, ensuring
a more scientific, justifiable and effective recruitment process. We recruit talents through
various channels such as social recruitment platforms online, campus publicity, talent
exchange fairs and recommendation by university teachers. We also oppose all acts of
discrimination, and prohibit the use of child and forced labour. In 2021, the Group did not
employ any child or forced labour.

4.1.2. Benefits and Incentives
The Group enforces the requirements of national laws and regulations in relation to the
benefits package offered for its employees, and adhering to the remuneration principle of
“remuneration based on responsibility, competence and performance and with a balance
between fairness and sustainability”, provides employees with competitive salaries and
benefits on a fair basis. In addition, we have open and fair communication channels in place
to ensure fairness and objectiveness of the performance evaluation for our employees.

In addition to paying statutory social insurance contributions for employees, we maintain
commercial insurance (including accident insurance, supplementary medical insurance
and others) for our employees. In terms of leave, the Group has improved its leave
management policy in a timely manner in accordance with relevant laws and regulations
and according to its internal conditions by specifying the types of leave and related
pre-conditions, leave approval procedures and leave benefits, thus safeguarding the equal
and legal leave entitlements for both genders of employees.

4.1.3. Promotion and Development

We have a dual-channel promotion system with a combination of the management channel
and the professional channel. The management channel refers to the promotion path
from an employee to a management position, which is evaluated based on the level of
the position, while the professional channel is a promotion path from junior to middle and
to senior professional technicians. The promotion is evaluated based on, among others,
employees’ basic quality, work performance, personal capabilities and job competence.
The Group provides equal opportunities for the promotion of all employees.

4.1.4. Training

The Group attaches great importance to the development of each and every employee, by
formulating targeted training programs for employees based on their career development
stages and positions. For fresh graduates, we have developed training plans according to
the Recruitment Process for Fresh Graduates, and carried out training activities including
an internship base and a mentoring plan. For senior employees, we have organized a
professional improvement training “I Am A Professor”, to improve the professional level of
employees in all functions.
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The Mentoring Plan

The Group conducts a full range of induction training on role transition and professional
quality, Group’s status and corporate culture as well as team building for fresh graduates.
After the training, in order to help them adapt to the situation sooner and improve in all
respects, the Group has formulated a mentoring plan, under which each department
assigns a senior employee to teach one: the master, as a mentor, is responsible for
providing guidance in the professional field and all other aspects; while the apprentice
makes every effort to learn skills and experience to achieve personal growth and value
enhancement, thus contributing to the team.

Improvement Academy

The Improvement Academy is a key training program for the improvement of production
management. On 28 October 2021, the Improvement Academy held an improvement class
for the production management of three-piece cans with the theme of “practice-based
management perception and inheritance” in Hangzhou, with a total of 45 trainees from
the three-piece can business participating. During the training, the lecturer, by taking the
turnover rate of front-line employees as the point of the issue and combining with factual
cases, guided the trainees to look upon a team from the perspective of a manager in the
aspects of underlying logic of management and the tools and methods for management
improvement and to improve the echelon structure to transmit a positive team culture, so as
to help employees develop into the managers with their own methodology.

4.2. Health and Safety
4.2.1. Management of Hazardous Operations
CPMC attaches great importance to the management of hazardous operations, by
formulating normative documents including the Safety Management Measures for
Hazardous Operations, Safety Permission Standards for Hot Works and Safety Permission
Standards for Working at Heights. We carry out the training on hazardous operations based
on such documents and conduct random compliance checks on a monthly basis, as well as
give feedbacks and make rectifications to the issues identified.

Management System for Hazardous Operations

Leveraging on the combined application of data servers, visualization, online
communications and video monitoring devices, the Group has realized the functions
including online approval, real-time supervision and big data monitoring of hazardous
operations, by establishing a three-level management system. By the systematic,
structured, standardized and digital monitoring of hazardous operation management under
the system, the Group has realized the targeted management and control of the full process
of hazardous operation online, and effectively contained the problem of “three violations” in
hazardous operations.

Standard, scientific
and normative

Tracking and tracing Convenient and
throughout the efficient mobile
process application

Closed-loop process
management

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Safety Education

We emphasize the safety education of our employees, by gradually establishing and Mg??&fgg%ﬂ
improving the regional standard safety warning education rooms of CPMC in addition AND ANALYSIS
to the existing regional warning education rooms. We have designed multiple means of
safety education in the warning education rooms, such as first aid, fire rescue, scenario
simulation, etc., the ability of employees to know and understand safety is improved, and
the safety awareness of all employees is strengthened.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

4.2.2.Risk Investigation and Rectification

CPMC vigorously promoted the Work Plan for Special Investigation and Rectification of

Safety-related Risks. In the special investigation and rectification of safety-related risks ENVIRONMENTAL,

exercise during the year, a total of 269 hidden dangers were identified, and there were Ggs:m;\ﬁgz
no significant risks and serious non-conformities. As of the end of December 2021, all REPORT
rectifications were completed. In addition, we also carried out special rectification for safety
production on four risks related to use of gas, hoisting machineries (traveling cranes),
forklift operation and diversion of people and vehicles, so that all kinds of risks could be
prevented and controlled, and the safety of employees be effectively protected.

4.2.3. Anti-epidemic Together
During the Covid-19 epidemic, in order to protect the health of employees, we have

developed anti-epidemic measures including intensification of the management of DIRECTORS AND
personnel flow, strict approval of physical meetings and assignment of responsible persons MANAGSEEA'A“é%?
to closely track the movement of the epidemic. We attach great importance to daily PROFILE

management, by disinfecting public areas regularly, emphasizing ventilation and keeping
public areas clean; as well as by measuring the body temperature of people entering the
office areas every day, and procuring employees to develop good habits such as wearing
masks, not gathering together and not shaking hands. During the epidemic, we distributed
anti-epidemic supplies in the form of 1,400 anti-epidemic kits, which contained face masks,
medical-use alcohol spray, alcohol wipes, disinfectant and anti-bacterial hand sanitizer,
etc., to our employees, including a total of 1,400 anti-epidemic kits totaling RMB280,000.

REPORT OF THE
In addition, we also pay close attention to the health of our employees overseas. We have DIRECTORS
purchased Lianhua Qingwen capsules, masks and disinfectants and other anti-epidemic

articles for our employees at the Belgian factory.
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4.3. Communication with and Caring for Employees
ggﬁﬁ%%ENNT 4.3.1. Communication and Appeal System
AND ANALYSIS CPMC has established a sound communication and appeal system in accordance with
national laws and regulations including the Trade Union Law and Trade Union Constitution
of China, in order to effectively safeguard the legal rights and interests of the employees.

In terms of communication, we get the information on employees by holding employee
forums and employee representative assemblies. We seek proposals from employee
representatives at the employee representative meetings, and address the issues reported
by employees by organizing collective discussions between the Trade Union Committee

and relevant departments. We announce the financial revenues and expenditures of the
ggCESSZ\LECE Trade Union for the year at each annual employee representative assembly to protect the
REPORT full rights of employees to know, participate in and supervise the financial revenues and
expenditures of the Trade Union.

In terms of appeals, we have established a Mediation Committee for Labor Disputes to
expand channels for protection of employees’ rights. When their rights and interests are
infringed, employees may appeal through the Labor Union or the Mediation Committee for
Labor Disputes.

4.3.2. Satisfaction Survey
:g‘é'lif’;’ﬁ"”"’ The Group conducts anonymous surveys on employee satisfaction for all subsidiaries,
GOVERNANCE focusing on employees’ opinions and suggestions on the matters such as corporate culture,
REPORT system construction, talent development, remuneration and benefits. The survey results are
sent to respective subsidiaries at once for subsequent rectifications by the subsidiaries.
During the year, we collected about 400 questionnaires on employee satisfaction, covering
all subsidiaries of the Group.

4.3.3. Caring for Employees
The Group is committed to improving the happiness of employees. From life to work, the
Group has established a sound welfare system for its employees to meet their needs in

DIRECTORS AND various areas, including parking, physical exercise, cultural life, higher food quality and
f/m:ggEMENT better working environment, which has increased employees’ happiness. The Group
PROFILE was awarded the Demonstration Enterprise with Safe and Harmonious Labor Relations in

Qiantang New District, Hangzhou.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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In 2021, we renovated non-motor vehicle sheds to reduce parking difficulties of employees;

improved the activity rooms at employees’ quarters by newly purchasing projection, KTV M?)TI:CGESAQESIIII
and fitness devices, to ensure the needs of employees for physical exercises during the ANDANUALYS|S
anti-epidemic period; established the Yoga Club, Table Tennis and Badminton Club,
Trailwalk Club, Fishing Club and other clubs, as well as opened a yoga room and repaired
the basketball court to enrich the cultural life of employees; improved the meals for
employees by optimizing the food list of night shift work meals and adding the facilities that
keep food warm to improve the quality of meals; optimized the temperature of workshops
to improve the working environment; and conducted the training on legal popularization at
multiple grades and levels starting from legal hotspots and based on the prevention of legal
risks in the Group’s business and employees’ life, which diversified the law popularization
classes on WeChat and enhanced readability and practicability. In addition, we arranged
such activities as orientation health checks and orientation meetings for new comers to help CORPORATE
them integrate and grow as soon as possible. GOVEF;NE/:%CRE

The Group arranged for new comers to have physical examinations before they
started working to ensure that they devote themselves to work and life on a
healthy, energetic and cheerful basis

About the
health of

employees

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

e A review and exchange meeting for young employees: The head office of
management organized a work summary exchange meeting for young
employees who served the Company no more than one year

e 906 Workplace Training Camp: We organized a training for the new
employees of the headquarter of CPMC who joined the Company in the
recent year, allowing them to have an in-depth understanding of the
Company'’s operations

Orientation
meetings

for new
comers

4.4. Contributing to the Community and Benefiting the People
In 2020, which was a crucial year for poverty alleviation, CPMC was designated to alleviate the

poverty for Jueri village, Ganzi, Sichuan province, and effectively helped the villagers to improve DIRECTORS AND
their livelihood. These efforts enabled the Group to successfully pass the general inspection and MANAGSEE,\'AV&?
effectiveness assessment conducted by the state in respect of poverty alleviation. On this basis, PROFILE
the Group was committed to consolidating the achievements of poverty alleviation and effectively

combining it with rural revitalization in 2021.

Four meetings RMB9 million

The Party Committee of CPMC held four As required by the arrangement of COFCO

special meetings on a regular basis to study Group, an amount of RMB3 million was

the rure_tl revitalization, and _strengthened earmarked annuglly, and RMB9 million has REPORT OF THE
the guidance and supervision on the been earmarked in aggregate for three years DIRECTORS

enforcement of poverty alleviation and rural
revitalization

RMB1.55 million

According to the arrangement of COFCO
Group, the Group has donated RMB600,000
specific for poverty alleviation purpose, and
an aggregate of RMB1.55 million for helping
the poor for three years

More than 300 sessions

Meng Kuo, an employee of CPMC stationed
in Jueri village, Ganzi, served as the chief
secretary of the village. He organized more
than 300 sessions of training and education
in various forms such as farmer evening
school, conducted 4 sessions of training
on vegetable planting techniques, trained
2 harvester drivers and 24 agricultural
technicians, as well as extended 2 vegetable
greenhouses

Annual Report 2021

65



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

4.4.1. Educational Assistance
MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION In October 2021, CPMC visited Ganzi to carry out a study on poverty alleviation and inspect

AND ANALYSIS the construction and usage of the COFCO Teaching Building in the Nationality Middle
School of Ganzi, a project aided by COFCO Group. We learned about the progress of the
construction of the Second Nationality Middle School in Ganzi, participated in the donation
ceremony of COFCO-Ganzi County “Educational Assistance and Charity Donation” in 2021,
and communicated cordially with the school’s teachers and students. The Party Branch of
Chengdu CPMC Canmaking cooperated with the Party Branch in Jueri village for a joint
party construction ceremony, and donated RMB9,000 as stipends for college students
and school supplies, sports equipment and computers amounting to a total of more than
RMB30,000 to Jueri village.

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE

REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

66 CPMC Holdings Limited




Environmental, Social and Governance Report

4.4.2.Sales Assistance

In 2021, the Group carried out practices to guarantee the income of ewe’s milk farmers. In Mg?‘:CGLJES“glEg;
particular, by fully integrating and taking the advantages of brand packaging, resources, AND ANALYSIS
technologies, equipment and management, the Group targeted key customers and

implemented policies on a case-by—case basis, as well as promoted product differentiation

strategies, so as to meet the diversified packaging demands of targeted customers of ewe’s

milk powder. It also helped ewe’s milk farmers improve their income and lives relying on the

industry by rapidly increasing the production scale and capacity, thus contributing to the

development of the ewe’s milk powder industry in Shaanxi.

On 10 December 2021, actively responding to the call of the Central Committee of the CPC, CORPORATE
we partnered with the central and western regions by purchasing 800 jin of potatoes from GOVEF;NE/QZE.EF

Maliantan Village, Caijiabao County, Qinghai Province, to facilitate rural revitalization. In
addition, the Labor Union purchased millets, a product of rural revitalization in Shaanxi, and
distributed the same to employees as benefits.

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
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In October 2021, we purchased 600 jin of highland barley from Jueri village, the partner
Party Branch, for use in the staff canteen for the purpose of poverty alleviation through
consumption. Employees are very fond of the highland barley rice offered by the canteen as
it is healthy and nutritious.

4.4.3. Personnel Development
On 14 October 2021, actively responding to the policy, we participated in the job fair
“Targeted Poverty Alleviation and Employment Assistance” held by the District Employment
Bureau in Ganzi County, and provided more than 10 job positions to Laima Town, Ganzi
County, facilitating rural revitalization.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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4.5. Social Key Performance Indicators
MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
Total number of employees persons 6,049
Male employees persons 4,066
By gender
Female employees persons 1,983
Senior management persons 613
By level Middle management persons 1,470
General employees persons 3,966
CORPORATE
Employees under 30 years old persons 1,060 GOVERNANCE
REPORT
By age group Employees between 30 and 50 (including) years old persons 4,357
Employees over 50 years old persons 632
Employees in Northern China persons 1,784
By region Employees in Eastern China persons 2,219
Employees in Southern China persons 2,046
Employee turnover rate" % 19.51
Turnover rate of male employees % 13.44 ENVIR&NCTEH‘;%
By gender
Turnover rate of female employees % 6.07 GOVERNANCE
REPORT
Turnover rate of employees under 30 years old % 10.08
By age arou Turnover rate of employees between 30 and 50 (including)
Y age group years old % 8.07
Turnover rate of employees over 50 years old % 1.36
Turnover rate of employees in Northern China % 6.13
By region Turnover rate of employees in Eastern China % 6.96
DIRECTORS AND
Turnover rate of employees in Southern China % 6.42 SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
Note- PROFILE
(1) Employee turnover ratio for each category = number of employees resigned or terminated in that
category during the reporting period/total number of employees at the end of the reporting period, the
calculation of which is in line with the Group’s ESG Report in year 2020.
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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/[A)ll\lslg:gZill?Y'\éIS Percentage of Percentage of male employees % 93.23
employees participated in training
pal:tif:ipated in Percentage of female employees % 90.59
training by gender participated in training
Percentage of Percentage of senior management % 81.89
employees participated in training
participated in Percentage of middle management % 95.03
training by level participated in training
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE Perceptgge of genera'l employees % 92.98
REPORT participated in training
Training hours per employee hours 21.83
Training hours per Training hours per male employee hours 20.67
employee by gender  1,,iing hours per female employee hours 24.19
Training hours Training hours per senior management hours 17.15
per employee by employee
employee level Training hours per middle management hours 25.00
ENVIRONMENTAL, employee
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE Training hours per general employee hours 21.03
REPORT
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2019 persons 0
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2020 persons 0
Number of work-related employee fatality in 2021 persons 0
Number of work days lost due to work-related injuries in 2021 days 368
DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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Appendix: ESG Reporting Guide Content Index
MANAGEMENT
AND ANALYSIS

Mandatory Disclosure

Governance Structure

A statement from the board containing the following elements: Statement of the Board
1. ESG Governance
(1) adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

(2) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including

the process used to evaluate, prioritizes and manage material CORPORATE
ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and GOVERNANCE
REPORT

(3) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals
and targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s
businesses.

Reporting Principles

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following About this Report
Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG Report:

- . ) ) ) ENVIRONMENTAL,
Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and SOCIAL AND

the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder GOVERNANCE
REPORT

engagement is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders
identified, and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder
engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions
and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for
the reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should
be discussed.

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes MANAGEMENT
to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a PROFILE
meaningful comparison.
Reporting Boundary
A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and About this Report
describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are
included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer
should explain the difference and reason for the change.
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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Comply or Explain

A Environmental

Aspect A1: Emissions

General
Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.2. Reduction of
Emissions

KPI' A1.1

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.5. Environmental
Key
Performance
Indicators

KPI A1.2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.5. Environmental
Key
Performance
Indicators

KPI A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.5. Environmental
Key
Performance
Indicators

KPI A1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.5. Environmental
Key
Performance
Indicators
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KPI A1.5

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

Energy Saving

and Emission
Reduction Facilitating
Low-carbon
Development

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them

3

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.2. Reduction of
Emissions

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

General
Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.1 Resource
Saving

KPI A2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.5. Environmental
Key
Performance
Indicators

KPI A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.5. Environmental
Key
Performance
Indicators

KPI A2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

Energy Saving

and Emission
Reduction Facilitating
Low-carbon
Development

KPI A2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

Energy Saving

and Emission
Reduction Facilitating
Low-carbon
Development

KPI A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.5. Environmental
Key
Performance
Indicators
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Aspect A3: The

Environment and Natural Resources

General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on Energy Saving

Disclosure the environment and natural resources. and Emission
Reduction Facilitating
Low-carbon
Development

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Energy Saving

environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

and Emission
Reduction Facilitating
Low-carbon
Development

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General
Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.4. Response to
Climate Change

KPI A4.1

Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.

Energy Saving

and Emission

Reduction Facilitating

Low-carbon

Development

3.4. Response to
Climate Change

B Social

Employment an

d Labour Practices

Aspect B1: Employment

General Information on: People First and

Disclosure Growing Together
(a) the policies; and 4.1. Employees

Growth and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Development
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for People First and
example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical Growing Together
region. 4.5. Social Key

Performance
Indicators
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and People First and

geographical region.

Growing Together

4.5. Social Key
Performance
Indicators

CPMC Holdings Limited



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

General Information on: People First and
Disclosure Growing Together
(a) the policies; and 4.2. Health and
Safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in People First and
each of the past three years including the reporting year. Growing Together
4.5. Social Key
Performance
Indicators
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. People First and
Growing Together
4.5, Social Key
Performance
Indicators
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures People First and

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

Growing Together
4.2. Health and
Safety

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills People First and
Disclosure for discharging duties at work. Description of training Growing Together
activities. 4.1. Employees
Growth and
Development
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and People First and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle Growing Together
management). 4.5. Social Key
Performance
Indicators
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by People First and

gender and employee category.

Growing Together

4.5. Social Key
Performance
Indicators
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

General Information on: People First and
Disclosure Growing Together

(a) the policies; and 4.1. Employees

Growth and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Development

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices People First and
to avoid child and forced labour. Growing Together

4.1. Employees

Growth and
Development

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices People First and

when discovered.

Growing Together

4.1. Employees
Growth and
Development

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of Stable Operation and
Disclosure the supply chain. Quality Service
2.3. Responsible
Purchase and
Sustainable
Operation
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Stable Operation and
Quality Service
2.3. Responsible
Purchase and
Sustainable
Operation
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Stable Operation and
number of suppliers where the practices are being Quality Service
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored. 2.3. Responsible
Purchase and
Sustainable
Operation
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Stable Operation and
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Quality Service
implemented and monitored. 2.3. Responsible
Purchase and
Sustainable
Operation
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Stable Operation and

preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Quality Service

2.3. Responsible
Purchase and
Sustainable
Operation

CPMC Holdings Limited



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility ANDSSACNUASLSY'?A';
General Information on: 2 Stable Operation and
Disclosure Quality Service
(a) the policies; and 2.1. Quality Control
throughout the
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Whole Process
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to and Ensuring
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy Quality
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress. Ggeggﬁmgg
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to 2  Stable Operation and REPORT

recalls for safety and health reasons. Quality Service
2.1. Quality Control
throughout the
Whole Process
and Ensuring

Quality
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints 2 Stable Operation and
received and how they are dealt with. Quality Service ENVIRONMENTAL,
; SOCIAL AND
2.1. Quality Control ST
throughout the REPORT

Whole Process
and Ensuring

Quality
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 2 Stable Operation and
protecting intellectual property rights. Quality Service

2.2. A Leader in the
Industry Driven

by Innovation D'RECTOSE&E
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 2 Stable Operation and MANAGEMENT
procedures. Quality Service PROFILE
2.1. Quality Control
throughout the
Whole Process
and Ensuring
Quality
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 2 Stable Operation and
policies, how they are implemented and monitored. Quality Service REP%TFIE%FTCTJgg

2.1. Quality Control
throughout the
Whole Process
and Ensuring
Quality
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect B7: Anti

-corruption

General Information on: 1 ESG Governance

Disclosure 1.4. Anti-corruption
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 1 ESG Governance
practices brought against the issuer or its employees 1.4. Anti-corruption
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 1 ESG Governance
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. 1.4. Anti-corruption

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 1 ESG Governance
directors and staff. 1.4. Anti-corruption

Community

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General Policies on community engagement to understand the 4 People First and
Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates Growing Together
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the 4.4. Contributing to
communities’ interests. the Community
and Benefiting
the People
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 4 People First and
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, Growing Together
sport). 4.4. Contributing to
the Community
and Benefiting
the People
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus 4 People First and

area.

Growing Together

4.4. Contributing to
the Community
and Benefiting
the People

CPMC Holdings Limited



Directors and Senior Management Profile

ZHANG Ye

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHANG Xin, aged 59, is an executive Director and the chairman of the
Board. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for the overall management,
major decision-making, strategic planning and business development
of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on
23 June 2008 and 23 March 2015, respectively. He has over 20 years
of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang has been the vice
president of the China Packaging Federation since November 2011.
Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in Aeronautical Machinery
Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now
known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern
China in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang was awarded the Governmental
Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding
contributions to the development of engineering technology in the PRC.
He is a senior engineer.

ZHANG Ye, aged 48, is an executive Director and the General
Manager. Mr. Zhang is primary responsible for the daily operation
and management of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in April
1995, and had served as sales manager, sales director, general
manager of the subsidiaries of the Company, assistant to the General
Manager, deputy General Manager, etc. He also served as the chief
legal consultant of the Group concurrently during the period from July
2011 to January 2016. He was appointed as an executive Director
and a general manager of the Company on 22 December 2016 and
19 July 2016 respectively and currently serves as directors of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 20 years of experience in the
packaging industry. Mr. Zhang obtained an associate degree in physics
from Shanghai Fudan University (/818 B KE) in 1995, and obtained
a bachelor degree in business management from the Continuing
Education School of Shanghai Fudan University (/818 B XZ2 AHBE
2he) in 1999.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

ZHOU Yuan

CPMC Holdings Limited

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHAO Wei, aged 47, is appointed as a non-executive Director on
18 January 2022. Dr. Zhao joined COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”) in
April 2001, and had successively served as staff of the Accounting
and Taxation Division, the Operation and Management Division and
assistant to the general manager of the Operation and Management
Division under the Finance Department of COFCO; director, chief
accountant and general manager of the Finance Department of COFCO
Tunhe Sugar Co., Ltd. (FrEH TR HDER AR, formerly known as
COFCO Tunhe Co., Ltd. (FIEHEAARHBR A F]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange); and the leader of the IT Working Group
of COFCO, etc., from April 2001 to April 2021. Dr. Zhao has served as
the chief officer of the Information Management Department of COFCO
since April 2021, and served as a non-executive director of COFCO
Joycome Foods Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1610) since July 2021. Dr. Zhao holds the qualification of
Certified Public Accountant in the PRC.

Dr. Zhao received a doctorate degree in management from Central
University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in June 2005.

MENG Fanjie, aged 57, is appointed as a non-executive Director on
18 January 2022. Mr. Meng had successively served as the general
manager of Shenyang Xiangxue Flour Co., Ltd., the assistant to the
general manager and then as the deputy general manager of COFCQO'’s
Wheat Processing Department, the general manager of COFCQO'’s
Project Management Department, the general manager of COFCO
Chengdu Industrial Park, the deputy general manager of China Grain
& Logistics Corporation, the deputy general manager of COFCO
Trading Corporation and the deputy director of COFCO’s Party-mass
Work Department (in charge of the daily work) from December 2005 to
April 2019. Mr. Meng had also served as a non-executive director in
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2319) from June 2019 to December 2021. He is
currently served as the chief officer in the human resources department
of COFCO.

Mr. Meng received a master degree in electronic magnetics and
microwave technology from Tsinghua University in the PRC in
December 1989.

ZHOU Yuan, aged 35, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zhou was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 25 February
2016. Mr. Zhou was a vice chairman and a director of ORG Packaging,
a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a substantial
shareholder of the Company, since November 2010 and as a director
of Huang Shan NOVEL Company Limited (*“Huang Shan NOVEL"), a
listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2016.
Mr. Zhou received a Bachelor degree of Engineering (with Honours) in
the field of Mechanical Engineering from Monash University in Australia
in December 2010.



Directors and Senior Management Profile

SHEN Tao

CHENG Yuk Wo

SHEN Tao, aged 51, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Shen was
appointed as a non-executive Director on 25 February 2016. Mr. Shen
has had over 23 years of senior management experience in the
packaging industry including acting as the general manager of
Shanghai Shenjing Steel Processing Company Limited (/&8 304
BT AR 2AE]), the general manager of Shanghai Baoyi Can Company
Limited (F/BBRZZEAER A F]), the assistant general manager of
Shanghai Baosteel Property Development Company Limited (/8% i
EZXIRAMRAF]), and the assistant general manager of Baosteel Metal
Company Limited (Z i< BHEBR 2 7)). Mr. Shen joined ORG Packaging
in July 2008 and has been a director of ORG Packaging since October
2010. He worked as the vice general manager of ORG Packaging from
October 2008 to February 2014, and has been the general manager
of ORG Packaging since February 2014 and a director of Huang Shan
NOVEL since January 2016. Mr. Shen received a Master degree in
Business Administration from Peking University in January 2015. He
also obtained the qualification of senior business operator (S A& &
Bl from the Occupational Skill Testing and Instruction Centre of China*
(PREEEBEREZTIEES D) and State Senior Business Operator
Assessment Committee* (2Bl mRLEMETEZ BE) in March 2004,

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 61, is an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Cheng was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Cheng is
a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Cheng has over 30
years of experience in auditing, finance and business management.
He has been the sole proprietor of Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public
Accountants in Hong Kong since 1999.

Mr. Cheng also serves as an Honorary director of Chiu Chow Chamber
of Commerce and an Honorary Director of Hong Kong Rehabilitation
Power.

Mr. Cheng currently acts as an independent non-executive
director of a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange,
namely, CSI Properties Limited, Top Spring International Holdings
Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, Chia Tai Enterprises
International Limited, Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited, Somerley
Capital Holdings Limited, Kidsland International Holdings Limited
and China Renewable Energy Investment Limited. Mr. Cheng was
previously also an independent non-executive director of Goldbond
Group Holdings Limited, Chong Hing Bank Limited and DTXS Silk Road
Investment Holdings Company Limited, all companies are listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng was also an independent non-executive
director of C.P. Lotus Corporation, C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. and HKC
(Holdings) Limited, all companies were delisted from the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheng graduated from the University of Kent, England with a
Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting in July 1983 and obtained a Master’s
degree in Accounting and Finance from the London School of
Economics, England in August 1984.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

PUN Tit Shan

CHEN Jihua

CPMC Holdings Limited

PUN Tit Shan, aged 61, is an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Pun was appointed as a Director on 1 September 2016. He holds
a master of business administration degree (with honour) from the
University of Manchester. Mr. Pun is currently acted as investment
director of Wellchamp Capital Limited and was head of investment of
TC Concord Asset Management Ltd., the chief executive officer of Asia
Wealth Securities Limited and the chief investment officer of Astrum
Capital Management Limited. He has over 32 years of experience
in the finance field, such as strategic dealing and arbitraging in the
derivatives market, sales and marketing management in the primary
and secondary equity market and sales and assets managing of high
net-worth clients and investment advisory.

Currently, he is the vice-chairman of Institute of Financial Analyst and
Professional Commentator and the Honorary Consultant of Hong Kong
Ningxia Youth Association (B2 ®ESFFE) since 2015. Mr. Pun was
previously a board director of Hong Kong Futures Exchange Ltd. (1995-
1999); a board director of Hong Kong Stock Exchange Options Clearing
House Ltd. (1997-2000); a membership committee member of Hong
Kong Securities Institute (1998-2002); a panel member of Derivatives
Market Consultative Panel (2000-2003); a committee member of Hong
Kong Securities Institute Professional Education Committee (2002—
2004); and a member of Lions Club of Hong Kong Shouson Hill.

Mr. Pun is currently an independent non-executive director of Convoy
Global Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1019) which is listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Pun was an independent non-executive director of China
New Economy Fund Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange from
8 April 2016 to 5 June 2019.

CHEN Jihua, aged 54, is an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Chen was appointed as a Director on 2 July 2019. Mr. Chen
had served as the financial director of Red Bull Vitamin Beverages
Company Limited from October 1995 to January 1998, the financial
director of Saudi Arabia ALJ (China) Limited from September 1998 to
June 1999; the vice president and financial director of Jitong Network
Communications Holdings Company Limited from July 1999 to April
2001; the executive director, vice president and financial director of
Aluminum Corporation of China Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the New York Stock
Exchange, from April 2001 to October 2010; the director of ABC-CA
Fund Management Co., Ltd. from March 2008 to October 2010; the
president of Aluminum Corporation of China Overseas Holdings Limited
from May 2009 to October 2010 and the vice president of China Pacific
Insurance (Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange
and Shanghai Stock Exchange, from November 2010 to October 2011.

Mr. Chen has also served as the chairman of Beijing Huge Capital
Management Co., Ltd since October 2011; the independent director of
TruValue Asset Management Co., Ltd since July 2014; the independent
director of China Railway Hi-tech Industry Corporation Limited, a
company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, since January 2017;
the independent director of Huang Shan NOVEL Company Limited, a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since June 2017 and
the director of Jiangsu Wortact Group Co., Ltd., a company listed on
National Equities Exchange and Quotations, since June 2016.

Mr. Chen received a master degree in accounting from Central
University of Finance and Economic in March 1994. He is also a senior
accountant in the PRC.



Directors and Senior Management Profile

LI Minghua

CHEN Qianzheng

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (FORMER)

LI Minghua, aged 53, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Li was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 17 March 2020 and resigned on 18
January 2022. Mr. Li had served as the general manager of the public
relations department of China Foods Import and Export (Group) Co.,
Ltd. (REE AR R#EL D (£B8) BRAF) (currently known as COFCO
Corporation) from August 2000 to April 2006; the deputy director
of the strategy department and the general manager of the brand
management department of China Foods (Group) Co., Ltd. (FEli&
SHEMm (£8) AR A7) (currently known as COFCO Corporation)
from April 2006 to October 2007; the deputy director of the research
and development department and the general manager of the brand
management department of COFCO Corporation from October 2007 to
June 2008; and had served in the Party and mass discipline inspection
and supervision department of COFCO Corporation from June 2008 to
May 2019, and served as the chief officer of the Party and mass work
department (corporate culture department). He has been the director
of the human resources department of COFCO Corporation since June
2019.

Mr. Li obtained a Master of Arts degree from Renmin University of China
in July 1993 and a Master of Business Administration degree from China
Europe International Business School in September 2009.

CHEN Qianzheng, aged 58, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Chen
was appointed as a non-executive Director on 22 December 2016 and
resigned on 18 January 2022. Mr. Chen had served as a manager,
assistant to general manager, deputy general manager and general
manager successively at Wuhan COFCO Import and Export Co., Ltd.
(BUZF R O AR]), a wholly owned subsidiary of China Foods Import
and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (FEEHARRELD (£8) BRAR)
(currently known as COFCO Corporation), from Feb 1987 to May 2006.
From May 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Chen worked at China Foods (Group)
Co., Ltd. (FEERE M (5E) BBR2AA]) (currently known as COFCO
Corporation) as a general manager of its meat department. He was the
deputy general manager and also serves as the general manager of the
marking department, the general manager of the trading department
and the deputy general manager of cold chain logistics department
of COFCO Meat Investment Company Limited (FEARKEEER A F)
successively from July 2008 to November 2016. Mr. Chen received a
bachelor degree from Huazhong Agricultural University (357 22 K E2)
in July 1985, and was accredited as a Senior International Business
Engineer in May 2002.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There was no significant change
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2021. An analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the
Management Discussion and Analysis section on pages 10 to 19 of this annual report.

Further discussion and analysis as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of the business of the Group, a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
are set out in the “Chairman’s Letter”, “General Manager’s Report”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Notes to Financial Statements” sections of this annual report. The above sections form part of this
report.

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the Group’s financial position as of that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 204 to 313 of this annual report. The Directors
recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.095 (equivalent to HK11.5 cents) per ordinary
Share (2020 final and special dividend: RMB0.092 (equivalent to HK11.0 cents) and RMB0.056 (equivalent
to HK6.7 cents) respectively) for the year ended 31 December 2021. An interim dividend of RMB0.112
(equivalent to HK13.5 cents) per ordinary share was paid on 17 September 2021 (2020 interim and special
dividend: RMBO0.082 (equivalent to HK9.1 cents) and RMB0.048 (equivalent to HK5.3 cents) respectively).

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 will be distributed on or after Thursday,
23 June 2022 to shareholders whose names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on
Thursday, 9 June 2022 (the “Record Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice Regarding Matters on Determination of Tax Residence Status of Chinese-controlled
Offshore Incorporated Enterprises under Rules of Effective Management” ( %8 7 55 9b 51 fit op & £ A% &
¥ ABEEREEKRESERTAERCEBUMBNALE)) (the “Notice”) which was issued by the
State Administration of Taxation (the “SAT”) of the PRC on 22 April 2009 and implemented on 1 January
2008, enterprises controlled by Chinese enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside
China shall be regarded as resident enterprises with de facto management bodies located in China, or
“offshore-registered resident enterprises” (B3R A FEME R 2), if all of the following criteria are present or
effected in the PRC: (1) senior management in charge of daily operations and offices; (2) decision-making
or authorised departments regarding financial management and human resources; (3) primary assets,
accounting books, seals, records and files of shareholders’ meetings or board of directors’ meetings; and
(4) directors or senior management with 50% or more voting rights ordinarily reside in China. Whether
or not a Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise is an offshore-registered resident enterprise is subject to
preliminary review by the local tax bureau where the de facto management body of Chinese-controlled
offshore enterprise or its controller is based and is subject to final confirmation by SAT.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 June 2013, the Company had received the SAT
approvals which confirmed that the Company is regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise, effective from
1 January 2013. Therefore, the Company will implement enterprise income tax withholding arrangement for
the proposed year 2021 final dividend.



Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules of the laws of PRC, the
Company is required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2021 final
dividend to its non-resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear
on the Company’s register of members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC
Nominees Limited, corporate nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other
entities or organisations, which are all considered as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company
will distribute the proposed year 2021 final dividend after deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The
Company will not withhold and pay the income tax in respect of the proposed year 2021 final dividend
payable to any natural person shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of members
on the Record Date.

If any resident enterprise (as defined in the PRC’s Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company’s
register of members which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a
region) but with a PRC-based de facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold
the said 10% enterprise income tax, it should lodge with the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, documents from its governing tax authority confirming that the Company
is not required to withhold and pay enterprise income tax in respect of the dividend that it is entitled at or
before 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 2 June 2022.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in
the Company'’s register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or
trustees. The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise
shareholders strictly in accordance with the relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government
departments and adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of members on the
Record Date. The Company assumes no liability whatsoever and will not entertain any claims arising
from any delay in, or inaccurate confirmation of, the status of the shareholders or any disputes over the
mechanism of withholding.

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 314 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the Year
are set out in note 14 to the audited financial statements.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
in note 29 to the financial statements.

The Company has not adopted any share option scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021.

At 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the provisions of sections 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted
to approximately RMB117,506,000 (2020: approximately RMB173,325,000), of which approximately
RMB105,775,000 (2020: approximately RMB164,787,000) has been proposed as a final dividend for the
Year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five largest customers
accounted for approximately 14.1% and 40.6%, respectively, of the Group’s total sales. The Group’s largest
and five largest suppliers of the Group, in aggregate, accounted for approximately 19.1% and 43.9%,
respectively, of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. ZHANG Xin (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LI Minghua (resigned on 18 January 2022)

Mr. CHEN Qianzheng (resigned on 18 January 2022)
Dr. ZHAO Wei (appointed on 18 January 2022)

Mr. MENG Fanijie (appointed on 18 January 2022)
Mr. ZHOU Yuan

Mr. SHEN Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. PUN Tit Shan

Mr. CHEN Jihua

In accordance with Article 103 and Article 108 of the Articles, Messrs. Zhou Yuan, Shen Tao, Chen Jihua,
Zhao Wei and Meng Fanjie will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2022
AGM.

Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.



Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of directors who have served on the boards of directors of the Group’s subsidiaries during the
Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Zhang Xin
Zhang Ye

Shi Yu

Zhao Wei*

Gu Xiao Lei
Huang Jin
Yang Xiaoyan*
Wang Jiliang
Ji Lifang

Gai Jun®

Qu Hongliang
Mo Baohong
Zhang Xingsong*
Qian Rong
Song Yinghui
Zhu Weigui
Chen Heging
Li Qinggong
Ye Xiaojing
Wang Lei
Wang Xiaoju
Xu Wen

Yin Xiaoyu
Zhang Shoujun
Li Gonghai

Li Yuli

Huang Supu
Li Qi

*

He/She has resigned as a director of the relevant subsidiary(ies) of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 79 to 83
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS
No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the Group to which the holding company of the

Company, the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the general meetings. Other emoluments
are determined by the Remuneration Committee pursuant to the Articles with reference to market
conditions, Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2021, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”")) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
any Director or chief executive of the Company was deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the
Company or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Number of Approximate

Capacity/Nature underlying shares percentage of interests

Name of Directors of Interests held in long position (Note 1)
Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 14,560,000 1.31%
Mr. Zhang Ye Beneficial owner 9,366,000 0.84%

Notes:

(1)  The percentages are calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2021, i.e.,
1,113,423,000 Shares.

As at 31 December 2021, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or as recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
percentage
of aggregate
interests in
issued share
capital of the

Substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of Number of Company
and other persons Notes Interests Shares held (Note 6)
China Foods (Holdings) Limited (1) Beneficial owner 330,658,800 29.70%
(“China Foods (Holdings)”")
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)") (1)&(2) Interests of controlled corporations 330,658,800 29.70%
COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”) (1)&(4) Interests of controlled corporations 330,658,800 29.70%
ORG Technology Co. Ltd. (“ORG Technology”) (1)&(3) Interests of controlled corporations 271,667,200 24.40%
Shanghai Yuanlong Investment Holdings (1)&(3)  Interests of controlled corporations 271,667,200 24.40%
(Group) Company Limited
(LEREREFRAF) (“Shanghai Yuanlong”)
Mr. Zhou Yunjie (1)&(3)  Interests of controlled corporations 271,667,200 24.40%
Zhang Wei (1) Beneficial owner 11,336,000 1.02%
(1)&(5)  Interest of corporation controlled 222,800,000 20.01%
by you



Notes:
(1) Long position in the shares of the Company.

(2)  China Foods (Holdings) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore deemed to be
interested in the 330,658,800 Shares held by China Foods (Holdings). COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings)
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by
COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings).

(83) ORG Development Limited and Hubei ORG Tinplate Printing & Can Making Co., Ltd. (“Hubei ORG”) hold
269,341,200 Shares and 2,326,000 Shares respectively. ORG Development Limited is wholly owned by ORG
International Holdings Limited. ORG International Holdings Limited and Hubei ORG are wholly-owned by ORG
Technology. ORG Technology is owned as to approximately 39.19% by Shanghai Yuanlong and approximately
0.74% by dtR=—+—"2REEHRAF which in turn are owned as to approximately 78.00% and 80.00%
respectively by Mr. Zhou Yunjie. Therefore, Mr. Zhou Yunjie, Shanghai Yuanlong and ORG Technology are deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by ORG Development Limited and Hubei ORG.

(4) COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings).

(5)  Yuanging Investment Limited hold 11,336,000 Shares. Yuanging Investment Limited is owned as to approximately
80.00% by Mr. Zhang Wei. Therefore, Mr. Zhang Wei is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Yuanging
Investment Limited.

(6) The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December
2021, i.e., 1,113,423,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company had not been notified of any other
persons other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests
required kept under section 336 of the SFO.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors, from 19 October 2021 to the date of this annual report, the Company’s public float was
below 25%, the minimum prescribed percentage (“Minimum Prescribed Percentage”) as required in Rule
8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules. To the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of the annual report, the
Company’s public float was approximately 21.72%.

While the drop of the Company’s public float was beyond the Company’s control, it will take appropriate
steps to ensure the restoration of the Minimum Prescribed Percentage to public hands as soon as possible.

For more details of the insufficiency of public float, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
26 January 2022.
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The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which
were connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These transactions are considered
to be continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be disclosed herein
in compliance with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing
connected transactions are as follows:

1. 2019 Financial Services Agreement with COFCO Finance

On 7 November 2019, the Company, CPMC Investment and COFCO Finance entered into a financial
services agreement (the “2019 Financial Services Agreement”), pursuant to which COFCO Finance
shall provide (i) the Deposit Services; (ii) the Loan Services; (iii) the Entrustment Loan Services, and
(iv) the Other Financial Services to the Group. Details of the 2019 Financial Services Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 November 2019, and the circular of the
Company dated 27 November 2019. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 23 December 2019.

Pursuant to the 2019 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the
Group the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 23 December 2019,
the date on which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary
general meeting:

(a) Deposit services
The maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with
COFCO Finance shall not exceed equivalent of RMB900 million. The deposit services and the
above annual cap were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Entrustment loan services and other financial services

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant
to which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees and other
services fees in connection with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services,
including settlement services, forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency
services to be provided by COFCO Finance to the Group under the 2019 Financial Services
Agreement. COFCO Finance will charge handling fees in connection with the entrustment
loan services and the other financial services for a maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB4
million. The above entrustment loan services and the other financial services were subject to
the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued
interests) amounted to RMB896,896,000 and there was no transaction of the entrustment loan
services and the other financial services between the Group and COFCO Finance under the 2019
Financial Services Agreement.



2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement

On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2020 COFCO
Packaging Materials Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2017 Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement, the Group will supply
Products and Related Services to COFCO Group with reference to the prevailing market prices of
same or similar products and services of the same period for a term of three years commencing on
1 January 2021. The 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement may be renewed by agreement
between the parties subject to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary)
required by the Listing Rules. Details of the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 October 2020 and the circular of the
Company dated 17 November 2020. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 14 December 2020.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be
supplied to COFCO Group in 2021, 2022 and 2023 are expected not to exceed RMB500,000,000,
RMB600,000,000 and RMB700,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate value of the Products and Related Services
to be supplied to COFCO Group under the 2020 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement was
approximately RMB497,215,000.

2020 COFCO IT Agreement

On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2020 COFCO
IT Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2017 IT Services Framework Agreement.
Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO IT Agreement, COFCO together with its subsidiaries and associates
other than the Group (“COFCO Group”) agrees to procure IT software and IT facilities for the Group,
supply IT services and market consulting services, and leasing to the Group at the respective annual
caps for a period commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December 2023 (the “IT Products
and Services”). The 2020 COFCO IT Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties
subject to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing
Rules. Details of the 2020 COFCO IT Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 27 October 2020.

Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO IT Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the supply of IT Products
and Services by COFCO Group to the Group from 2021 to 2023 in relation to (i) the purchase of
IT software and IT facilities is RMB1,500,000, RMB1,500,000 and RMB1,500,000 respectively; (ii)
the supply of IT services and market consulting services is RMB5,000,000, RMB5,000,000 and
RMB5,000,000 respectively; and (iii) leasing is RMB4,000,000, RMB4,000,000 and RMB4,000,000
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the purchase of IT
software and IT facilities; (ii) the supply of IT services and market consulting services; and (iii) leasing
under 2020 COFCO IT Agreement were RMB275,000, RMB943,000 and RMB1,581,000, respectively.
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4. 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement

On 27 October 2020, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2020 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement”) with ORG Packaging in respect of the renewal of the 2017 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, (i) the Group
has agreed to sell to ORG Group and ORG Group has agreed to purchase from the Group printed
tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such packaging
materials, and (ii) ORG Group has agreed to sell to the Group and the Group has agreed to purchase
from ORG Group tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can production services of such
packaging materials, from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. Details of the 2020 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 October
2020 and the circular of the Company dated 17 November 2020. The approval of the independent
Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 14 December 2020.

Pursuant to the 2020 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, the approved annual caps in respect
of (i) the sale of printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services
of such packaging materials by the Group to ORG Group from 2021 to 2023 are RMB250,000,000,
RMB350,000,000 and RMB450,000,000; (ii) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and
related can production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group from 2021
to 2023 are RMB200,000,000, RMB270,000,000 and RMB350,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the sale of printed
tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such packaging
materials by the Group to ORG Group; and (ii) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and
related can production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group under 2020
ORG Packaging Materials Agreement were RMB111,352,000 and RMB81,695,000 respectively.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 to 4 for the year ended 31 December 2021 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.



Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report also constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules which are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions in relation to the key management
personnel remuneration as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report include connected transactions exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules. Save as the aforesaid
and the connected transaction and continuing connected transactions disclosed above, the Directors
consider that all other related party transactions disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report did not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are required
to comply with any of the reporting, annual review, announcement, or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

Interest of the Directors in a competing business required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules is as follows:

Name of Director Name of company Nature of competing business Nature of interest Appointment date
Mr. Zhou Yuan ORG Technology (Note) Manufacture of packaging products As a vice chairman November 2010
As a director Octaber 2010
Mr. Shen Tao ORG Technology (Note) Manufacture of packaging products As a general manager February 2014
As a director Octaber 2010
Note:

ORG Technology is a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002701) and a substantial
Shareholder, holding approximately 24.40% of the issued share capital of the Company. ORG Technology
is principally engaged in the comprehensive packaging services including packaging design, packaging
production, filling and brand design and promotion. For further details of ORG Technology in respect of its
business and financial position, please refer to its annual report dated 20 April 2021, which is available at
https://www.orgtech.cn/uploadfile/2021/0421/20210421010419451.pdf.

Although Mr. Zhou Yuan is the vice chairman and a director of ORG Technology, and Mr. Shen Tao is the general
manager and a director of ORG Technology, both of them have confirmed that they are mindful of their duty to avoid
conflict of interest. In cases where conflict of interest situation arises, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao will refrain from
taking part in the decision making process and will abstain from voting on the relevant resolution in board meeting. On
this basis and given that ORG Technology has its own management personnel other than Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen
Tao, the Directors believe that the Company is capable of carrying out its business independently of, and at arm’s length
from ORG Technology.

Same as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no Directors are considered to have interests in any
business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of the Group.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance for all Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers the
corresponding costs, charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.
Pursuant to Article 171 of the Articles, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all liabilities (to the extent permitted by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) sustained or incurred by such Director or officer in or about the execution of his office or
otherwise in relation thereto.

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group was entered into or existed during the Year.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Company strictly abides by the laws and regulations of the PRC in its business operation, including but
not limited to the laws and regulations in relation to product safety, printing business, foreign investment,
labour and insurance, taxation, foreign exchange and environmental protection, specifically, Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation of the People’s Republic of China on the
Administration of Production License for Industrial Products, Measures for the Administration of Operating
Licenses for Hazardous Chemicals, Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation for
Implementing the Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China, Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, Enterprise Income Tax Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Regulations of the People’s Republic of China on the Management of
Foreign Exchanges, Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not breach any law and regulation that has a
significant impact on the Group.

The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental and social sustainable development
of the regions where it operates. As a responsible enterprise, the Group is in compliance with all the
relevant laws and regulations in terms of the environmentally friendliness, health and safety, adopts
effective measures, conserves energy and reduces waste. Further discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance and an account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees, are set out in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report. The said section forms part of this
report.



The Directors recognise that customers and business partners are the keys to the sustainable development
of the Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship with its business partners
and improving the quality of services to the customers.

The Group stays connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing communication with the

customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical
meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of the
retirement scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The 2022 AGM will be held on Monday, 30 May 2022.

For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 24 May 2022
Closure of Register of members 25 May to 30 May 2022

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 30 May 2022

For determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 2 June 2022
Closure of Register of members 6 June to 9 June 2022

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 9 June 2022

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and attend the 2022 AGM, Shareholders should contact
the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as transfer of
shares, change of name or address, or loss of share certificates.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the 2022 AGM.

Zhang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the members of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 204 to 313, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (*HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
“Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matters (continued)
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In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 36, Impairment of Assets, the
Group is required to test the amount
of goodwill for impairment annually.
The net carrying amount of goodwill of
RMB233,973,000 as of 31 December 2021
was material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, management’s
assessment on the impairment was complex
and highly judgmental and was based on
assumptions, specifically budgeted gross
margins, discount rates and revenue and
long-term growth rates, which were affected
by expected future market or economic
conditions.

BEEST LA ECE ([ LERE] &
/Alifzm“fﬁ%/ﬁkfﬁﬁﬁﬁ A 20214512
B318 B AR#233,973,0007T 2 BREFE 4
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Relevant disclosures are included in Note
3 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

R BEHNRE P RRME3R16
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We understood and tested the processes and key
controls of the Group over the assessment on the goodwill
impairment;

AAZEENE T BRI e R
[68 95 47 15 0

BEEBEETHEREMNEIRIEM

We obtained the relevant cash-generating units’ cash
flow forecasts prepared by management for goodwill
impairment and evaluated the appropriateness of
management’s identification of cash-generating unit and
the allocation of assets to each cash-generating unit in
the preparation of its cash flow forecasts and whether
these were prepared in a manner consistent with the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;

AEZHAMEESEEEABERERNMARNBARSE
EEMEeRERA  UHHEEEEREESRENIRGE
ARHREELEUNZFIREGERCELENNEES
FEEE Y ARERKREBITETEN - HRER

We assessed the historical accuracy of management’s
forecasts by comparing the current year’'s actual cash
flows with the prior year’s cash flow forecasts and
evaluated management’s estimation and challenged the
appropriateness of key assumptions (such as budgeted
gross margins, discount rates and revenue and long-term
growth rates) adopted in the value-in-use calculations by:

AZHBMEBBLBAFERRASRER LFRETEAN
AHEEEERANE L ERE - WHEREEFEETPHAEKR
R RR (WREEMNE - BIRERIRAFKEERE) K
BEEMRE TER - AN

e Comparing the budgeted gross margins with the
Group’s past performance, taking into consideration of
market trends;

o BEEEFNXHE
mIZEE

BEEEBENKRRETHL  XEE
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Gooadwill impairment (Continued)

BERE (&)

e Engaging our internal valuation specialist to assess the
discount rates by considering weighted average cost
of capital for the individual cash-generating unit and
comparable companies in the open market, as well
as considering territory specific factors, such as risk
free interest rate and debt ratio prevailing in relevant
market: and

s EFERMNANGERR BBEEMEREELEM
KAFEME LA B LR AR N INEFGEARRANRLE
BRAEE F & (AR ™IS T BT AN ERRMEME
B &) KA EIRE - ]

e Comparing the revenue and long-term growth rates
used in the five-year forecast period with the approved
budget and market development of the relevant
business and industry.

o BAREFEBHAPAMAIOUWANKEEREELELERE
RAABEBMITROMIGERETH L

We evaluated management’s assessment of the sensitivity
of the Group’s impairment model against reasonably
possible changes around the key assumptions.
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Key audit matters (continued)
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Key Audit Matter
HAREREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBARELENARREARER

Impairment of trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

K EEFERIAE 5 BB E

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers amounting to RMB2,326,959,000
(net of allowance of RMB2,767,000), which
represented approximately 17.9% of total
assets of the Group.

R2021F12A31H EEEBEKRBERFPAHNN
B 5 WG A ARE?2 326,959,0007T (F1Rk #
BARM2767,0000T) "1 BEEBEEABED
17.9% ©

Our audit procedures included the assessment of the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the
Group’s key internal controls which govern credit control,
debt collection and estimates of expected credit losses.

AZBMOEZEFERIGERECERD  EHREEMA
AEAEEER: EREMNBERAMEHNRT Btk
BAERRR -

We also understood on the key data and assumptions
of the expected credit loss model adopted by the
management, including the basis of the groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss pattern and
assessed whether trade receivables were appropriately
categorised in the ageing report by comparing a sample
of individual items with the underlying goods delivery
notes, sales invoices and other relevant underlying
documentation.

AR BT IRE, T B R 1 TR B 5 R 4 AR o B R
WS HRER  BEAERLUERERNS BEFH R
BIEOZERE - LA RIBIBLL B EBIIA A AR SRR & 2
¥ OHERE R - T E AR TR
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We also assessed the reasonableness of management’s
expected credit loss allowances by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements and estimates, including checking the
accuracy of the historical default information, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information.

7N Kz BLRM IR AE AR B TR B AT A AR H B R RV B R
(BREZEBETENERNNERE FHEEEEXESK
B ATEEAR AT EE M ACEY AR R A EIEERS
FEBRBENAEN -

We also reviewed the Group’s subsequent collection of the
trade receivables.

AZBMNELE BEEEARKEDEZRUEKOBER -
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Impairment of trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (Continued)

As disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of
the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers based on provision matrix through
grouping of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns, after considering internal credit
ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information.

MR A WIS MR T20HE - EXEER
BREEEZHEBANABEETA - HEEE
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BB Z BRI D EMSREER
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BARMERANELCERENXMG - X
FLBTRE MEE R -

The loss allowance amount of the trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers is measured as the difference
between the asset’'s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future
credit losses.

KEEPANNESRWAHNERRESRE
BFREEMNREER[FIRKESRENERE
(REBBEHARAKREEEBR BHEEAE -

We identified the impairment assessment
of trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers as a key audit matter due to
the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL
of the Group’s trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers at the end of the
reporting period.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Sai Ho.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
Chan Sai Ho
Practising Certificate Number P0O7705

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % B A R
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2021 2020
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®ET T ARBTT
Revenue WA 5 9,566,382 7,344,747
Cost of sales 55 AR 8(a) (8,236,171) (6,181,523)
Gross profit EF 1,330,211 1,163,224
Other income, gains and losses  H g A -~ W s K E1E 6 142,245 107,290
Selling and marketing expenses & R & E M (409,853) (323,161)
Administrative expenses THER (431,922) (341,344)
Finance costs BB ER 7 (65,590) (99,063)
Share of results of joint ventures JEMEA & ¥ EE 1,568 91
Profit before income tax B Fr 18 i A0 A 5E 8 566,659 507,037
Income tax expense Fris 8 &2 11 (93,200) (113,004)
Profit for the year FEFHE 473,459 394,033
Attributable to: PE1E -
Equity holders of the Company AR FIRAIFH A 462,498 389,388
Non-controlling interests IR = 10,961 4,645
473,459 394,033
Earnings per share attributable XX FZERBREIEE A
to ordinary equity holders of EHERER
the Company 13
Basic (RMB) ER(ARET) 0.415 0.345
Diluted (RMB) #wE(ARET) 0.415 0.345
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated MRz ESRe i BmEn —3o -

financial statements.
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(Expressed in Renminbi) For the year ended 31 December 2021 p— A 7
(AARBITR) HE21FRANBLEE W\ éﬁ ﬁ
2021 2020 INDEPENDENT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 AUF?IIETPOOHFE
AR®BT ARBTT BT
Profit for the year FEFHE 473,459 394,033
Other comprehensive income Htp 2w
Item that may be reclassified to profit or 7 HE 18 HjfE] Al 52 & 37 5 48
loss in subsequent periods: FEmHE -
- Exchange differences arising on — BMEBINEBR
translation of foreign operations M 5 = &
(with nil tax effect) (BB E) 80,180 231,066
CONSOLIDATED
Other comprehensive income FEHME2EEE STATEMENT
for the year, net of tax (B HIRBE) 80,180 231,066 OF PROFIT
— = ORLOSS
Total comprehensive income FEXHEKEAE BAERR
for the year 553,639 625,099
Attributable to: FEAL -
Equity holders of the Company RABRAEFER A 549,508 619,105
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 2 4,131 5,994
553,639 625,099
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
FEZERER
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
REBBRAE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BEREREDER
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated WMEBRZEREMBREN—F D -
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e IR R

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARBFITR)

INDEPENDENT 2021 2020
AUDITOR'S Note RMB’000 RMB’000
S itz ARMT R AREFT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % « BE M & 14 5,300,403 5,162,887
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 386,298 393,112
Goodwill kS 16 233,973 233,973
Other intangible assets HthE\mEEE 17 22,317 23,375
Interests in joint ventures REELEZER 18 14,259 8,371
Deposits for purchase of items of EE Y% - HE k& E
CONSOLIDATED property, plant and equipment  TEE Kz & 193,492 125,144
g?;:g";?” Prepayments T 5K 21 38,795 38,165
OR LOSS Deferred tax assets EXERBEE 28 35,558 26,937
maRER Total non-current assets BMIRBEE 6,225,095 6,011,964
Current assets RBEE
Inventories ey 19 1,903,650 1,247,512
Trade and bills receivables E 5N R EWEE 20 2,488,620 2,156,082
Prepayments, other receivables  TE{F 3+ E b lE I Zk &
and other assets Hih&EE 21 415,379 333,245
Tax recoverable AT Uy @ 77 18 5,448 5,925
gTOANTSé%LE‘BﬁTOEE Pledged deposits and restricted B K if1F 2 &% A R #1172
COMPREHENSIVE deposit 22 36,327 97,407
INCOME Cash and cash equivalents HehIBeZED 22 1,917,295 1,944,230
FErERGRER N
Total current assets BRBEE 6,766,719 5,784,401
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables BEIENRNENEE 23 2,323,753 1,448,866
Other payables and accruals Hib N R EFTTER 24 467,956 429,043
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 13,510 10,268
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t & R17{& & 27 2,071,145 2,300,147
SR Tax payable EBIA 15,543 21,693
gTFA;:r:g;\L Total current liabilities BRBaE 4,891,907 4,210,017
POSITION Net current assets REBEEFHE 1,874,812 1,574,384
Rl Total assets less current BEERRBARSE
liabilities 8,099,907 7,586,348

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQuITY
FeREEDE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Expressed in Renminbi) As at 31 December 2021 %«% E\jj’%ﬂﬁ)‘ﬂlﬁ
(AAREFIR) }20214F12 4318 ’
2021 2020 INDEPENDENT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 AUFEK)IIETPOORF;?
ok AREFT AREFIT B REERS
Non-current liabilities kRBAaE
Government grants A 8 B 14,485 2,686
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t B R7T{& 27 2,143,137 1,963,573
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 62,376 70,978
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEE 28 60,870 46,148
Total non-current liabilities BERBEE 2,280,868 2,083,385
Net assets HEE 5,819,039 5,502,963
CONSOLIDATED
Equity R STATEMENT
Equity attributable to equity EATREEFEA OE;FI‘_%FS';
holders of the Company EihERE BAERR
Share capital fig 7% 29 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves i1 30 2,747,265 2,487,247
5,477,698 5,217,680
Non-controlling interests FERER 341,341 285,283
Total equity 4R 5 5,819,039 5,502,963
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors MEEGN2022F3 7228 it R IFHE %?Tﬁ?&gfﬁg?
on 22 March 2022. T2 - COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
ReE2ENER

The accompanying
financial statements.

Zhang Xin
SRE

Director

EF

notes form part of these consolidated

Zhang Ye
R EE
Director

EF

MIEBK % EFRAMBHRRN D -
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Consolldated Statement of Changes in Equity
ARERBE R oo

INDEPENDENT Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AUDITOR'S FRRAREHEARL
REPORT
BURBRMRE Share-
based Exchange Non-
Share  payment Capital ~ Statutory fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve  reserves reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity
HRHA
E#xf EX

R fE  EARE AERE RDEE ERVE Rit FEREE  AER
Note ~ RMBOOD ~ RMBOOD ~ RMBIOOD  RMB'OOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
Wit ARRTL ARRTL ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTR

gSANTSECt)ALE‘EAt\TED As at 1 January 2020 2020%151R 2730433 18780 270703 496,180  (440749) 1860357 4935704 279289 5214993
OF PROFIT )
ORLOSS Profit for the year EEFE - - - - - 389388 389,388 4645 394,033
BABRE Other comprehensive income  FE £ 2ENE :
for the year:
Exchange differenceson ~ BEFNEREZERES
translation of foreign
operations - - - - 22917 - 229,117 1,349 231,066
Total comprehensive income FE 2 ANEAE
for the year - - - - 2917 389,388 619,105 5,994 625,099
CONSOLIDATED _— . .
STATEMENT OF 2019 final dividend declared  EZE2019F KR & - - - - - (63904)  (63,904) - (63,904)
COMPREHENSIVE 2020 interim and special NNFRHRERRE
INCOME dividends 2 - - . : S (4T (144,745) - (144745)
FAzERER Repurchase of own shares B & 5RH 2 - - - - - (18480)  (128,480) - (128480)
Appropriation to the statutory AEZEEEE
reserve - - - 65,488 - (65,488) - - -
As at 31 December 2020 20205127311 2,730,433 18,780* 270,703 561,668" (211,082)" 1847,128" 5217,680 285,283 5,502,963
As at 1 January 2021 W202151R18 2,730,433 18,780 270,703 561,668  (211,032) 1,847,128 5,217,680 285,283 5,502,963
Profit for the year EEAE - - - - - 462,498 462,498 10,961 473,459
CONSOLIDATED Other comprenensive income  E % £t 2 EME :
STATEMENT for the year:
gg;ﬁéﬁcm Bxchange differenceson ~ REFNEBECEREE
P translation of foreign
operations - - - - 87,010 - 87,010 (6,830) 80,180
Total comprehensive income £ 2 EUNEAE
for the year - - - - 87,010 462,498 549,508 4131 553,639

Capital contribution from ~ FEERERHERRA
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - -
2020 final and special BER020FRER

51,927 51,927

CONSOLIDATED dividends declared ERRE 12 - - - - - (164,787)  (164,787) - (164,787)
SIATERERICS 2021 interim dividend 0215 ERE 4 - - - - - (124703 (124,703) - (124709)
CHANGES IN o AREEREE
EQUITY Appropriation to the statutory  AEZEE
BAERSHE reserve - - - 83,287 - (83,287) - - -
As at 31 December 2021 H20215124318 2,730,433 18,780 270,703  644,955*  (124,022)* 1,936,849* 5,477,698 341,341 5,819,039
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves * BEGERABER GG S BHMRIEZS
of RMB2,747,265,000 (2020: RMB2,487,247,000) in the 4R & 1B A K 152,747,265,000T
consolidated statement of financial position. (20204F « AR #2,487,247,0007C) °
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BB SR A EHREN—H D -

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

(Expressed in Renminbi) For the year ended 31 December 2021
(AARBFIR) HE2021F12A31ALFE

2021 2020

CONSOLIDATED
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 STATEMENT OF
k=3 AR¥ETR ARBFT CASH FLOWS
Cash flows from operating activities *“‘%éiﬁéiziﬁémi LGLE L
Profit before income tax B BT 1S 3 A 1) 566,659 507,037
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs %2R 7 65,590 99,063
Interest income FUNSRION 6 (25,872) (16,091)
Loss on disposal of items of HENE - BERSE
property, plant and equipment HEEBR 6 18,148 8,622
Write-off of other intangible assets MEECELEE 8(c) 1,540 -
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—REELERE 6 - 2,436 NOTES TO THE
Gain on disposal of an associate & — KB D A ek 6 - (16) CONSOLIDATED
Share of results of joint ventures ERAEEES (1,568) (91) FINANCIAL
Committed dividend income from KE KA ERER STATEMENTS
a former joint venture EEE AR ON 6 (119,000) (50,000) fRa MR
Depreciation of property, plant and mE W%& RETE
equipment 8(c) 411,273 376,861
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 8(c) 23,947 23,227
Amortisation of other intangible assets £ 2 & & # i 8(c) 4,414 4,829
Impairment loss of trade receivables, & ZEWR - BNAFT K
prepayments and other assets, net HinEEREBBTSE 8(c) )] 2,654
Reversal of provision of inventories FERERRD 8(a) - (205)
Amortisation of government grants B 5 Bh # (1,245) (332) FIVE-YEAR
Covid-19-related rent concessions HCovid-191HEMEEEE 8¢ - (300) FINANCIAL
Foreign exchange differences, net PE N E 8 HE (10,830) (21,674) E;Ua;\;%%g
Operating profit before changes in LEEEEA L EENE /
working capital 933,049 936,020
Increase in inventories FEE (656,138) (176,530)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B IRRT R EREE
bills receivables (gm/mb (335,053) 66,155
Increase in prepayments, other AR EfbERH R
receivables and other assets HA&EEm (80,811) (66,682)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BEEAERRERH TR
deposits and restricted deposit m /(g m) 61,080 (47,695)
Increase in trade and bills payables — Z S & X EMZEE M 873,905 319,167
Increase in other payables HAbE R R ERT IR B 12 m
and accruals 20,047 131,056
Cash generated from operations REEEZHE 816,079 1,161,491
Interest paid [SANERSE (71,080) (97,156)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ERNPEMEREH (92,772) (97,780)
Net cash generated from RETHEE2HEFE
operating activities 652,227 966,555
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REBRERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A318 LEE

(AAREFIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

CONSOLIDATED 2021 2020
STATEMENT OF Note RMB’000 RMB’000
CASH FLOWS 0= AR®ETR AREFT
R L Cash flows from investing activities RETBHELZHERE
Interest received 2R B 6 25,872 16,091
Committed dividends received BR—RAGE R 2HEE
from a former joint venture D4 6 119,000 50,000
Purchase of property, BENE BERRE
plant and equipment (523,432) (349,101)
Deposits paid for purchase of INBEEME BER
property, plant and equipment HENERS (134,041) (112,777)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - WE REH
28112%[%/1?50 property, plant and equipment ﬁfr?%%& 9,541 14,016
FINANGIAL Addition to prepayments, other BAH - EMERRR
STATEMENTS receivables and other assets HibEELMN (8,881) (15,676)
BARBREN Additions to leasehold lands 788 133 A (2,631) (14,384)
Additions to other intangible assets HppEPEEE M (4,896) (1,545)
Investments in joint ventures Reghxz7iE (4,320) (8,280)
Proceeds from disposal ﬁ’% REECEMBIE
of a joint venture - 874,804
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — R4 N 7 {558 - 25,000
Receipt of government grants for HOE - BERZBKR
property, plant and equipment &) BT # B 13,720 -
FIVE-YEAR Net cash (used in)/generated from REEEH (FH) EL
g'L’J\‘,\;\’\'\A‘i'Fﬁ(L investing activities ZEEFE (510,068) 478,148
FERHED Cash flows from financing activities rﬂﬁ%iﬁgizfﬁ,%/ms
New bank loans raised HEENIET 1,061,063 1,502,028
Repayments of bank loans 1%3%@&??%%’& (968,488) (1,325,813)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEAR (14,519) (13,203)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HERBEHFE (2,000) (1,907)
Repurchase of own shares B8 B &k - (128,480)
Dividends paid ENBRE (289,490) (208,649)
Capital contributions from FERESNEREA
non-controlling shareholders 51,927
Net cash used in financing activities BMEZEHERZELFE (161,507) (176,024)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and IE%JSUE%%F%
cash equivalents mD)/EINFE (19,348) 1,268,679
Cash and cash equivalents ¢%ﬂﬁ§&fﬂﬁ—rﬁ%
at beginning of year 1,944,230 678,514
Effect of foreign exchange EXEEFETE
rate changes, net (7,587) (2,963)
Cash and cash equivalents FRESRESEEY
at end of year 1,917,295 1,944,230
Analysis of balances of cash RERREEENERIN
and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances Re RRITER 22 1,780,295 1,052,899
Deposits in COFCO Finance Company A EEEARE R Al
Limited (“COFCO Finance’), a MEBARREMBEREME
subsidiary of COFCO Corporation NE(HEMB) 2FR 22 137,000 891,331
Cash and cash equivalents GENBRRERRGEERS
as stated in the consolidated RERAIZEER
statement of financial position BeZEY
and the consolidated statement
of cash flows 1,917,295 1,944,230
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated Bz ERaM Bz —Hs -
financial statements.
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*

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) — /_\ E —
wAREn R N 3 R AH A ﬁ:E

Corporate and information of the Group

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office
of the Company is located at 33/F., COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacture
of packaging products, including beverage cans, food
cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, printed and coated
tinplates, steel barrels, round and square shaped cans
and plastic packaging in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

As at 31 December 2021, (i) COFCO (Hong Kong)
Limited (“COFCO (Hong Kong)”) beneficially held
approximately 29.70% (2020: 29.70%) of the issued
shares of the Company, being the single largest
shareholder of the Company; and (i) B & R H AR
2 7] (ORG Technology Co. Ltd.*) (“ORG Technology”)
beneficially held approximately 24.40% (2020: 24.40%)
of the issued shares of the Company, being the second
largest shareholder of the Company. COFCO (Hong
Kong) is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and
ultimately held by COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”), a
state-owned enterprise registered in the PRC. ORG
Technology is a company established in the PRC and
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

For identification purposes only

NAREEEHR
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EREABSAMKINBREL
A A o AN A A A% 1D R 20094F 11
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B it A EEIREEETITE
26255 # 12 K[E3371E o

ARR I —FREZEBRATR] - AR
AINEMBERR (RE[AKE])
TEREPEARKME ([HE] )
ERERRER  BEAMNE R
miE - RFEHE  EE  H2H -
e TEEMZEBEEK -

R2021F 128318 © (i) FIEEE
(BB BRAR(HEESB)D
B A ARG #29.70% (2020
F:29.70%) 2 EEITRG - AR
RNAIZBAE—RE : R(iRIE
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B A ARG #24.40% (2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\é’g\jﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

1 Corporate and information of the Group 1 ARAREKEEER (&)

CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS
BARERER Information about subsidiaries g NI R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are ARARMEEZMBEBARNFBN
as follows: I
Place of
registration and Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Name principal place of registered equity attributable
business share capital to the Company Principal activity
NOTES TO THE AMRIE BRTEBR/ ARAME
CONSOLIDATED 4B HEY BERBA BHAAM FBEE
gT:I"\:E(;/II:hTS Direct Indirect
BANBRRNE £ A
Hangzhou COFCO-MC packaging PRC US$30,050,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
Co., Ltd.* i 30,050,000 T TEAREE
MR EERARERAR
Guangzhou Panyu MCP Industries Ltd.* PRC 1$$30,290,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal and plastic
BlHEEXRORARAT hE 30,290,000% 7T packaging
SENZBAREE
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL , *x i
SUMVIARY Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd. PRC US$25,000,000 - 84.48  Manufacture of metal packaging
Wiy " i = 2 4
REHEEE (‘Wuxi Huapeng’) i 25,000,000% 7T TRAKEE
BRERNZARAD ([REER))
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd.” PRC US$64,500,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
MR RRRARAA P 64,500,000% T TERRERE
Tianjin CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC US$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
mEAR (KR ERAR k! 50,000,000% T SEAREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.* PRC UUS$43,300,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
TEAK (WM ARAF il 43,300,000% 7T PEAREE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd.™** PRC RMB17,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
KEATRORARAT™ hE AR 17,000,0007C 2ERREE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd." PRC US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
TEAR (RE)ARAR k! 30,000,000% T TERRERE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd." PRC US§39,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
mMRERERR AR HE 39,750,000% T PBEREE
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic Industry PRC 1S$3,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
Co., Ltd.™ i 3,800,000% T ERaREE
LERE2BIEERAR
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd.* PRC US§$24,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
mEeR(BIL)ERAT HE 24,200,000% T SERREE
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Corporate and information of the Group
(continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

eV BRRME

(AARFITR)

1 QFAREEES(H)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEBRARER (F)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are ARBMNEEMEBERRMNFIBN
as follows: (continued) T (&)
Place of
registration and Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Name principal place of registered equity attributable
business share capital to the Company Principal activity
B EE ERTEER/ KRR
28 Beny R BEAAL TRER
Direct Indirect
B B
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Co., Ltd.” PRC US$32,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
hEAK(BL)ERAT hE 32,750,000% ¢ TERRLE
Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC US$89,052,877 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
Co., Ltd." G 89,052 877% L tERRLE
BN EREERAA
Sino-Asia Package (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.**  PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
BEAE(KE)ERAA Gk 10,000,000% T BRAREE
Sino-Asia Plastic Package PRC US$7,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
(Zhongshan) Co., Ltd.** i 7,200,000% 7 BRREEE
mLRGERBRERAT"
Victoria Package (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.**  PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
EMgrakERAR™ il A& #100,000,0007 PBRKLE
Weigang Packaging (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.”™ PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
BEaK(XR)BROR" Gk 10,000,000% 7 PBAKLE
CPMC (Tianjin) Barrel Co., Ltd.” PRC US$15,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
RRHBEBERAA il 15,000,000% ¢ tERREE
Nanning CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BEPBHEARAF k! 30,000,000% ¢ tBRKEE
CPMC Investment Co., Ltd.” PRC UUS§404,090,000 - 100 Investment holding
TRBRRERRAA hE 404,090,000% 7T REER
CPMC (Guangzhou) Plastic Package ~ PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
Co., Ltd.* T 10,000,000% 70 PBRKLE
ek (BN 2BERAR
Harbin CPMC Co., Ltd"* PRC RMB80,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
REOR (REE) ERAA hE AR %80,800,0007C tEAkLE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\éﬂji%i&% M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

1 Corporate and information of the Group 1 ARAREKEEER (&)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) A EER (F)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are ARARMEEZMBEBARNFBN
as follows: (continued) T (#)
Place of
registration and Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Name principal place of registered equity attributable
business share capital to the Company Principal activity
ERRTE BRATEER/ KRR
8 mehy EEE BEAM TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# B
Fujian FC Packaging Limited* PRC UUS$3,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BEARAEARAF ik 3,000,000% ¢ tBRKLE
CPMC (Guangzhou) Barrel Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC 1$$8,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
BN ERRERAA G 8,000,000% 7T tERREE
Weigang Packaging (Sugian) Co. Ltd.*  PRC 1S$6,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
EEEEBRERAA Gl 6,000,000% T PBRKLE
Suzhou CPMC Co., Ltd." (note(i)) PRC US$5,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
nRekEMN ERRT WH)) T 5,000,000% ¢ tERkEE
Xiamen CPMC Co., Ltd.™ PRC RMB12,000,000 - 60  Manufacture of metal packaging
hEEK(EM) ARAF" hE AR 812,000,000 SEAREE
Fujian CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.” PRC US$42,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
EROERERRAA hE 42,000,000% 7T tEAREE
Harvest Epoch Packaging Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC UUS$80,000,000 - 68.8  Manufacture of metal packaging
(“Harvest Epoch’) hE 80,000,000% T FERREE
AIEBREERAA (DHILE])
Chengdu CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB250,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
R ERERRA # AR 250,000,000 PEAREE
CPMC (Jiaxing) Barrel Co., Ltd.* PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
FEPRBURARAA G 10,000,000% T TEAREE
CPMC (Weifang) Barrel Co., Ltd.™* PRC RMB64,520,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
RyPRERARA A t A 64,520,000 tERREE
Benepack Belgium NV Belgium EUR21,200,000 - 509  Manufacture of metal packaging
Benepack Belgium NV il 21,200,000 1T ERREE
Heilongjiang MC Packaging Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
REIERERAERAR H AR 25,000,000 SEAREE
Chengdu Weigang Packaging Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB13,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic packaging
RBEERRERAR G AR 13,000,000 BRERKEE
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(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F
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Corporate and information of the Group 1 AFAREEESR (&)

(continued) STATENENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEBRARER (F) BAaReRER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are ARBMNEEMEBERRMNFIBN
as follows: (continued) T (&)
Place of
registration and Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Name principal place of registered equity attributable
business share capital to the Company Principal activity
EMREIE ERTEER/ RRRF
44 aE4Y ERRRE  EEEAL  IEEE T
Direct Indirect FINANCIAL
B B STATEMENTS
FAMBRRME
CPMC (Chongging) Co., Ltd.” PRC RMB56,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal and plastic
PEEE(ER)ERAE i AEH56,000,0007T packaging
SBNZBAREE
Harbin Meite Container, Co., PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
Ltd."(note(ii) i AR 25,000,000 TEARLE
BREERARERL A W) FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
Kumming CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.** PRC RMB120,000,000 - 70 Manufacture of metal packaging SUMMARY
(note(i) G AR 1200000007 SEBRLE BERE
ERTERERRAD (W)
Longjiang Meite Container Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal packaging
(note(ii) i AR 25,000,000 EBOREE
EIZRREERAT (HH)
* Wholly foreign-owned enterprises * SNEBE L FE
**  Sino-foreign equity joint ventures > NS EDRE
***  Domestic-funded enterprises o AR E
The English names of all the above companies are direct LB RARMNEXEBIEFX
transliterations of their Chinese registered names. afMEENEETE-
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company RSV ESRETERELRFE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected XEIEAAEBERE D FEE
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion WAABIMEBAR - EFERAE 12
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other HEMMEBARNFEEFERERIT
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result Ko

in excessive length in the particulars.

Note: Hiat -

(i)  The entity was deregistered during the year ended 31 () ZEEREZ2021F12H31H
December 2021. IFFEA T o

(i) The entities were newly incorporated during the year (i) ZEHFERE Z22021F12H31
ended 31 December 2021. HiFFREHKIT °

Annual Report 2021 & E & 21 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosure required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments which have been measured
at fair value. These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renmmb\i) SO MBRME

(AARFITR)

21 mMREE (F)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Basis of consolidation (continued) mEEXE(E) CASH FLOWS
When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a EANREESHEREHRER BARERER

majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent and uniform accounting policies. The

ALREZBORBLFEER - K
SERFEERTHEIREARE
BEHIERZBMEEBRERS
DI RO

(a) HEWKRERTMEMKRER
RAEANBH T

(b) HEEMENTHELMERN :
K

(c) AEEMRERMNBERER
1 o

(RN PNCIPA s p SRk N YN
MR S A RAR & 5 B R R
- MBARMNERAAEEREG

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
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STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date THIE 2 ARERE AR - WEZIE FIVE-YEAR
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be FlEKIEERBIE—EEEAR - Fslmmét
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. AEHEHE

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Bt M H A 2 E WS 2 & EHEKED
DEBNARE 2 HEE ARIFER
s AME MR S EBORAR s
BEMER - TERRASESK
BRABZR D ZEEARFRE
ENBE - s WA FAXER
TREGNEA AR THEH -

Bl

45 B RIS R BUR £ P = TR
HEEZzEP AKX ZBEHRAE
B ARESENTEERTIES
WIRE N B o WK A I 2 Y
BARGAEREREHABRARZS
N

iR EE Kk E LT MM E QR 2
B - BIE B ER>G)ZM B R R
ZEE(BEFE) AR (N
fa] SR 420 A% 4 25 2 BR T B M (iii) A 4
mANREC RFTER Z8 RER
(VTR EZAFE - (iTREE
AR E 2 N FE K (i)B SR T W
FtEEZ BHKEE - ZRIRE
fib 2 E I 2 A TERR 2 AN SR B FE A 5P
PEFOEABRNEFEFEGR
MEBEE) EEHALEEE
LEHBAEENBEMRERACE
EAER o
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%éﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁqa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

22 EfBERHEZEE

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

CONSOLIDATED .
STATEMENT OF disclosures

CASH FLOWS

RaRERER The Group has adopted the following amendments to A AR S B TR SR R

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2

BB HHRE LR ATER -

BEEVBREER  MEREE
H5% - BAGR HE -

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 AEBIZE 395k FREE
BB RS R

The nature and the amendments to HKFRSs are
described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in

TR BREMB
HEERIEAT N
BAMBHREER
F165R 2 BFTA

BBV HREENEE REETE
MR

BB N R B At 4 L ) 2R
(MERRRA X ) RRE - ZBERG

FIVE-YEAR the previous amendments which affect financial WMEERFI - BASTERESE
gmm% reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark 395k - BB B MG ERETI -
REREHE is replaced with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). BAEMBRELERNFAR R E S
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The amendments provide a practical expedient to
allow the effective interest rate to be updated without
adjusting the carrying amount of financial assets
and liabilities when accounting for changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of
financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform
and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous
basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the
hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when
an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to
assume that the separately identifiable requirement is
met, provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within the
next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require
an entity to disclose additional information to enable
users of financial statements to understand the effect of
interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial
instruments and risk management strategy.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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2.2

2.3

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars based on the
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) and
United States dollars based on the London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as at 31 December 2021.
The Group expects that HIBOR will continue to exist
and the interest rate benchmark reform has not had
an impact on the Group’s HIBOR-based borrowings.
For the LIBOR-based borrowings, since the interest
rates of these instruments were not replaced by RFRs
during the year, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group. If the interest rates of these borrowings are
replaced by RFRs in a future period, the Group will
apply the above-mentioned practical expedient upon
the modification of these instruments provided that the
“economically equivalent” criterion is met.

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs, that have been issued but
are not yet effective, in these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 20211

Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to IFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current® 5
Disclosure of
Accounting Policies®

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction®

Amendments to HKAS 12

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

eV BRRME

(AARFITR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%—:\éﬂjﬁﬁﬁl}ﬁa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?
Annual Improvements to  Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, Illustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 412

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023.

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption.

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised in October 2020 to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion.

6 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminb\i) AR

(AARMFIR)

2.3 CEMEEHRERNEEM

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add
to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle
for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or

s CONSOLIDATED
BimEER (&) STATEMENT OF

BB ERRNAREZZEE B
BHREENZE—TERR T XH

EAVIBREEREIF BT
& 7 bA2018%46 A 2847 7 5| A B 7%
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B8R 5 B 35 st T 82 3| AR
SIERNETEREEXEEZAN
A2 HERRBIEE —EHIIMEMR ©
ZAVIMERRTE HRAEBRE
BE A ERFEI7HRAE BT SR
EREZEe -REF2IREER
MEEERSIAAENS  WZEa
EEEBEEMIERNDESHF
EE - AEASBSTHHREELNSE

CASH FLOWS
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HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual SMIWEBREBED RS2 ERE S E FIVE-YEAR
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify RIE37H BBV BRERELZE Fslﬂmwc/\lét
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition T-REE2IW - MIERSIESRE - RENHED

at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022.
Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the date of first application, the Group will not be
affected by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require
a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

PO - ZEEFTABBE R AREER
WEE BT BRI - AEE
JEET B2022F1A1H IR AT R A
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TEZHEEHERIEAMERT
ZR—BUER - ZEBRIARTE -
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 23 CHEMEERERNEEBY

CONSOLIDATED . . A A R

STATEMENT OF Financial Reporting Standards (continued) K EZER (F)

CASH FLOWS

RERSRER Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends 2021 F4 A EHMN BB RS

NOTES TO THE
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REMBRRME

the availability of the practical expedient for lessees
to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of
the Covid-19 pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly,
the practical expedient applies to rent concessions
for which any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022, provided the other conditions for applying
the practical expedient are met. The amendment is
effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2021 with any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendment recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at
the beginning of the current accounting period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

ERIFE16 2 IBEI AN EAANEE
Tt ACovid- 19 5 EEE R M
EXNHSEIRAREENREE
BEEMATERERFELERI2
@A - Eit  BERERE S EERAR
He&ER  HENZROETARIE
FE R TF 202256 A30H sk 2 Al
B R Am T ER B
B ENEAMEHERAIEE © 218
AT R2021F4A1H Sk 2 & F A
B EEEIRE A WA E
BEAMAR R ERRALE
AT EBFR BB 5 I BBV R BB A0 3
B RFIRTEER - ZEBFAE
BT EAEBMNM SRR ERT
CEVN-Z X

FIVE-YEAR
e Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities BRAGTERFIRZBTAHE
R EE as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements ERBEBRBAF BB ERAE
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for classifying liabilities as current or non-current.
The amendments specify that if an entity’s right to
defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with specified conditions, the entity has a
right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at
that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

2.3 CEMEEHRERNEEM
|

R . A - 3 CONSOLIDATED
Financial Reporting Standards (continued) B EER (F) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting BERGHERFEIR 2 BTA RRRERER

Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided
in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary. The Group is currently assessing the
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impact of the amendments on the Group’s accounting AEFESFHHEEZEE- FIVE-YEAR
: - FINANCIAL
policy disclosures. SUNVARY
IFHBHE

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply
to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start
of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

BB G ERESH BRI AN BB
S A EERSHBREE LR
Bl o FEHMAFT DR E BB WK A
BRI EIEEE s BB -
ZEERT AT A E B AT
ERMEEASBREHE GG -
ZEBEFTAR2023F1 A 1R 2
“FERMNFEBMEN  WEAR
ZHERAR N BEENGET
KEHRGHEAER - AT REF
FER - ZZEFTAEHRTIEHAE
B iR G P BmRENEMNERT
E

Annual Report 2021 FE#H &

223



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%éﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁqa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 23 CHEMEERERNEEBY

CONSOLIDATED . . A A R

STATEMENT OF Financial Reporting Standards (continued) K EZER (F)

CASH FLOWS

BARSRER Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the BERGFERIF125 2 BE] AN EE
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STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

initial recognition exception so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or other component of equity as appropriate at that
date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied
prospectively to transactions other than leases and
decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is

FIVE-YEAR permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
gmm& any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
AEHEHE financial statements.
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Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the
cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively
only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest
period presented in the financial statements in which the
entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 23 CEMEERERNEEBY

Financial Reporting Standards (continued) KRR (F) Pl
CASH FLOWS
Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose BB G ERIFEITHR BT AR BARSRER

of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that
relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a
contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting
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period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier B AMNERNRETERERAS FIVE-YEAR
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of RIER AR AV SRR - M FS'['J%CA'Q\L(
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised BASILRER - ZFBITAE TEBREE

as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of
initial application without restating the comparative
information. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2021 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lIllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and
the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.
An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or
after the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment.
The amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

° HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in Illustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 TEESHHEHRE

CONSOLIDATED

. . . » PN Ry STATEMENT OF
Investments in an associate and joint ventures REZEATREELENRE CASH FLOWS
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a BERRAAEERAE —BTLR LARERER

long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in an associate and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
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financial position at the Group’s share of net assets BEFEREMBESBERGES Y FIVE-YEAR
under the equity method of accounting, less any BRI KRIIER - IER AU A ] FINANCIAL
) . . A . ISt SUMMARY
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into REEENTA TR SETBE - REHEHE

line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of an associate
and a joint venture is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate or a joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
an associate or a joint venture, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an
associate or a joint venture is included as part of the
Group’s investments in an associate or a joint venture.

AEBERAEBEARRAEDREK
BrREGEREMEERED BIFTA
FEBEaRMEAEEEKER - Ut
S R EEE AR A BB RARE
S HEERED  AAKRESRER
ERGEHREDEBEETAEZS
(@) » AR AR 2N F K
BELCXARZHNREE Y K E
BRARNEERBEE ARG ED
ENBRERRYEE  HEMARERE
BEAMBREERERIN - K
BHMENRSREDREMELENR
BEFAAEERBERALE
BEEREN—FD -

Annual Report 2021 FE#H &

2217



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FRRDRER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
RFEHHHE

228

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂj%ﬁ%ﬁja (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments in an associate and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues
to be accounted for under the equity method. In all
other cases, upon loss of significant influence over
the associate or joint control over the joint venture,
the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon
loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A

24 FEETHHEEE (H)

REBELAARSELENRE ()

WX E AR 2 REZERNEED
EZREFHBEBRER - AAE
ENtEREED - R2Z - RERE
HERBEDEAR - EMAHEM
BRT  REHBERRZEAY
ENIHELELE 2 KREGIE
% AEBREANTEFENRER
EARBERE - BERRREED
ERREERTE NS HRIESIE
BHREEENGRERDERS
FIERN R FE B ERZEETIR
BEAER -

EMERARALELENRERE
REBELER - AREAVBRE
RAESRAFFL EREAK UL ZE
MIEREBEEAR

EREHREE
EBAIIABEEARR - EBE
RETDAKE BB FERFE
ZAFERAREERNEENK
BEUNATE  NEEHEKE
FRAEESAEENERE kA
5 1B 31T DA R BRAR W R O 4 Il A
BV AR SR BV AR - N B EEA 6
o REBEZURQFEIIRLD
DMERRBE T A BRI FEE BB
RERMARERTE TERFEA
EBRBZL O DR EETF
BEMIFHEBRBCRER - B IFE
P e o ) L A AR BB 40 #2  FAE AT
B WEHRAKRARELRH -

BB —EESREERE —
HERRAR-HELBIE - MK
EHRAEELNENBEERER
AEEREHD KB —HER -

EAKEWE -AEHE - @RE
BB - R B B EERE
KARBR R - SHAERBRBHEE R
AENEE  MELHEAHNI AR
R EPERAREETEEH
PROBRARTETEET OB -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bt 3& 35 2 B &%

(AARMFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FEEFHEME (F)

CONSOLIDATED

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
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and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration BREMBENABERMKES ;&’E"\‘YE&T
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net EFEMNATE  REFTHEH SUMMCARY
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, ZHEBERERBERRZERBI REHEHE

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or group of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of
the operation within that unit is disposed of, goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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(AARBFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

; CONSOLIDATED
(continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Impairment of non-financial assets FEeRmEERE BARSRER

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, deferred tax assets and financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value-in-use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or group of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
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units. FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL

. . . . . . e e e . X SUMMARY
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying BEBEERNEEREAERA Y REHEHE

amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function
of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREESR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group (if the Group is itself such a plan)
and the sponsoring employers of the
post-employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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24 FEESTHEHEHE (H)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

i CONSOLIDATED
(continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation ME - BERRXBHETE FaRERER

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
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replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts FIVE-YEAR
as individual assets with specific useful lives and Fslﬂm\ac/\lét
depreciates them accordingly. REHEHE

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life, taking into account its estimated residual value of
10%. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

WEDINRERYE - BEERED
Mt AE A FHRAREREREK
AMHEERGEEFESH G R
HGFRREER10%) ° fh5HA]
ERFERWT

Buildings 20 to 30 years EF 20 =304
Leasehold improvements 3to 5 years HEMEEE 3F EHF
Machinery and equipment 12 to 20 years M2 KRR 12F 2209
Vehicles 5 years B TH 5%
Electronic equipment, 5 years BFHEME

office equipment and fixtures MABEREE 5%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at the end of each
reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment, including any
significant part initially recognised, is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised as the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machinery and production lines under construction,
or renovation works in progress and is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether indefinite life assessment continues
to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

24 FEESTHEHEHE (H)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

i CONSOLIDATED
(continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued) BEEE (BEBRIM) (&) BARSRER

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
to 15 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability
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of resources to complete the project and the ability ZIEE UREREREREST FIVE-YEAR
to measure reliably the expenditure during the RIS EZ BN - TMFE% Fslmmét
development. Product development expenditure which ERANERAEIEEEERI REHEHE

does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3
to 8 years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value
attributable to the customer base or existing contractual
bids with customers acquired as a result of business
combination.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases. The Group recognised lease liabilities
to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARB3IR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Leased properties 2 to 20 years
Machineries 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁja (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying assets
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Investment and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out in “Revenue recognition” paragraph
below.
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24 FEESTHEHEHE (H)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

: CONSOLIDATED

(continued) STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

Investment and other financial assets (continued) REREMESHEE () BAaReRER
Initial recognition and measurement (continued) I HER R & E (4B)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(*SPPI1”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model
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with the objective to hold financial assets in order to ¥BEXFFE  MZAFERA FIVE-YEAR
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets ErEREoENTENSRME Fslmmét
classified and measured at fair value through other EDREEREEREENKRE FERHED

comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

For debt instruments that are stated at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁja (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

24 FEETHHEEE (H)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

STATEVET O (continued)

CASH FLOWS

FaReREx Investment and other financial assets (continued) REREMEBMEE (H)
Subsequent measurement (continued) ‘B E
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive BRATVEFAHMEERZESN SR
income (debt instruments) BE(EBHIE)

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For debt instruments that are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income, interest income,
foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost whilst fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
changes recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

MR AFEF AR MEE KR E
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FIVE-YEAR assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from — &) FEZETINBERT TR
gmm% the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) LIEHER (B B A B # 4R & B 75K
REGHHE when: RRBER)
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° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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24 FEESTHEHEHE (H)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
CONSOLIDATED

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.
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STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FRRDNER

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
General approach — % Fslmmét
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures TEHEEEE S WERRER - 5t REHBHE
for which there has not been a significant increase in )46 W SR LA SRS B B B 0 % K 0@ 38

credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset is in default
when contractual payments are past due over a long
period of time. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt instruments that are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below:

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs.

Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but they are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at the end of each reporting
period. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

I CONSOLIDATED

(continued) STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

Financial liabilities AR =R RRRERER
Initial recognition and measurement G R R 5=

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and interest-bearing bank
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
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depends on their classification as follows: DEEET HANWOT FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL

. o . N R SUMMARY
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEKAT RN SR AE REHEHE

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
commodity futures contracts, to hedge its price risk of
raw materials. Such derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that
meet the definition of a derivative as defined by HKFRS
9 is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss as cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are
entered into and continue to be held for the purpose
of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in
accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale
or usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average cost basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

i CONSOLIDATED
(continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents BeRBREZEY GABSRER

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in
“Impairment of financial assets” paragraph.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
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event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources ML AEEER - AIEREHE  E FIVE-YEAR
will be required to settle the obligation, provided that VBRI fEETEMERB S - Fsm?‘wc/\l:t
a reliable estimate can be made on the amount of the AEHEHE

obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

CONSOLIDATED -
STATEMENT OF (continued)

CASH FLOWS

RARERER Income tax Py

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
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TEHBEE Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable BRER BB E BT A BRI

246

temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

. CONSOLIDATED
(continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Income tax (continued) FrB# (&) GAHSNRER

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit; and
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e in respect of deductible temporary differences e HHRWEBAR - BEQR
associated with investments in subsidiaries, EECEREFBENAN FIVE-YEAR
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets MEMEEmME  BEEMIE FS'[‘J/,\*A?‘\&Q\L(
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable BEEREREZFENAAE RENHED

that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁja (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities, and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

: CONSOLIDATED

(continued) STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

Revenue recognition (continued) WATER (F) BAaReRER
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFEEHMA (&)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes interest expense accreted on the
contract liability using the effective interest method. For
a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods
or services is one year or less, the transaction price is
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not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing FIVE-YEAR
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15. ZTJ?A’;‘\ACA%
TEYBHE

Sale of packaging products

Revenue from the sale of packaging products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
packaging products.

Some contracts for the sale of packaging products
provide customers with volume rebates. The volume
rebates give rise to variable consideration.

Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to
certain customers once the quantity of products
purchased during the period exceeds a threshold
specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against
amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the
variable consideration for the expected future rebates,
the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold and the expected
value method for contracts with more than one volume
threshold. The selected method that best predicts the
amount of variable consideration is primarily driven
by the number of volume thresholds contained in the
contract. The requirements on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied and a refund liability
for the expected future rebates is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all
of the consideration received (or receivable) from the
customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and
the corresponding change in the transaction price) at
the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

; CONSOLIDATED
(continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Employee benefits EEEF BARSRER

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operates in the Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentages of its payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

CONSOLIDATED -
STATEMENT OF (continued)

CASH FLOWS

RRREREX Borrowing costs EERA

NOTES TO THE
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REMBRRME

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s Memorandum and
Articles of Association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB. The functional currency of the Company is the
Hong Kong dollars. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

i CONSOLIDATED
(continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Foreign currencies (continued) S (1) BABRERER

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
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derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary RIEBEE « AR ARER FIVE-YEAR
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of MRS 2 BERNEBTIIRERTE FINANCIAL
o 2 . Co g P s SUMMARY
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially NREEENIFEEEELIER FERHED

recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas entities of
the Group are currencies other than RMB. At the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

CONSOLIDATED .
STATEMENT OF (continued)

CASH FLOWS

RRRERER Foreign currencies (continued) e ()
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For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the
year are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regularly environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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Significant accounting judgements and

ERGF A E R A

; CONSOLIDATED
estimates STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial AEEGEUBHRENERETEE FaRERER

statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers
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The Group applied the following judgement that REFBHATYHEBETRPADNK FIVE-YEAR
significantly affects the determination of the amount of AT EBERTZENHE Fslmmét
revenue from contracts with customers: AERBHE

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration
and assessing the constraint for the sale of packaging
products

Certain contracts for the sale of packaging products
include volume rebates that give rise to variable
consideration. In estimating the variable consideration,
the Group is required to use either the expected
value method or the most likely amount method
based on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.

In estimating the variable consideration for the sale of
packaging products with volume rebates, the Group
determined that using a combination of the most likely
amount method and the expected value method is
appropriate. The selected method that better predicts
the amount of variable consideration related to volume
rebates is primarily driven by the number of volume
thresholds contained in the contract. The most likely
amount method is used for those contracts with a single
volume threshold, while the expected value method is
used for contracts with more than one volume threshold.

Before including any amount of variable consideration
in the transaction price, the Group considers whether
the amount of variable consideration is constrained.
The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical
experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as
an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently
of the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement
is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next year, are described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates
The Group estimates variable consideration to be
included in the transaction price for the sale of
packaging products with volume rebates.
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Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Variable consideration for volume rebates (continued)
The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed
on a per customer basis for contracts that are subject
to a single volume threshold. Determining whether a
customer will likely be entitled to a rebate depends
on the customer’s historical rebate entitlement and
accumulated purchases to date.

The Group applied a statistical model for estimating
expected volume rebates for contracts with more
than one volume threshold. The model uses the
historical purchasing patterns and rebate entitlement
of customers to determine the expected rebate
percentages and the expected value of the variable
consideration. Any significant changes in experience as
compared to historical purchasing patterns and rebate
entitlements of customers will impact the expected
rebate percentages estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume
rebates quarterly and the refund liabilities are adjusted
accordingly. Estimates of expected volume rebates
are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the
Group’s past experience regarding rebate entitlements
may not be representative of customers’ actual
rebate entitlements in the future. As at 31 December
2021, the amount recognised as refund liabilities
was RMB56,960,000 (2020: RMB59,995,000) for the
expected volume rebates, which is included in “Other
payables and accruals”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%éﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁqa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At the end of each reporting
period, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customers’ actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 20.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2021 was
RMB233,973,000 (2020: RMB233,973,000). Further
details are disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the
Mainland China. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had deferred tax
assets of RMB35,558,000 (2020: RMB26,937,000).
To the extent it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences will be utilised, deferred tax assets
are recognised for temporary differences arising
from impairment provisions for trade receivables,
prepayments and other receivables and property, plant
and equipment and decelerated tax depreciation and
amortisation, certain accrual items. The amount of
unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from tax losses
at 31 December 2021 was RMB86,208,000 (2020:
RMB120,5983,000). Further details are disclosed in Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁja (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such
as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group has one
operating segment of packaging products, which can
be analysed by three business units based on their
products and services as follows:

(a) Tinplate packaging — the Group uses tinplate as
the main raw material for its tinplate packaging
products, which include three-piece beverage cans,
food cans (including milk powder cans), aerosol
cans, metal caps, printed and coated tinplates,
steel barrels, round and square shaped cans and
other metal packaging;

(b)  Aluminium packaging — the Group uses aluminium
as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging
products, which mainly consist of two-piece
beverage cans and one-piece bottles; and

(c) Plastic packaging — the Group’s plastic packaging
products are mainly used for milk bottles, shampoo
bottles, plastic devices of electronic products, daily
use hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles
and related plastic-made products.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F
(AARMFIR)
Operating segment information (continued) 4 REHHEE(E) CONSOLIDATED
; P e STATEMENT OF
Management monitors the results of the Group’s EREERERAREEBEMLN CASH FLOWS
business units separately for the purpose of making & UBERS B RERRTHE BAaReRER

decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. The performance for each of the business
unit is evaluated based on revenue, as explained below:

HORTE - EXEBEUNRBIZEA
EITHE - T XA

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
NOTES TO THE
Tinplate packaging FOEeE 4,461,124 3,659,703 CONSOLIDATED
Aluminium packaging tn R B 5 4,463,374 3,107,099 FINANCIAL
Plastic packaging BRBEK 641,884 577,945 ﬁf%;\ﬂ;;g
9,566,382 7,344,747
Geographical information i 38 & R
The Group’s revenue from external customers is based REEKEINBEFBRATIRE
on the location of customers and information about BEPHMEEY  AEREEME
its non-current assets by geographical location of the VEEDHNAKEIFRDEENE
assets are detailed below: AEanT FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
Revenue from external Non-current assets TEYBHE
customers (note)
REMBEFHBA FREBEE (HF)
2021 2020 2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®ETR ARBF T ARETR ARBTT
Mainland China B A i 8,846,844 7,053,282 5,700,405 5,528,855
Overseas =ZN 719,538 291,465 489,132 456,172
9,566,382 7,344,747 6,189,537 5,985,027

Note: Non-current assets excluded those relating to financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

Wit FRBEETEAELHTA
RFEHEEEFBA -

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
are as follows:

THIEFEFNER
HERFEHEAEERARERR
10%MKREEPHKRALT

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBETIT

Customer A ZFPA 1,348,089 908,002
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%—:\éﬂji%i&%% M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

CONSOLIDATED 5 Revenue 5 WA
STATEMENT OF . . -
CASH FLOWS An analysis of revenue is as follows: AT ZBAB DT
GABSNER
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Revenue from contracts with EEEHEA
customers
Sale of packaging products HEBEER 9,566,382 7,344,747
28;’;2{%;;';) Revenue from contracts with customers EEAHRA
FINANCIAL (i)  Disaggregated revenue information (i) DIFRAER
STATEMENTS
A e
REMBRRMT 2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
By type of goods REWMER 2
Tinplate packaging FOEaE 4,461,124 3,659,703
Aluminium packaging R B R 4,463,374 3,107,099
Plastic packaging BRBEK 641,884 577,945
E:miﬁgﬁi Total revenue from contracts BEAHWRALE
SUMMARY with customers 9,566,382 7,344,747
nEHBRE By geographical markets BiEHiEE o
Mainland China alleapid 8,846,844 7,053,282
Overseas EZAN 719,538 291,465
Total revenue from contracts EFAORARE
with customers 9,566,382 7,344,747
All of the Group’s revenue from contracts with AEENFEREFRA LKA
customers is recognised at a point in time when the R ok s A
goods are transferred. ER °
(i)  Performance obligations (i) EREM

262

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of packaging products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the packaging products and payment is
generally due within 30 to 180 days from delivery,
except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required and the Group
recognises it as contract liabilities until the goods
have been delivered to customers. Some contracts
provide customers with volume rebates which give
rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue from
sales of packaging products for not disclosing
the remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts as these contracts had
an original expected duration of one year or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARMBFITR)

eV BRRME

Other income, gains and losses 6 HttlA WBERER
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Other income HAib g A
Bank interest income RITH B A 11,370 4,522
Interest income from COFCO R E RN FE
Finance (Note 36(a)) WA (H75£36 (a)) 14,502 11,569
Committed dividend income froma HRBE—RAEMEDN
former joint venture (Note (a)) EFR DA (KTit(a)) 119,000 50,000
Government grants (Note (b)) BERAS # 8L (f1 7 (b)) 14,012 20,763
Rental income HeE WA 3,788 2,867
Other income E g A - 1,250
162,672 90,971
Other gains and losses Hitlm REE
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BFEX
plant and equipment HIEIBE B8 (18,148) (8,622)
Foreign exchange differences, net  JME Z= 58 558 (12,840) 15,736
Other gains (Note (c)) E bz (it (c)) 10,561 11,625
Loss on disposal of a joint venture  HE—RAEEERE - (2,436)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE KB &R el - 16
(20,427) 16,319
142,245 107,290

Notes:

wist

(a)

Based on the instalment payment schedule as set out
in the repurchase agreement dated 28 April 2020,
during the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
received the third, fourth and fifth instalments of
committed dividend from a former joint venture, Qingyuan
JDB Herbal Plant Technology Co., Ltd., amounting to
RMB119,000,000 (2020: the first and second instalments
of committed dividend of RMB50,000,000).

(b)  The government grants are mainly granted by the local
authorities in the Mainland China to support local entities.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to these grants.

(c) Other gains mainly consist of gains from sales of waste

materials or unused raw materials from the manufacturing
process.

Finance costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

(a) WRIFE2020%F4H28H %572 [6 fE
Wik 2 BUE SR X A8 - &
F20214612H31H 1F FJE + K
EEWRPI A BT EEENZE
ELXEYRIBE AR GIEZH -
EUTH R R BRGZE AL - 258
A A R #119,000,0005T (2020
F o F—HIRE = BEE AT
T A A K E50,000,0005T) °

(b) BT RT3 2 dy o B A 4 4
HERBETUZIFEMPE - 28
LE 7 Fh T A i R AE KA 1R 1

ELEL K
(c) Bt EEEyeELEn
72 0 4 JF Z W) H B K IR TR

B as o

7 HMHEBEAHR

TIRHMBERDN

2021 2020

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T AREET T

Interest on bank loans IRITERA B 71,080 110,647
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 2,000 1,907
73,080 112,554

Less: Interest capitalised B BARMEAE (7,490) (13,491)
65,590 99,063
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%—:\éﬂji%i&%% M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

CONSOLIOATED 8 Profit before income tax 8 PBRATBHAIFHE
STATEMENT OF The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after REERAEBAFE &R,
CASH FLOWS charging/(crediting): (GFA) AT IHB #2325
GARLRER
2021 2020
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ok AR% T ARBF T
(a) Cost of sales (a) SHERRK
Cost of inventories sold EHEFERA 8,208,588 6,195,944
Realised and unrealised TEERTA
fair value losses/(gains) EERRAEIR
NOTES TO THE on derivative financial N EREER
CONSOLIDATED instruments, net (M=) F58 26 27,583 (14,216)
FINANCIAL Reversal of provision of FERERLD
;T;Egg%?m inventories — (205)
. 8,236,171 6,181,523
(b) Staff costs (including (b) EIRAE (B
directors’ and BEERETETH
chief executive’s AE#ME)
remuneration)
Wages and salaries TERFS 658,714 586,865
Pension scheme RIKE T B R
FIVE-YEAR contributions** 58,657 15,834
gmmg\; Other benefits EHAEH 52,109 43,566
Bl 769,480 646,265
(c) Other items (c) HftiEA
Depreciation of property, M - BB K
plant and equipment HEME 14 411,273 376,861
Depreciation of FREEERE
right-of-use assets ) 15 23,947 23,227
Amortisation of other Hthmp EEHHE
intangible assets ) 17 4,414 4. 829
Research and Tt 2% i A
development costs” 90,053 26,703
Covid-19-related rent EACovid-194H 78
concessions MESER - (300)
Impairment losses RIBFEHEEEE
recognised/(reversed) B R
under expected credit (B M) mREE
loss model, net: B EF AR
— Trade receivables* — BRI 20 22 2,303
- Prepayments, other — FBE
receivables and E e
other assets* KR K
Hibh &g 21 (29) 351
Write-off of other WHEMEEEE
intangible assets 17 1,540 -
Auditor’'s remuneration: ZEEN & -
— Audit service — ZER% 1,700 1,700
— Non-audit services — JEZBURTS 700 804
2,400 2,504
* The research and development costs, impairment losses * HELLX BZEKZ - FEIT
of trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and B ALY A M EE N (E
other assets are included in administrative expenses in EEOFAGEEBSZAZIT
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. BB o
“* As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no forfeited >  RO0P1EI2HZTH - K EE
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the 4E TG W (7 2 a] (1 6 B’ A
pension schemes in future years (2020: Nil). F [ 2R ke A 2 2 (2020
Fo ) -
264 CPMC Holdings Limited & 1§ &% 2k R 2 7]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% M;J-%I

(AARFITR)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 9 EBEERFETHBAEZHE

CONSOLIDATED
. . ‘ . X - STATEMENT OF
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the B#EEmRE - FERAGHE CASH FLOWS
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 38I(MNMGEA R AR (HEEE M FaRERER
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and BRD)BROE2E  FREERFE
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about TRABZMESHENT

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARBT T
. NOTES TO THE
Fees e 1,036 1,210 CONSOLIDATED
= FINANCIAL
Other emoluments: E 3B STATEMENTS
Salaries, allowances and e EMNREWER EAMBRENE
benefits in kind 1,654 1,627
Performance related bonuses* FIRAEENIEAL 1,690 1,769
Pension scheme contributions RIS FHEIHE R 226 202
3,570 3,598
4,606 4,808
* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to * ARAEFRITEFAJEZER IEI‘IIII/E;\IY(I‘,EI//:T
bonus payments which are determined as a percentage Z K [F i BT 12 17 F B i SUMMARY
of the profit after income tax of the Group. JEZAEAL © FERHED
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive FANTEIIERTEEHD
directors during the year were as follows: MemT
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
AR¥ TR ARBT T
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo RGN %k A& 290 311
Mr. Pun Tit Shan & B 5 290 311
Mr. Chen Jihua PR AL EE S A4 290 311
870 933
The independent non-executive directors’ EXPSRB L NITES
emoluments shown above were for their services M DNEEEERRRE
as directors of the Company. There were no ENRBER FAWEE
other emoluments payable to the independent NFBIIIERNTESHEAM
non-executive directors during the year (2020: Nil). N (20204 : M) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\é’g\jﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 9 EERFETHRAEZHE
(continued) (&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) MITEE -FBTESRE
and the chief executive ETHBAE
Salaries,
allowances
and  Performance Pension
henefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
\ gi 2R RE%E BREHE
e ENEA 4 #3 @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETTR ARETR ARETR
2021 20215
Executive directors: HiEE:
Mr. Zhang Xin i - 867 879 129 1,875
Mr. Zhang Ye' FEEE - 787 811 97 1,695
Non-executive directors; #NES:
Mr. Zhou Yuan BREE 83 - - - 83
Mr. Shen Tao HEEE 83 - - - 83
Mr. Li Minghua?* FREL R - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng® RABEL - - - - -
166 1,654 1,690 226 3,736
Salaries,
allowances
and Performance Pension
benefits related scheme
Fees inkind bonuses  contributions Total
‘ ﬁﬁgﬂﬁ& FREE Riresrg \
we EmER i 3 @i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'OOO RMVB'OOO
ARETL ARETTL ARETTL ARBFTL ARETTL
2020 2020F
Executive directors: ENEES
Mr. Zhang Xin FMEE - 843 906 110 1,859
Mr. Zhang Ye' RELLE - 784 863 92 1,739
- 1627 1,769 202 3,59

Non-executive directors: ENTES:

Mr. Zhou Yuan AREE 88 - - - 88
Mr. Shen Tao pilipi 89 - - - 89
Ms. Yu Youzhi? RRRAT? - - - - -
Mr. Li Minghua® SREL A - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng® R 100 - - - 100

217 1,627 1,769 202 3,875

1 Mr. Zhang Ye is also the Chief Executive of the ! KEESLEN BRI EE
Company. TTHA S °

2 Ms. Yu Youzhi was resigned as non-executive 2 R KL 1 R2020%3 4
director of the Company on 17 March 2020 and 177HBEFAR LG HEHTE
Mr. Li Minghua was appointed as non-executive F R F B 5E A R20204F
director of the Company on 17 March 2020. 3H17H#Z (B LA

FEBTTEE -

s Mr. Li Minghua and Mr. Chen Qianzheng were 3 F B SE A R R AT
resigned as non-executive directors of the R20224F 15 18H & £ K
Company on 18 January 2022 and Dr. Zhao DA ITESE M E
Wei and Mr. Meng Fanjie were appointed as 1B+ RANAEEREH

non-executive directors of the Company on the
same date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration 9 EBEERFIETHAEZHME

(continued) (30 coss
CASH FLOWS
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) HTEZ FHTESERE LARERER
and the chief executive (continued) ETHAE (&)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above XA RBTEZNMS
were for their services in connection with the DREBBARNFRAEE
management of the affairs of the Company and the EEREENRBEER - L
Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments XASIRIERITEENINE
shown above were for their services as directors of DEREHERRAENBA
the Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable. Al (ER) EERBER -
NOTES TO THE
There was no arrangement under which a director FFRAFRALEEFTLE CONSFC,),!"IAD&T,E\E
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive ZITBABRBEMNZHR STATEMENTS
remuneration in both years. EYRENENS - LB L LLE:
10 Five highest paid employees 10 EEFMESHIES
The five highest paid employees during the year FAhEFHNEENEERERSE
included two (2020: two) directors, details of whose (2020F - WMEZ)EZ - HEFe+HE
remuneration are set out above. Details of the EHEN X - FAHES=F (2020
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2020: F:=R)EaTMNELARAIES FIVE-YEAR
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director SEZTHRABEENMEF BN Fslmméb
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: I REGREE
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBT T
Salaries, allowances and e RUMREVEFN
benefits in kind 1,935 1,906
Performance related bonuses FRIREENEAL 1,942 1,775
Pension scheme contributions BRIRE SR 292 273
4,169 3,954
The number of non-director and non-chief executive & TEHERN 2 BEIEEE NI
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within FETBRABZESHEEZHE
the following bands is as follows: W

Number of employees
EEAH
2021 2020

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ L&
1,500,0007% 7T 3 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\é’g\jﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

A=
CONSOLIDATED 11 Income tax expense 11 FEBMAX
STATEMENT OF , _ ; e
CASH FLOWS Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the FRNARTEERBE BT BEST
BaRETER Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in IERBFE - W BT BFE
Hong Kong during the year (2020: Nil). Taxes on profits Fi B B (20204 < 4E) - HAtbith
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates TR FER IR R IR AN R B IS e
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group AERRMIRITHESTHE -
operates.
2021 2020
NOTES TO THE RMB’ 000 RMB’000
CONSOLIDATED ARETT ARBETT
g'TNAAT'I‘E‘;I:‘E‘;TS PRC Enterprise Income tax A ZEFTS R
EARMBRENDT Current tax Eﬂ%ﬁjﬂ%lﬁ\ 87’421 104,712
Over-provisions in respect BAFERERE
of prior years (322) (4,958)
Deferred tax IR EFH 18 6,101 13,250
93,200 113,004
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to LAZR A B R B K580 I B A A R fff
FIVE-YEAR profit before income tax at the statutory rates for the AVERE R B)E N R IBR TS B Al
FINANCIAL jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of FEAENONRGSHYEBRERS 2
%Ugﬁ';%%g its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense is as HERE -
follows:
2021
Hong Kong PRC Others Total
B HE Hith Bt

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTRE AR®TR ARBTR AR%®TR

(Loss)/profit before income tax B FTE%i Al (B1E) /FIiE (6,077) 567,378 5,358 566,659
Tax at the statutory tax rates* A E R XK E 2 HiE* (1,003) 141,845 1,340 142,182
Income tax at concessionary ~ IREB B R G M TSR

rate™ - (12,451) - (12,451)
Income not taxable for tax AARTZBA - (29,907) (915) (30,822)
Expenses not deductible for tax a3 2 B s 1,003 1,711 - 2,714
Over-provisions in respectof ~ BEFERBEE

prior years - (322) - (322)
Utilisation of tax losses PANERTHERR

previously not recognised HMEBRE - (7,833) (425) (8,258)
Tax losses not recognised RERZHEER - 157 - 157
Tax charge at the Group’s KEBRERFERFE

effective rate ZHERY - 93,200 - 93,200
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11 Income tax expense (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

11 FREBAX (&)

2020
Hong Kong PRC Others Total
BE F Hith Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AR®TR ARBTT ARETR
(Loss)/profit before income tax B PS8 %A1 (E18) /FIiE (8,490) 526,415 (10,888) 507,037
Tax at the statutory tax rates* A TR KRG E 2 FiIE” (1,401) 131,604 (2,722) 127,481
Income tax at concessionary R EZH RGBTSR
rate** - (13,108) - (13,108)
Income not taxable for tax AR WA (154) (13,169) - (13,323)
Expenses not deductible for tax Al 30 2 B sz 1,555 2,425 - 3,980
Over-provisions in BEFEBERE
respect of prior years - (4,958) - (4,958)
Utilisation of tax losses PRANERTRERR
previously not recognised HEBR - (836) - (836)
Tax losses not recognised AERLHEER - 11,046 2,722 13,768
Tax charge at the Group’s KEBRERFEFE
effective rate ZBERY - 113,004 - 113,004

*%

Pursuant to the approvals issued by the State
Administration of Taxation of the PRC during the year
ended 31 December 2013, the Company and most
of its subsidiaries registered in Hong Kong and the
British Virgin Islands are regarded as Chinese Resident
Enterprises (collectively the “CREs”) and the relevant
enterprise income tax policies of the PRC are applicable
to the CREs commencing from 1 January 2013.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries are 25% for both
years. Four (2020: Three) of the Group’s subsidiaries
operating in the PRC have granted a preferential EIT rate
of 15%, by the relevant tax authorities. One (2020: One)
of the Group’s subsidiaries are qualified as high-tech
enterprises in the PRC, and the relevant tax authorities
have granted the subsidiaries a preferential EIT rate of
15%. One (2020: One) of the Group’s subsidiaries are
qualified as small enterprises earning low profits in the
PRC, and the relevant tax authorities have granted the
subsidiaries preferential EIT rate of 2.5% (2020: 5.0%)
respectively.

>k

RIEF BB K FEARGRE R
2013F 1231 H 1F F [ & 1HH)
HE B2013FE1A18# AR
5] R B R EE G B AR B
B Ma XS5 0B 2 7l # 57
EEFEERLE (5 +EH
ER%2]) mMZEFEHER
1B 2 5 A E 1 2 AT 1S B A9 1
BRI T ©

RIEF B BT 2R L ([ 2%
FT 8 %)) R 1t 2 AT 158 B4 i
B B - W AF B 2 A
B &1 525% o A5 (B H o ]
K (2020%F - =) W E L alT5
R B 4 & - FH B B B R
FEEWERGZEBEREEA
EHEEEI5% - NEFA P —
K (2020%F : — ) W1 8B 2 7] 75
EHEC BT EERE 1
BHEEARFZENE R A
CEBRPEAEHHELRIES -
KREFRP —ZF (2020F + —
F) W ERE]FFEFEZ N
Fl 1 % B 15 - 16 B 75 # B 1%
FEEWELGZEBREEA
BRI F 7B 52.5% (20209 :
5.0%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE

12

13

ﬂji%i&%%l}ﬁa (Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREESR)
Dividends 12 KRE
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Interim - RMBO0.112 HE - BREBRARE
(2020: RMB0.082) 0.1127z (20204 :
per ordinary share AR ®0.0827T) 124,703 91,301
Interim special — Nil REREE R - R
(2020: RMB0.048) per ordinary T iBAR T T (20204 -
share AR #0.04870) - 53,444
Proposed final - RMB0.095 BEAH-SREAR
(2020: RMB0.092) AR #0.0957T (2020
per ordinary share F: AR¥0.09271) 105,775 102,435
Proposed final special - Nil (2020:  E#KHE R - X
RMBO0.056) per ordinary share LB T T (20204 -
AR ®0.0567T) - 62,352
230,478 309,532

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31

December 2021 is subject to the approval by the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

The final dividend in respect of the year ended 31

December 2020 was proposed by the directors of

the Company on 22 March 2021, and subsequently

approved at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on
31 May 2021 and recognised as distribution during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 13
equity holders of the Company

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount

is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of RMB462,498,000
(2020: RMB389,388,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,113,423,000 (2020:
1,129,926,000) in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used

in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per
share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The diluted earnings per share for the years ended

31 December 2021 and 2020 was same as the basic
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive
ordinary shares in existence in both years.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

Annual Report 2021 FE#H &

13 Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 13 XRAFEBEBRERAFTEAE
: ; CONSOLIDATED
equity holders of the Company (continued) EEREF (&) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share FRERANEERFGTEER FARSMER
are based on:
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETT
Earnings BF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity F{EstEGFRERER 2 NOTES TO THE
holders of the Company, used in the R A EBIERAIFTE CONSOLIDATED
basic earnings per share calculation A J&{& 7 H 462,498 389,388 ST:'T':EAM";:‘T‘;
FEMBRRMET
Number of shares
R E B
2021 2020
’000 ‘000
Fr T B
Shares vy
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R1A1HD BT 2 L@ 1,113,423 1,160,949 FIVE-YEAR
Effect of shares repurchased fEO R B & - (31,023) zmﬁx
Weighted average number of P12 A31 0 @M REHBEE
ordinary shares at 31 December DA 19 8 1,113,423 1,129,926
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

14 Property, plant and equipment 14 YE -BERRKRE
Electronic
equipment,
Machinery office
Leasehold and equipment  Construction
Buildings improvements  equipment Vehicles  and fixtures in progress Total
ik
BOERE
By HENZEE  BERZR E§IZ h%E FRIR aif
RMB’000 RNB’000 RMB’000 RNB’000 RNIB’000 RB’000 RNIB’000
ARETL  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 31 December 2020 and H020E128318 R
1 January 2021: NNF1R1A:
Cost 9 1,849,990 26,732 5,288,160 64,605 236,891 366,197 1,832,575
Acoumulated depreciationand ~ Z:TITERE
impaiments (53471)  (15986) (210086  (45000)  (154560) - (2669,609)
Net carrying amount FASE 1,496,519 10,746 3,187,498 19,596 82,331 366,197 5,162,867
At 1 January 2021, net of RONEIETE R 2
accumulated depreciaionand  TERH(E
impairments 1,496,519 10,746 3,187,498 19,596 82,331 366,197 5,162,867
Additions AE 60,471 - 360 2 a 549,660 610,790
Exchange agjustments ERRE m - (12,03) - - (2221 (34,253)
Disposals & (521) - (26,160) (101) (966) - (27,748)
Depreciafion provided duing ~~~ RAERFERE
the year (60,346) (G140 (31994) 668  (21,155) - )
Transfer upon completion RHEEL 6,891 - 540434 7507 2,02 (586,944) -
At31 December 2021, netof ~ HO01F12R31R - MR Bt
accumulated depreciationand  TERHE
impaiments 1,503,001 7604 3370,131 0412 92,509 306,65 5,300,408
At 31 December 2021: RANNE12R318 :
Cost i1 1,916,776 26,732 5,744,240 68,503 258,823 306,656 8,321,730
Acoumulated depreciationand  Z:TTERE
impaiments (M3685)  (19126) (2374109 (48091)  (166314) - o)
Net carrying amount e 1,503,091 1,604 3,310,131 20,412 92,509 306,656 5,300,403
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14 ¥ - BERSE(E)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Electronic FCAASH F:E:OEWS
equipment, FARERER
Machinery office
Leasehold and equipment  Construction
Buildings  improvements  equipment Vehicles  andfixiures  in progress Total
Bt
HAZRE
BT HEMRRE RERRE  BRIZ %E  ERIR aif
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
_ _ _ _ - - _ NOTES TO THE
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ABHTR CONSOLIDATED
At 31 December 2019 and RA19E12A31R R ST:'T"EAM":#T‘;
1 January 2020: 2020&1%15 . Ny s b
Cost 9 1,846,966 23,356 479,076 64,09 20,813 406,244 7,360,550
Accumulated depreciationand 23T RAE
impaiments (297,234) (13.19)  (1848462) (L2614 (14247) - (2343982)
Net carrying amount FASH 1549732 10,16 2,950,614 21,481 76,336 406,244 5,016,568
At 1 January 2020, net of RONFIIE - AREFAERH
accumulated depreciaionand &
impairments 1549782 10,161 2,950,614 21,461 78,336 406,244 5,016,568 FIVE-YEAR
- - FINANCIAL
Addiions BE o 3376 o - 2 S 543998 SUNVARY
Exchange adjusiments FEES - - - - - 182 1820 REHBHE
Disposéls te (1118 - (14567) (34) (609) - (226%8)
Depreciation provided AEERERE
during the year (58,789) Q791 (289911) (565  (19805) - (aTe86Y)
Transfer upon completion IGEIN 12460 - 541,068 4,004 24,180 (581,732) -
At31 December 2020, netof ~ HAONE12A3A - HREHAER
accumulated depreciaionand  E
impairments 1496519 10746 316749 19,59 82,331 36,197 5162887
At 31 December 2020: H0E12R31A :
Cost wE 1,849,990 2,732 5,288,160 64,606 236,891 366,197 1832575
Accumulated depreciatinand  ZHTERHE
impaiments (83471)  (15086) (210086 (45009)  (154560) - (2669608)
Net carrying amount e 149,519 10,746 3,187,498 19,59 82,331 366,197 5,162,867
As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group property, MR2021F12A31H » BEE FE
plant and equipment, with an aggregate net carrying B AR #64,354,0007T (20204
amount of RMB64,354,000 (2020: nil), were pledged to B)NAEBETYE BERR
secure Group’s borrowings. HEERBIERRASEER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\é’g\jﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

CONSOLIDATED 15 Right-of-use assets 15 FHEEE
STATEMENT OF
ng FESVEVS Leasehold Leased
RERSRER land properties  Machineries Total
HELH HEME B @t
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETR ARBTR AR¥TR ARBTR
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A318
Carrying amount RAfE 302,095 82,523 1,680 386,298
NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED At 31 December 2020 #2020F12A831H
FINANCIAL Carrying amount KEE 307,435 85,088 589 393,112
STATEMENTS
REMBRRMT
For the year ended REZ2021F12A31H
31 December 2021 LEE
Depreciation charge HEZM 7,971 15,563 413 23,947
For the year ended REZ2020F12831H
31 December 2020 LEE
FVEVEAR Depreciation charge TEZM 7,790 15,359 78 23,227
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY 2021 2020
TEWEHE RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Additions to right-of-use assets RETHAEERE 24,911 84,843
Expenses relating to short-term leases  HEHHEEGHH
B < 7,257 6,181
Total cash outflows for leases HERS R A% 26,407 35,675

274

The Group leases leasehold lands, leased properties
and machineries under leases which run for a period
from 2 to 50 (2020: 2 to 50) years, at the end of which
period all terms are renegotiated. The leases include no
variable lease payments.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain
lessor provided rent concessions to the Group through
rent reductions for 8 years. These rent concessions
were not within the scope of Covid-19-related rent
concessions as set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16
Lease. The reduction of the Group’s lease liabilities
of RMB1,200,000 (2020: nil) and a corresponding
adjustment of the same amount to the right-of-use assets
were recognised.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) '%"—"Fé Eyj;’]’%*ﬁ% M;j%}
(AARBFR) a
. ==
16 Goodwill 16 BE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
RMB’000 CASH FLOWS
ARMETF T BAHLTER
Cost at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, 72020 1H 18 + 20204
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 12H31H « 2021F1A1B &
2021512 A318 Z KA 240,973
Accumulated impairments Z25HRE (7,000)
Net carrying amount REFE 233,973

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
through business combinations in the amounts of
RMB57,305,000, RMB 155,836,000 and RMB27,832,000
is allocated to the tinplate packaging cash-generating
unit, plastic packaging cash-generating unit and
aluminium packaging cash-generating unit, respectively.

Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the tinplate packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a
valuein-use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections was 15.2% (2020:
15.1%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.0% (2020: 2.0%),
which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

Plastic packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the plastic packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a
value in-use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections was 14.5% (2020:
15.1%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.0% (2020: 2.0%),
which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

EmERERR
BTHETREIR BREBS
U B & %8 B A R 57,305,000
7T~ AR #155,836,0007T & A R
#07.832,000LHIEE S R DS
ENEBRBSELSEN - BB
EHSEABMNNIERRRESES
B o

FOBEHEDELEN
SOEpRRECELSEMNMAIRE
SEOREFHEENEET  H
FRERSHEEEBRENASF
B BEENRE e RETEN - #EA
KRR RETEAHREIBEB15.2%
(2020% : 15.1%) @ M A FHIR
IR E R ETFEH2.0% (2020
F:2.0%) MIEREHEE - JHEF
HITENRPFIERE—F -

BREORECELEN
BRBRBCEEEMHAKRE
SEOREBEFHREENEET  H
FRERSHEEEBRENASF
B BEENRE e RETEN - #EA
KRR RETBHHREIBERE14.5%
(2020% : 15.1%) @ M A FHIR
IR e mETHFEH2.0% (2020
F:2.0%) MIEREHE - THEF
HITENRPFIERE—F -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

16 Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Aluminium packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the aluminium packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a
valuein-use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections was 13.4% (2020:
13.83%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.0% (2020: 2.0%),
which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
of the tinplate packaging, plastic packaging and
aluminium packaging cash-generating units as at 31
December 2021 and 2020. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined the
budgeted gross margins based on past performance
and its expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
cash-generating units.

Growth rates — The growth rates are based on the
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Based on the above assessments, no further impairment
of the carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 is recognised, as there was sufficient
headroom available as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
A reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
would not cause the recoverable amount to fall below
the carrying amount of the respective cash-generating
unit.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

17 Other intangible assets 17 HEFEE CONSOLDATED
STATEMENT OF
Customer  Patents and Computer CASH FLOWS
relationship licences software Total RARIAER
EFBE  ERRNT  BMEH At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT  ARBTE ARETT ARETR

Cost at 1 January 2021, netof ~ R2021F1A18 2

accumulated amortisation B N R 1,540 13,510 8,325 23,375
Additions nNE - 171 4,725 4,896
Written off during the year R (1,540) - - (1,540) NOTES TO THE
Amortisaton provided FREHRE CONSOLIDATED
; _ FINANCIAL
during the year \ (2,421) (1,993) (4,414) STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31H - 11,260 11,057 22,317 FEMBRRMET
At 31 December 2021: R2021%12A318 :
Cost AR - 38,868 32,556 71,424
Accumulated amortisation B - (27,608) (21,499) (49,107)
Net carrying amount REFE - 11,260 11,057 22,317
Cost at 1 January 2020, netof ~ #2020F1A1H 2
accumulated amortisation B - MR T 8H 1,540 16,469 8,650 26,659 FIVE-YEAR
Additions nNE - 5 1,540 1,545 FINANCIAL
- - " SUMMARY
Amorisaton provided FRBHERE TEBREE
during the year - (2,964) (1,865) (4,829)
At 31 December 2020 2020512 A31H 1,540 13,510 8,325 23,375
At 31 December 2020: 7202012310 :
Cost AR 1,540 38,697 27,831 68,068
Accumulated amortisation B4 - (25,187) (19,506) (44,693)
Net carrying amount EHZE 1,540 13,510 8,325 23,375
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\é’g\jﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARB3IR)
s O g A
CONSOLDATED 18 Interests in joint ventures 18 SEENER
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS 2021 2020
= A N Y
FRRRRER RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Share of net assets DEFEE 14,259 8,371
The balance represented the Group’s interests in two ERRRAEERRRE 2R EN
joint ventures, which are not individually material. e EMIEREWIEENEX -

BREMXZIERERMHER R

Aggregate financial information of the joint ventures that

NOTES TO THE S
CONSOLIDATED are not individually material: (o
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
RRUMBRRM T At 31 December
M2021512831H
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Aggregate carrying amount of the  ERIFFEAA LD EXE
individually immaterial joint REMBREFRH
E:‘K‘E\',IEC\RL ventures in the consolidated AR5
SUMMARY financial statements 14,259 8,371
TERBHE
Period from
respective
dates of
establishment
Year ended to
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
DRV =Rt
BZ2021F F20204F
12A31HLFE 12A318 ILHfE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ART R AR®EF T
Aggregate amount of the REEDHEERERE
Group’s share of joint AINEEGE
ventures’ profit after tax 1,568 91
Aggregate amount of the Group’s ~ ANEEBED(HEE D EHA
share of joint ventures’ other FHEWEERE
comprehensive income - -
Aggregate amount of the Group’s ~ ANEEShEEREEE
share of joint ventures’ total W7 42 5R
comprehensive income 1,568 91
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé EZI’?T%*E;E Mq‘%}
(BLARMIR) h
Inventories 19 &E&
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET AREF T
Raw materials R 884,341 572,441
Work in progress TE G 281,554 162,377
Finished goods X 653,111 428,017
Consumables FEM 84,644 84,677
1,903,650 1,247,512
20 Trade and bills receivables 20 ESEUNRRERESE
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Trade receivables =7 &N

— From third parties — RBE=H 2,219,244 1,932,472

— From related parties (note 36(b)) — RKEMEEAL
(Bt#£36(b)) 110,482 117,926
2,329,726 2,050,398
Less: Impairments o ORE (2,767) (2,745)
2,326,959 2,047,653
Bill receivables W E & 161,661 108,429
Trade and bills receivables B 5 MW & e E R 2,488,620 2,156,082

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period
is generally 30 to 180 (2020: 30 to 180) days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and has a credit control department to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables related to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

The Group’s trade receivables from related parties are
on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

$$@”%Eﬁﬁ%% R
AZABENR - EEH—MAI0
Z180K (2020¢ 30E180K) °
BEEFPHERSEESE A5H
X@%%ﬂﬁ*%ﬁﬁ%%m
BRUEEEHNHKEERRRER
Fﬁ m&aﬁAﬁﬁai%ﬁﬂ
BHAZRIE o R Ll MR L@
EoRUWGHERNETRBEREFE
B M ESEREFEERR - &
EBETAREZ SRR EHES
FARFRIEMEERE - EH
BRI TG B -

AEBREALT ZEFERKFEER
HhRAAEEEIERFREHENE
UEEH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%—:\éﬂji%i&%% M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date and net of impairment, is as follows:

20 ESRURRERER (&)

RIRE R E F R & B 2=
BIRBZEE - WG ERN R
DHWMT

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBT T

Within 3 months 31E AR 1,927,069 1,714,283
3 to 12 months 3&=12f8 A 560,673 441,056
Over 1 year 1F LA 878 743
2,488,620 2,156,082

The movements in the impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

BHRYGTHREZSIT

2021 2020

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARB TR ARBTT

At 1 January M1A1E 2,745 5,681
Impairment losses recognised, net W H) AL (B A5 1B 5

(Note 8(c)) (Hti£8(c)) 22 2,303

Amounts written off as uncollectible ##5 T~ AT UL [El ~ & 58 - (5,239)

At 31 December M12H318 2,767 2,745

Impairment under HKFRS 9

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of
each reporting period using a provision matrix to
measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss pattern (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if
they are past due for more than three years and are not
subject to enforcement activity.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A

BRMBHESENEIRRE
REBREAREABEREETH
BN - Lt ERHEEEE o &
BERILIERAEABUBERANS
EEF o EA R (B iz 32 2 5 -
EmEL BRFRENFRARIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued) 20 ESERRREKRERE (E) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Impairment under HKFRS 9 (continued) ERUBRELEAFOREE (F) CASH FLOWS
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TERHVEAREEE Y HlAE BARSRER
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a B REFERRRARRGE
provision matrix: o
As at 31 December 2021 7202141283318
Past due
il NOTES TO THE
Less than 1to3 Over 3 CONSOLIDATED
Current 1 month months months Total ST:'T":EAMN:#T‘;
BN DIEB 1238 A BiB3fEA @zt AR =
Expected credit loss rate  BHIEEEER 0.01% 0.05% 1.71% 72.28% 0.12%
Gross carrying amount BAREE
(RMB’000) (AREFTT) 2,323,808 1,997 350 3,571 2,329,726
Expected credit losses BHEEEE
(RMB’000) (AREFTT) 179 1 6 2,581 2,767
As at 31 December 2020 7K2020F12A31H FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
Past due RFRBHE
ekt
Less than 1t03 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
BE SMEA 123EA  BiBSEA @at
Expected credit lossrate ~ EHIEEHEX 0.01% 0.72% 0.25% 61.89% 0.13%
Gross carrying amount AREE
(RMB'000) (AR#EFTT) 2,037,116 6,413 2,773 4,09 2,050,398
Expected credit losses BHEEER
(RMB'000) (ANEEFTT) 157 46 7 2,535 2,745
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ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁ%ﬁjﬁ (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

20 ESRURRERER (&)

20 Trade and bills receivables (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS Impairment under HKFRS 9 (continued) ERUBRELEAFOREME (F)
BaRETER At 31 December 2021, the Group endorsed certain R2021FE 128310 » REBE EHE

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

bills receivables accepted by banks in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with
a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB1,028,153,016
(2020: RMB781,126,927). The Derecognised Bills
have a maturity from one to six months at the end of
the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the
Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against
the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it
has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the
Derecognised Bills and the associated trade payables.
The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and

ETHEREEFRSZRETE
MOETRERER ((BEERE
DD AN BEEMSEBEEERE
EEEAR1028,153,0167TC
(20204 : AR #781,126,9277T)
FE ZEMR - RIFEHR - BUH
BREBENDEHEBEREN T —=/1E
A BEREEEL  WxEFE
IRITELY  BUBHERERFAAY
AEEHBERE([HE2H]) -
BEERAE AEBECBEEERE
EEE R R R B RER - A
It - EERUBERIUEEREER X
EEEZENTNE2HERE - K
SERFELHAIUEERER XA
BOZEIUEEREBRMARIRER
ERMEMEAZN RS EERKRES

FIVE-YEAR the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these REEREE BSZERA  AEER
gmm% Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In BELHIUEBRZEMNRAFELT
AERBEE the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s EKRo

282

Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not
significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of
transfer of the Derecognised Bills (2020: Nil). No
gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year ended 31 December
2021 or cumulatively.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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21

Prepayments, other receivables and other
assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARMFIR)

21

eV BRRME

BEAR EEERR A
BE

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Current assets REEE
Prepayments to third-party suppliers T8I FE=H i Em 2
B 201,308 189,190
Deposits e 63,130 14,387
Input VAT recoverable AT [E] 7 TR I E R 79,927 61,586
Prepaid expenses FENEA 16,937 13,956
Other receivables H A U 53R 23,287 24,319
Amounts due from related parties ~ FEUREE A L FIA
(Note 36(b)) (H7:%36(b)) 34,822 34,038
419,411 337,476
Less: Impairment R E (4,032) (4,231)
415,379 333,245
Non-current assets ERBEE
Prepaid expenses AR 38,795 38,165

The movements in the impairment of prepayments, other
receivables and other assets are as follows:

BNR - AR R A EER
BEEHMT

2021 2020

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET AREFT

At 1 January ®1A1H 4,231 3,887
Impairment losses (reversed)/ (BmE) HERERE

recognised, net (Note 8(c)) B 18F 58 (M 718(c)) (29) 351

Amounts written off as uncollectible #$8 T I W @l > 4 58 (170) (7)

At 31 December »W12A31H 4,032 4,231

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets mainly
represent prepayments to third-party suppliers and
input VAT recoverable. As there were no comparable
companies with credit ratings can be identified,
expected credit losses are estimated by applying a
loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss
record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The 12-month ECL loss rate
applied for where there are no comparable companies
as at 31 December 2021 was 0.89% (2020: 2.85%).

Except for the above impaired other receivables, the
financial assets included in the above balances related
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default.

AR - HtEW G R EMmEEE
EREAINEZFTHERHK
TH R AT el 2 TR IS ER o HRR
BRI E A EEFAMAELRA
B AEBL2ZBEIEBLER
FRFERAEERAGFTRBEES
B BREBREERFREDFRE
VA I B 35 5 175 050, B TEUBI 2R SR AR 7 1B
S # 20214128318 I £ 7]
BB ARIMIEN - FTERM121E
ATEAE B BB X 50.89% (2020
F:2.85%) °

B DA _E BURE B At B RSN Bt

BN BRNE RS E ST HERE
RS EUKER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%—:\éﬂjﬁﬁﬁl}ﬁa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

22 Cash and cash equivalents, pledged

deposits and restricted deposit

22 REeRRLEEY SEFR

EREERBER

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBT T
Cash and bank balances R& MIBTTES 1,780,614 1,059,899
Deposits in COFCO Finance AR B 75 B 15 3K
(Note 36(b)) (736 (b)) 137,000 891,331
Time deposits TEHTF K 36,008 90,407
1,953,622 2,041,637
Less: Pledged deposits and B BEBER R
restricted deposit: ERBITFR :
Pledged for letters of credit IERABZD AR (2,166) (20,258)
Pledged for bills payable (Note 23) FLIE ZiEE 1K
(Hiit23) (33,842) (70,149)
Restricted deposit BRSITFR (319) (7,000)
(36,327) (97,407)
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBREEEY 1,917,295 1,944,230

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months, depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances, pledged
deposits and restricted deposit are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

All of the above deposits in COFCO Finance are held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitment
and have a short maturity of less than three months and
a determinable return when acquired. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, these deposits in COFCO
Finance are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A

RITHE LT B RITHF R EERER
FEME - REAEEHREFK
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—BE=EAATE DHIREHZ
75 HATE BT SR R BRER A B, © $RTT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

23 Trade and bills payables 23 BEZEARRESERE

CONSOLIDATED

. . , e N o STATEMENT OF

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as RMERR  REZAHFAENE CASH FLOWS
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice SN R R ENZERORE ST RRRERER

date, is as follows:

™

2021 2020

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET AREFIT

Within 3 months 3EARN 1,956,331 1,019,366
310 12 months 3E12fE A 361,701 426,841 NOTES TO THE
Over 1 year 1 5,721 2,659 CONSOLIDATED
2,323,753 1,448,866 e

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and
the credit terms are normally 30 to 90 (2020: 30 to 90)
days.

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s bills
payable were secured by the Group’s bank deposits

EE ) VYN ES NIl
ZRER T A30290K (20204 :
30F90K) °

2021128310 » AEEHE
TRMAZEBEARNEENRITERE

STATEMENTS
RERBHRRMT

amounting to RMB33,842,000 (2020: RMB70,149,000) H AR #33,842,0007T (20204 : FIVE-YEAR
(Note 22). AR #70149,00070) fEHE 8 (K FINANCIAL
$£02) o SUMMARY
" AEHBBE

As at 31 December 2021, among the trade and bills
payables, trade payables of RMB1,160,000 (2020:
RMB282,000) were due to ORG Technology and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties to the Group, and
trade payables of RMB35,088,000 (2020: Nil) were due
to CPMC Barrel Production (Yantai) Co., Ltd. (“Yantai
Barrel”), which is a joint venture of the Group. These
balances were payable within 90 (2020: 90) days, a
credit term similar to those offered to its major customers
(Note 36(b)).

24 Other payables and accruals

R2021F 128318 " E HEM R
MESREE SRR NEEREEA
TRESHEREMNBAGNES
JE 14 3% A R #1,160,0007T (2020
F: ARM282,0007T) M ER A E
Beet¥xhEamEa) AR
REl([Ee®iE]) ME SHERK
B AR #35,088,0007T (20204 :
) o ZERIEBENIOK (20204 :
QOR)AZ BGETFTHEERF
2 EEGFAELL (KT 5E36(b)) °

24 HiESRKRESIEER

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Contract liabilities EHaE 42,135 44,628
Refund liabilities RREME 56,960 59,995
Salaries and welfare payables FET T & A& F 150,876 131,356
Accrued expenses JEETE A 54,259 59,884
Guarantee deposits from suppliers HERERZE £ 20,707 20,028
Payables for purchases of equipment % B =& & & 1+ 7018 96,091 45,357
Amounts due to related parties FET B8 A T K38
(Note 36(b)) (1 :#36(b)) 212 73
Tax payables other than brEHSH AR
current income tax liabilities JE A A 18 21,614 36,598
Others Hth 25,102 31,124
467,956 429,043
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\é’g\jﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

ConsoLATED 24 Other payables and accruals (continued) 24 HiEMNRRESER (&)
STATEMENT OF . . . . o
CASH FLOWS Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing HEMENFRERIEE XS
GaReREX and have an average term of three months. FHEFEHRE=HEA -
As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities were R2020F1A1H - A BEAEA
RMB39,803,000. Revenue recognised during the year K #39,803,0007T ° # 220214
ended 31 December 2021 related to contract liabilities 12A31BILEE st AFHEH
at the beginning of the year was RMB44,628,000 (2020: BEABNEERRARARE
RMB39,803,000). 44,628,0007T (20204 : AR ¥
39,803,0007L)
NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED .
FINANCIAL Lease liabilities 25 *HEEE
STATEMENTS
LERERCLE: The following table shows the remaining contractual TREIIAEE 2 HEABOHRT
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities: A KV HARR -
2021 2020
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
FIVE-YEAR lease lease lease lease
FINANCIAL payments payments payments payments
SUMEMARY BEHSE BEHES sEHEE REHE
BERES 2R 4% 2R %
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%TR ARETT AREFR
Within 1 year —%R 13,510 15,081 10,268 11,849
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —F A BRFUAR 8,486 9,662 9,410 10,658
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ MFNARERFHUR 15,135 17,498 14,191 17,036
After 5 years AFENE 38,755 41,813 47,377 51,493
62,376 68,973 70,978 79,187
75,886 84,054 81,246 91,036
Less: total future interest W RRM BT B
expenses (8,168) (9,790)
Present value of lease liabilites HME&EZHE 75,886 81,246
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates BAREERGZMETEEEE
applied to lease liabilities is 2.5% (2020: 2.3%) per RENZEH2.5% (20204 : 2.3%) °
annum.
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26 Derivative financial instruments

The Group has entered into various commodity futures
contracts to manage its market price risk arising from
the fixed unit price of aluminium to certain of the Group’s
customers conducted in the normal course of business.
These commodity futures contracts are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. A net fair value loss
on derivative financial instruments of RMB27,583,000
(2020: a net fair value gain of RMB14,216,000) was
recognised in cost of sales in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year (see Note
8(a)).

27 Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

26 TE€mIA

REFECTVZERBRRAY
AREEIREBBERAER
ETEFHETERMEBEMAKANME
BHTISERER - ZEREE S
AR AT EF AR - EFRITE
TRTENFAFEBEEBARE
27,583,0007T (20204 : F A FAE
Wz AR #14,216,0007T) © R
ANRBBEROEERAS (T
8(a)) °

27 FTESRITER

2021 2020
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’ 000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BBRIE(%) 8 AR®TR  BEFE%) e ARET
Fixed-rate - secured EE-BHA 1.26-1.59  2026-2029 41,16 126148 2029 3,323
Floating-rate - unsecured /%8 - ZHH# 0.99-1.30 2022-2024 4,172,866 0.98-1.30 2021-2024 4,260,397
4,214,282 4,263,720
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBET T
Bank loans are repayable in the FER T3 EARE(EERT
following intervals: B
Within one year F—FR 2,071,145 2,300,147
In the second year F4F 986,946 814,039
In the third to fifth years, inclusive SE=ZF AT B8
HEME 1,156,191 1,149,534
4,214,282 4,263,720
Less: Amounts due within one year & : BV B EE T Frl
shown under current liabilities R—F R E
ZFIE (2,071,145) (2,300,147)
Amounts shown under ERBBEIBE T ATYIFRIA
non-current liabilities 2,143,137 1,963,573
Note: Bt -

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's borrowings amounting to
RMB41,416,000 (2020: nil) had been secured by the pledge of
the Group’s property, plant and equipment with an aggregate
net carrying amount of RMB64,354,000 (2020: nil).

2021412531 H - K £ H B A K
#41,416,0005T (20204 : #E) I 48 B
H JF 8 B A 64,354,000 (2020
F A EFIETFYE  BERLZ
1 IEH 7 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\é’g\jﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

4 I
CONSOLIDATED 28 Deferred Tax 28 EEBIIE
STATEMENT OF \ s N
CASH FLOWS The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities FARLEMIBEERBENE SN
BARSRER during the year are as follows: e

Deferred tax liabilities EEBEE S

Accelerated

Accelerated tax  Accelerated
tax depreciation tax
amortisation  of property, amortisation
NOTES TO THE of lands plantand of intangible
CONSOLIDATED userights  equipment assets Total
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS k- BER
AR TifERE FEZME BREEZ
IR B E 85 BEHE MERESH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®ETRT ARBTT ARETR
At 1 January 2020 FA2020F1 A1H 4,126 27,218 3,617 34,961
Deferred tax (credited)/charged WE#HA (5t A) /H1K
to profit or loss (Note 11) BRTBIE (Hi11) (317) 12,208 (704) 11,187
FVEVEAR Gross deferred tax liabilities #2020 12 A31R &9
FINANGIAL at 31 December 2020 BREEREAE 3,809 39,426 2,913 46,148
%Ugg“ﬁ%%g At 1 January 2021 720211 A1H 3,809 39,426 2,913 46,148
’ Deferred tax (credited)/charged WEZER (5t A) /K
to profit or loss (Note 11) EREMIE (H£11) (107) 15,397 (568) 14,722
Gross deferred tax liabilities A2021F12 A31H £
at 31 December 2021 REEHEARE 3,702 54,823 2,345 60,870
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

28 ELEBIE ()

28 Deferred Tax (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
. STATEMENT OF
Deferred tax assets EEREEE CASH FLOWS
FARSMER
Losses
available
for
Provision for Provision for offsetting
Provisionfor  impairments of  Provision for  impairments of against
impairments ~ prepayments write-down property, future
of trade and other of plant faxable Others
receivables  receivables inventories  and equipment profits (Note) Total NOTES TO THE
BHAR g KER  7RER CONSOLIDATED
LT TERN .0 REOKE  AMESE £ TRt
RERE  AAERE  REVERR BE  EREAR (W) it

REMBERMNE

RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB1000

AREFT ARETR  ARETR AREFR ARETr ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2020 H200F1A1R 907 9 6) 1539 12,193 1342 29,000
Defered tax (charged)credited  REERA(HR) /3t

to profit or loss (Note 11) NERBE A (318) % 6 (23¢) (12199) 10590 (2,069)
Gross deferred tax assets H200F12R318
at 31 December 2020 GETRELE 589 1027 1305 - 24,016 26,937 FIVE-YEAR
: FINANCIAL
At January 201 ALl 559 007 1,05 - 2016 %97 SUNVARY
Deferred tax (charged)credited  RERRA (MB) /3 REHBRE
to profitor loss (Note 11) AERREHitr) () (19 (492) 6,357 2,778 8,621
Gross deferred tax assets R0 E12831RH
at 31 December 2021 BELRREE 586 1,008 813 6,357 26,794 35,558

Note: Others mainly represent deferred fax arising from refund
liabilities and provision for miscellaneous expenses.

As at 31 December 2021, no deferred tax assets
have been recognised in respect of the unused tax
losses for approximately RMB86,208,000 (2020:
RMB120,593,000), which included in the tax losses of
approximately RMB83,081,000 (2020: RMB115,977,000)
that will expire within five years, and other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the above items as it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the above items can be utilised.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

Wit AErEZEEBRIRERA
it B 7R 18 2 A AR IR ©

MR20214E12H31H - i E B R H)
B TEE B AR 86,208,0007T
(20204 : AR #120,593,0007T)
MRELEHRIBEE  HEEEFTLD
A R #:83,081,0007T (20204F : A
R#115,977,0007T) R AF A
W BB ERREE - AR
S EE A 1B A0 A B B9 oK T JE AR Y
B8 - AR TR AE A BEHE ERT
FEARKETESAN LEE
MR ERAERECEHRBEE -

RIFCEMERE - RABERBK
SN E D EREINEEERT
RO EBBN10%TEN - &5
78 48 E R 20081 5 1H #& £ 3
I 3@ A R2007F12A31H 24 K
BF] o i B GINEE E W R
BRI LBBGLY A=A
EOENHEE - RAEEME - &
AR A5%810% » A It - A
E 7B Bt a% S H B A S A9 B B A )
R2008F 1 A1H & B ELA & F AT
TIRMAR BB MNTEIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%—:\éﬂjﬁﬁﬁl}ﬁa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

28 Deferred Tax (continued)

Pursuant to the approvals received by the Company
from the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC, the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries are regarded as
CREs and relevant enterprise income tax policies shall
be applicable to the Company and these subsidiaries
starting from 1 January 2013. As a result, the Company
and these subsidiaries are therefore no longer liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by their
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
retained earnings generated.

For those subsidiaries not approved as CREs, the
Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of temporary differences attributable to
accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting
to RMB345,886,000 (2020: RMB312,258,000) as the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A

28 EFEHIE ()

RIBEARFVERBEBERG BESR
RS A AR RERTHEB AR
EREATFHERMPZE  &E2013
FIAIBRRERBEECEMNSESH
E o Atk ARRBI R ER B R A
15 7B ph H A P B A A S 2 BT B
NAEENRE B DR RS
MIEINFL o

HRZEREHEAETRERD
¥Z2WBRARME  AEBARR
FRAMKINZENB AR S
20081 H1H R E £ 2 & F Pk
IR BB - MELLRE
R RABERTFENEARZR
ARANEREE2¢EAARE
345,886,0007T (20204 : AR %
312,258,0007T ) &1 #2 i % %1 18 #
1% - A AN E B AL ) 1 0 fa iy =
BN BRBEERAETS
A R R RHEEE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

29 Share capital 29 R
2021 2020
No. of No. of
shares RMB’ 000 shares RMB’000
RO EE ARETR RingE ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARET T ARETF T
Ordinary shares, issued L@k ERTRER:
and fully paid:
At 1 January M A1H 1,113,423,000 2,730,433 1,160,949,000 2,730,433
Shares repurchased and [REAEN R a g
cancelled (Note) (H1:2) - - (47,526,000) -
At 31 December ®12A31H 1,113,423,000 2,730,433 1,113,423,000 2,730,433
Note: Ktaz

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
repurchased its own shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong

B 220209 12H31H i F)& » K2 A]
REFHEX ZHHIR AL Al B H K

Kong Limited as follows: FREWT -

Number of
shares Highest price Lowest price Aggregate
Month repurchased  paid per share  paid per share price paid
At BRRHEE ENEREEE ENSRREER EEER
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT TET
February 2020 20205 2R 9,451,000 3.00 2.86 28,092
May 2020 2020654 24,626,000 3.00 2.72 72,562
June 2020 202056A 13,304,000 3.00 2.92 39,262
July 2020 2020%7R 145,000 2.92 2.91 423
47,526,000 140,339

The repurchase was governed by section 257 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The total amounts
paid on the repurchased shares of approximately
RMB127,860,000 and transaction costs of approximately
RMB620,000, were paid wholly out of retained profits.
All of the repurchased shares were cancelled before the
year ended 31 December 2020.

B O 2 EHE QA IEH E257IER
E-BOABRMKANRSEHAR
#127,860,0007T & X 5 B A 49 A
R¥620,000/c 2 8B FH B
- - FTEBERG BERE E20204F
12A31B I FEATEE -
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mE

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREESR)

B R AR MY

30 Reserves

31

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Capital reserves

The capital reserves represent: 1) additional
contribution made by the non-controlling shareholders
of the Company’s subsidiaries; 2) in the case of
an acquisition of an additional equity interest in a
non-wholly owned subsidiary, the difference between
the cost of acquisition and the non-controlling interests
acquired and; 3) in the case of a settlement of a
shareholder’s loans, the difference between the carrying
amount of loans and the consideration.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are
required to make appropriations to a certain statutory
reserve, namely the reserve funds, from their statutory
profit for the year after offsetting accumulated losses
as determined under the PRC accounting regulations
from prior years and before profit distribution to equity
holders. The percentage to be appropriated to such
statutory reserve funds is determined according to
the relevant regulations in the PRC at 10% or at the
discretion of the boards of directors of the respective
companies.

Partly-owned subsidiaries with material
non-controlling interests

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material
non-controlling interests are set out below:

30

31

e

REBNAFERBEFE 2 HH
HELFEEEHEN R ERE
REY -

EXfRE

BARBARER  VARFAMERQ
IR R AR 2 BINE R 2)
FEWEIE T E M B N R BN
MR T - WA AN B B U BE IR
PetEsh o 28 0 R3) UBERR

AMWD'AMQKF%E@Z%
o
EERE

ARRBRAPBEK AN ERREAES
HFERZEMNE (RERETES
AR ENBEFE RFTERR
Ko R B AN K5 B A AE R B 2 R Al
mETEEFE (AEES) B3R -
5 [F) 5% T4 TE fof 1 2 1F it MO B SR L

IR & B A BA AR LA10% A LE
SHERARNETENEET -

ERBERFEREDR 2D
BEHEATE

BB EXHE RS 2 A E KB
REHIMT -

2021 2020
Percentage of equity interests FERERMFRET D
held by non-controlling interests: Lt
Wuxi Huapeng mHENS 15.52% 15.52%
Harvest Epoch T 428 31.20% 31.20%
Benepack Hong Kong Limited BEMpRBEBEBRARA
and its subsidiary (“Benepack”) T EH B A F)
(TE#]) 49.00% 49.00%

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A



31

Partly-owned subsidiaries with material
non-controlling interests (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

H

31 EREXRFERER2FH
BEHMELT (&)

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated DI EIEIERE R B
to non-controlling interests: FEFE/(BA) :
Wuxi Huapeng mHENS 2,317 5,666
Harvest Epoch AT 42 % 2,499 3,210
Benepack B4 5,106 (5,327)
Accumulated balances of FEIERERA RS HE®
non-controlling interests REttses
at the reporting dates:
Wuxi Huapeng w5 E NS 56,719 54,401
Harvest Epoch T 485 174,074 171,623
Benepack B4 74,621 52,307

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts

TRHA LMK ERROTBER
ME - FIRBESBER/KREFNARE

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: HIHAI SRR ¢
Wuxi Huapeng Harvest Epoch Benepack
BHER WIE% B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR ARETR AR¥TR
2021 20215
Revenue KA 587,460 1,075,470 375,793
Total expenses EbEr (572,528) (1,067,615) (365,351)
Profit for the year FERE 14,932 7,855 10,442
Total comprehensive income/(l0ss) FERANE/ (BB)8E
for the year 14,932 7,855 (3,496)
Current assets RYEE 338,887 333,337 445,138
Non-current assets ERHEE 202,197 334,277 489,058
Current liabilities mEERE (131,966) (107,066) (390,893)
Non-current liabilities FREER (35,939) (2,620) (390,967)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEHELE/(FR)2
operating activities Bengia 19,173 (8,658) 30,448
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing ~ % &EH (ER) /EL 2
activities Beneid (6,982) 1,917 (87,613)
Net cash flows (used in)/from BEEY(FER) /B
financing activities RenEFE (3,337) - 124,250
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BeRALEEN
and cash equivalents n/(Rd) 38 8,854 (6,741) 67,085
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eV BRRME

31 Partly-owned subsidiaries with material

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARBFIR)

31 EREXRFERERZAM

non-controlling interests (continued) BENB LT (&)
Wuxi Huapeng Harvest Epoch Benepack
mBEE HIE % B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT AREFTL
2020 2020F
Revenue WA 548,157 426,417 58,326
Total expenses gk (511,396) (416,287) (69,219)
Profit/(loss) for the year EEAE/ (B8 36,761 10,130 (10,893)
Total comprehensive income/(l0ss) FE2ENE/ (BB 8
for the year 36,761 10,130 (8,139)
Current assets RYEE 289,113 312,479 156,594
Non-current assets HrRBEE 216,230 357,932 453,848
Current liabilities nEAE (97,751) (117,666) (115,881)
Non-current liabilities E b= (49,345) (2,672) (387,816)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BETHEL/ (ER) 2
operating activities BeREFE 86,798 (14,635) (72,570)
Net cash flows used in investing activities 1% 2/EENF 2B &7 (22,317) (5,717) (120,704)
Net cash flows (used in)/from REEH(FR) /ELEZ
financing activities BeREFE (649) - 189,525
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RBeLBeEEN
and cash equivalents i/ (Rb) 38 63,832 (20,352) (3,749)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

32 Notes to the consolidated statement of 32 ZMEREHRERME

CONSOLIDATED
cash flows STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) MEITBELEZEESY BAaReRER
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TREIAEEREZTDHE
liabilities from financing activities, including both S BENEHFE B
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising RekIFReEH AT
from financing activities are liabilities for which PEACZEBERASRERN
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, FARKRBEREHRAE
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow MR ERERPLES
statement as cash flows from financing activities. METHELZHSREN L1951 15
= CONSOLIDATED
BfE- FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMET
Interest-
bearing
bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
HERTER BESHE @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARETR ARETR AR¥ETT
At 1 January 2021 202151718 4,263,720 81,246 4,344,966 IEI‘IIII/ENY(I:EI//-\AT
Changes from financing cash flows: RMEREHEZ2H: SUMMARY
New bank loans raised FEEHRAENR 1,061,063 - 1,061,063 LFUBRE
Repayments of bank loans BERITER (968,488) - (968,488)
Lease modification HEES] - (1,807) (1,807)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERBERE ZERES - (14,519) (14,519)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EREERS ZFEHS - (2,000) (2,000)
Total changes from financing cash flows BAE ¢ RELIAE 92,575 (18,326) 74,249
Exchange adjustments EHAR (142,013) (6,514) (148,527)
Other changes: Hth2d
Increase in lease liabilities from JuHRNLBREAaEEN
entering into new leases - 17,480 17,480
Interest expenses (Note 7) MERZ (Hit7) 71,080 2,000 73,080
Capitalised borrowing costs (Note 7) ARLERRA (HE7) (7,490) - (7,490)
Borrowing costs paid classified as PEREERERERN
operating cash flows ERERRE (63,590) - (63,590)
Total other changes Rkt - 19,480 19,480
At 31 December 2021 #2021E12531R 4,214,282 75,886 4,290,168
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(AAREFIR)

32 Notes to the consolidated statement of 32 SKERERERME(H)

CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF cash flows (continued)
CASH FLOWS
BARERER (a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) METHELEZEGBED
activities (continued) (&)
Interest-
bearing
bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
NOTES 10 THE STRRITER HERR @z
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
CONSOLIDATED o oo o
STATEMENTS
AR BERRE At 1 January 2020 R2020F151A 4,338,242 26,657 4,364,899
Changes from financing cash flows: BEBSHEZEE !
New bank loans raised HESHBRITER 1,502,028 - 1,502,028
Repayments of bank loans BERIER (1,325,813) - (1,325,813)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERBERS ZBERES - (13,209) (13,203)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERBERS ZFBHS - (1,907) (1,907)
Total changes from financing cash flows BER&HEZHEE 176,215 (15,110) 161,105
FIVE-YEAR Exchange adjustments EHAZ (250,737) - (250,737)
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY X
FERHED Other changes: Hit 28
Increase In lease liabilities JuHENLHAEAELEN
from entering into new leases - 68,092 68,092
Interest expenses (Note 7) MER (F37) 110,647 1,907 112,554
Covid-19-related rent concessions HCovid-191MELER
(Note 8(c)) (Hi28(c)) - (300) (300)
Capitalised borrowing costs (Note 7) BR{CERRA (F37) (13,491) - (13,491)
Borrowing costs paid classified as PEREERENEN
operating cash flows ERERRE (97,156) - (97,156)
Total other changes AnEEaE - 69,699 69,699
At 31 December 2020 #2020512H31H 4,263,720 81,246 4,344,966
33 Pledge of assets 33 EREE
Details of the Group’s letters of credit, bills payable REBZERAFE - BHIERERRTT
and bank loans, which are secured by the assets ffk(%$%@2§§ﬁﬁ) 2B
of the Group, are included in Notes 22, 23 and 27, D RIE A M FE22 « 2327 ©

respectively.

296 CPMC Holdings Limited 265 i3 A 1R A &




34 Operating lease arrangements

As lessor

The Group leases its machineries and individual
properties (which was not qualified as an investment
property), under operating lease arrangements, with
leases negotiated for terms ranging from six months
to eight years. The terms of the leases generally also
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
total future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬂ\jﬁ%*ﬁ% M;J-%I

(AARFITR)

34 BEHEZRH

fEEHHEA
AEBRBEEAETHBE#E
RTEEREREMENDMED
e BEEBN T AAEAENE -
HEKRFBENERKBL L HRE
© - WAlRERE B m SR T8
BHEE -

AEBRHERHRRIZEEHEP AT
FIA T EAR 2 A 2 A AT U AR
HERSIZ RR&EHE AN

due as follows: N
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETT
Within one year F—FN 5,873 3,772
In the second to fifth years, inclusive - ZFE A F
(REERME) 16,918 12,466
After five years FHEAE 1,620 3,099
24,411 19,337
35 Capital commitments 35 EREHE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the RBERRAEER 2 EAREEN
end of the reporting period: N
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARBTT
Contracted, but not provided for: BEETHEREED
Property, plant and equipment W - WEREE 459,311 383,452
Capital contribution payable ER—REEDHEL
to a joint venture BEALE 4,680 8,280
463,991 391,732
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%—:\éﬂjﬁﬁﬁl}ﬁa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

36 Related party transactions 36 BELIRXS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a) RZAEFEVHHRRHA#
in the consolidated financial statements, the TH&EzZ2XGZ5H XEER
Group had the following material transactions FREREATETHEKR
with related parties during the year: XBWMT
2021 2020
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Hra AR®TR ARBTT
Transactions with COFCO: BARENRZS -
- Repayment of lease liabilites — EEREEE (BIE
(including principal and KeRMEHH)
interest elements) (ii) 650 1,300
- Purchase of IT software - BEEAMBEHR
and IT facilities CEREEE i (v) 275 475
- Supply of IT Services and - REEAMER
market consulting services MG @ AR (v) 943 1,887
- Purchase of products -BEEm (iv) 319 -
Transactions with related HEPEARNR S
companies®:
Transactions with BRAEHBNRS
COFCO Finance:
- Interest income (Note 6) — FIBWA (K iE6) (i) 14,502 11,569
Transactions with COFCO (Hong ~ BEALQFRFEREFE
Kong), a substantial shareholder ~ (&75) R EME L 7
of the Company, and its (B[R (BB &E))
subsidiaries (collectively the MRS
“COFCO Hong Kong Group”):
- Sale of products - HEEM (i) 497,215 344,477
~ Repayment of lease liabilities -BEHEEAE(AE
(including principal and reRAERH)
interest elements) (i) 931 946
- Purchase of products -BEEM (iv) - 19
Transactions with ORG BANREERR R
Technology, a substantial ERBRREMBEAR
shareholder of the Company, (ZE[REeREER])
and its subsidiaries (collectively ~ H1% 5 :
the “ORG Technology Group”):
- Sale of products - HEEMR (i) 111,352 163,586
- Purchase of products - BEEM (iv) 81,695 127,463
- Sale of raw materials - HERMH (vii) - 350
Transactions with a joint venture ~ HBAEE-—FRALLE
of the Group MR 5
- Purchase of products -BEEM (iv) 114,549 -
* Related companies are companies under * BERR I ERIEEA

significant influence of COFCO.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

36 BMELIXS (&)

36 Related party transactions (continued)

CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a) BRZEKREUBHRREML CASH FLOWS

in the consolidated financial statements, the FHR8zZ2XBN AEBR FaRERER
Group had the following material transactions FREREATETHNEKX

with related parties during the year: (continued)

Note:

(i)

The sales were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to the major
customers of the Group.

XHSWT ()

Mat

(i)

BB & TIRIED T % (E
BRIERTAEHLTEZER
A T TT

NOTES TO THE
(i)  The lease payments were determined with (i) HEMNKGLERTTE CONS:,L'LD,:(;E\E
reference to the prevailing market rental. Wz MEFE ° STATEMENTS
) . FEMBRRMET
(i) The interest income arising from the deposits (iii)  EEE B P IE B 17 e T
placed at COFCO Finance was determined in BA T 12 B B A FR 2R
accordance with the prevailing RMB deposit rates TTHT BRI BT A R
promulgated by the People’s Bank of China with the FAFYF 12 46 [a] 18 56 K AR 1
same terms and conditions. MEE °
(iv)  The considerations were determined with reference (iv) REZ2EETHSER
to the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices FE R 5] E = A A
charged to third parties. BISETE - FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
(v)  The transactions were carried out in accordance (v) BHEXZIREDHEES E;UE;%%R;
with the terms and conditions mutually agreed by G 15 15 B IR A ’
the parties involved. 7 e
(vi) The sales were made according to the published (vi) BRHEETIREE FI#E

prices and conditions.

TR A ETT
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%—:\éﬂji%i&%% M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

36 BMELIXS (&)

36 Related party transactions (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) ERBIEALT ZREMKRFRE:
GABSNER
2021 2020
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Hrsz AR¥TR AREFT
Trade and bills receivables BHRKHR
(Note 20): WS IE (Hi220) -
The COFCO Hong Kong Group ~ 115 (B8) £ & 66,044 88,965
NOTES TO THE The ORG Technology Group ESUERE B L] 44,438 28,961
CONSOLIDATED
;TIG'NE‘;\:IIIIE“I;ITS Prepayments, other receivables  JEf 7% - E At B
PN T, and other assets (Note 21): HithgE (Hae1):
The COFCO Hong Kong Group ~ 118 (B/8) £ & 34,822 34,038
Trade payables (Note 23): BRI (Hi223)
The ORG Technology Group BIE SR &R 1,160 282
Yantai Barrel o=y 2 35,088 -
FVEYEAR Other payables and accruals H e 5 R R AT
FINANCIAL (Note 24): BE (ffi24) -
SUMMARY The COFCO Hong Kong Group ~ 118 (B/8) £ & 212 73
TEWEHE
Deposits placed (Note 22); BRERR (H7#22) -
COFCO Finance IR 137,000 891,331
Right-of-use asset: TREEE:
COFCO g (ii) 2,453 -
The COFCO Hong Kong Group 118 (&/8) £ & (i) 73 978
Lease liabilities: HEEE:
COFCO g (ii) 3,145 -
The COFCO Hong Kong Group 118 (&/8) £ & (ii) 76 999
Note: it -
(i) Except for the deposits placed to COFCO Finance (i) BRTFHR A 12 7589 7 4
which are interest-bearing and repayable on BETEWEEEKEE
demand, the other balances are unsecured, sh - B 4G ER TS EHE I

interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. TEFE A BT =AY

300

(i) The Group entered into a three-year lease (i)  AFEEEFEGFHAEYHE
with COFCO in respect of a leased property, ] H20214 1.5 1H T

(iii)

commencing from 1 January 2021, with an
annual lease payment of RMB1,300,000, payable
in half-yearly basis, and was determined with
reference to amounts charged by COFCO to third
parties.

The Group entered into a two-year lease with the
COFCO Hong Kong Group in respect of a leased
property, commencing from 1 February 2020,
with a monthly lease payment of HK$93,500 (or
equivalent to RMB81,000). The lease payments
were determined with reference to amounts
charged by the COFCO Hong Kong Group to third
parties.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A

(iii)

R =FHE FHz
AA R 1,300,000 -+ &
FEBN  TDEZ2Z PR
18] B = 75 Y0 B 1 5008 1R B

JE o

KEFEF IS (FE) EE
FLFHEYEETV H2020F
2/ 1H # 5+ 4 B i F i
B AH# % 593500/% T
(A ERA K #81,000
L) e F 2 AR E A e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) ﬁé/ﬁ\j;}'%ﬁ% Mq‘%}
(AAR®EFR)
36 Related party transactions (continued) 36 BEAXRS (&)
(¢) Transactions and balances with other (c) HEMBEFEEBZEANRS
state-owned entities ke
The Group operates in an economic environment AEBEELHLBERTERH
predominated by enterprises directly or TEXRZRBTPBEBRAT®BGEE
indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC REHE - BERE L EM
government through its numerous authorities, A A EE RSB S IE
affiliates or other organisations (collectively, X (mEIEERE] -
“State-owned Enterprises”). During the year, FR-AEBEEPIEEEN
the Group enters into extensive transactions, B BEREETRKER
mainly covering purchases of tinplates with S ETZPEREBHOHE -
State-owned Enterprises, other than the COFCO TR E M IE B % 2
Group, on terms comparable to those with other RS BGEFBE -
non-state-owned entities.
The directors of the Company consider that RRAREERR - HHAME
transactions with other State-owned Enterprises ELEIZHENRZAERE
are activities in the ordinary course of its business, XBBEPETHNEY B
and that dealings of the Group have not been 7R 85 (B B AR Lk | P B T
significantly or unduly affected by the fact that RIS EENBRERED
the Group and those State-owned Enterprises BHWAEEXEEELTE
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC B o RNEEIE S FEEmAM
government. The Group has also established B 8) FE B R - ik 5
pricing policies for products and services, and RUWEBARNEFPESR AE
such policies do not depend on whether or not the Eh¥ -KAFERZLEH
customers are Stated-owned Enterprises. Having FHOARER ARREER
due regard to the substance of the relationships, REZEZHM P EKBESTT
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that TUBBENEERIRS °
none of these transactions constitutes a related
party transaction that requires separate disclosure.
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of (d) FEEFEEEAENHS:
the Group:
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Short term employee benefits HHEEERF 7,221 7,077
Post-employment benefits BB EF 518 475
Total comprehensive paid TN TFTEEERABHN
to key management personnel  4&F & 7,739 7,552

Further details of directors’ and the chief
executive’'s emoluments are included in Note 9.

ERESEREZTHABZMEH
- SR BENMEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\éﬂjﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARBFITR)
CONSOLIDATED 37 Financial instruments by category 37 REREISNEMIA
STATEMENT OF , _ _ I
CASH FLOWS The carrying amounts of each of the categories of FEeRMIARMNNHRSEHROKRE
FARERER financial instruments as at the end of the reporting (ERCRNE
period are as follows:
Financial assets THREE
Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive

income (Debt instruments)
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BAVEFARMEZEKEN

SREE(BKITH)

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARB TR ARBET T

Bill receivables =& 161,661 108,429

Financial assets
at amortised cost
REBERATECEREE

2021 2020

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBTF T

Trade receivables H 5 MW 2,326,959 2,047,653
Financial assets included in FEATERT R - E A UK
prepayments, other MHMEENSREE

receivables and other assets 120,378 71,697
Pledged deposits and BHERE R LA R 7R

restricted deposit 36,327 97,407

Cash and cash equivalents ReMREeEEY 1,917,295 1,944,230

4,400,959 4,160,987

Financial liabilities EtHas

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBERITTECSRERS
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Trade and bills payables BN RENEE 2,323,753 1,448,866

Financial liabilities included T AE M R R

in other payables and accruals EETEEMNTREE 253,331 216,460
Lease liabilities HEAE 75,886 81,246
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITER 4,214,282 4,263,720
6,867,252 6,010,292

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A



38 Fair value measurement of financial

instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F
(AARMFIR) h
ERMIANATFETE

38

AEEROEMEENSHERR
BAFEFE - TREROFETE
ZEERMEELATFEZER
B PR AE 2 i (8 540 B B A 8K
’®) o

BEAFEFAHMEZEARENS
BMEE

Fair value as at

Fair value hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

AFER ATEERER HEAENIERANESE
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETn
Bills receivables EWEE 161,661 108,429 Level 2 ZM = Discounted cash flow

method. The key input is
market interest rate.

ERASREE BRBAY
BRTHHE -

Note: The discounted cash flow method uses only observable
market input.

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair
value hierarchy for the current period.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Wit - BE BB 2 8% E & A B
5B A B

AREAE N R A FEAR R &G 8
iz o

TREENTRABENAFEDIR
BAREEEARMBARSROMN
BE-

ARREERR  REAUBHE
ToEREERD A EREIHENK
AARMNEEEREEN A FER

4+

= oo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%—:\éﬂji%i&%l}ﬁa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

39 Financial risk management objectives and 39 MKEREEAZERBRE

CONSOLIDATED o
STATEMENT OF policies
%ﬁ%;ﬁg; Financial risk factors B EE
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial REEREESFAEBEAEEGTHE
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price ﬁﬁ“‘ﬂ C SRR (BEINER
risk, and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. B E R &ﬂTﬂ ) 5 H
J—”SM //|u@§i1—”5»
The Group’s overall risk management program focuses REBRBEBRERERTEETR
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks © BT % B N AT FEA M II:?‘J?FE
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s Kﬁﬁfgim%ﬁ%?$%ﬁﬁ‘%ﬁfﬁﬁ’\]
NOTES TO THE financial performance. BIETRZE -
CONSOLIDATED
;ITNAATNE(;,::;TS (a) Market risk (a) W5 E MR
GARBRRME (i)  Foreign currency risk (i)  SMNEER R
The functional currency of most of the $’&TE’7§7§KWE’RE
Company’s subsidiaries is RMB since the WIngEE® B AR
majority of the revenues of the subsidiaries ERZEMBAR 2K
are derived from operations in the PRC. ZEURNIR B R R
Some subsidiaries of the Company have HeARRBETHBEA
foreign currency cash and cash equivalents ABENER e RESE
and bank borrowings, which expose the BEWMABITER Eﬁl$
FIVE-YEAR group to foreign currency risk. Management SEEENERR
FINANCIAL conducts periodic review of exposure and IEJ'EHJ%%B@TH 5
SUMMARY . . . o T
RESHEE settlgments of various currencies, and will B @b A E =1
consider hedging significant foreign currency BHERE %%?—5}‘(?‘3?%‘}
exposures should the need arise. /EPEK@\\%HI?“ °
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign REEINESTHERHEE
currency denominated monetary assets EE RS MERESE
(representing cash and cash equivalents) Ey) REEaE (AR
and monetary liabilities (representing bank TEFR) RRE BN
borrowings) at the reporting date are as follows: BREERT :
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
Assets BE
HK$ (as functional currency BT (EEEERBNE
of respective group entities) ~ E#¥) ¥ ARK
against RMB 64,519 121,383
HK$ (as functional currency BT (EREEENEE
of respective group entities) &) K=t
against US$ 2,303 216,921
RMB (as functional currency AR (SE£EETEMND
of respective group entities) BEE) HET
against US$ 271,792 81,818
RMB (as functional currency ~ AR (EEBEEEMNI
of respective group entities) BEEH) BT
against HK$ 12,869 3,017
EUR (as functional currency BT (HEEEERBNIE
of respective group entities) B HET
against US$ 5,262 6,785
Liabilities B
HK$ (as functional currency BT (EEEERBNE
of respective group entitles) &) X =5t
against US$ 2,288,249 2,283,715
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39 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2020: 5%) increase
and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the
following foreign currencies. 5% (2020:5%)
is the sensitivity rate which represents
management’s assessment of the possible
change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies and adjusts their translation at
the year end for the 5% (2020: 5%) change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US$ for an entity with HK$ as
its functional currency since US$ is pegged
to HK$. A negative number indicates a
decrease in pre-tax profit for the year when
the relevant functional currencies of the
group entities strengthen 5% (2020: 5%)
against the relevant foreign currencies. For
a 5% (2020: 5%) weakening of the relevant
functional currencies of the group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies, there
would be an equal but opposite impact on the
pre-tax profit for the year and the balances

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

39 %ﬂgﬁ%ﬁt#ﬁ%iﬁa%&ﬁ%

B AR REE ()
(a) WHEE (&)

(i) SNERER(E)
BEEDT
TERFHIAEEREE
HEREEEMEEE X
TONEFE K& B2 (E5%
(20204 : 5% ) B HY &
B JE 5% (20204 :
5%) MBURRE L TERE
[ %} 51N [ == ] e 4 )
ZEHE c IRE D ITE
BREAIINETHERNRE
BEBIEE RRERI
HNEE FE R 5% (20204 -
5%) 7 BENHERE#
THE -EETHRBT
B SURES TR
FE—RWEEEBAEE T
MERIETHENL
tHhe ABEXRTEERE
BBREEEE K8
B8 SN FHE5% (2020
F:5%) FFERBAT
FERmAD - EBELE
MHERETN B B K AE RS
NS BT (E5% (20204 -
5%)ME @ FEBRBA
FEEZIEREMRAR
VR E - LT E8BEA

below would be positive. 1B °
2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Pre-tax profit for the year FEBRB A FE
HK$ (as functional currency B (E5HE

of the relevant group entities) &) AR

against RMB

MTIBE

RMB (as functional currency AR (S£EETEND

of the relevant group entities) BE&E®) =TT

against US$

RMB (as functional currency AR (S£EETEND

of the relevant group entities) 8¢ &#) X T

against HK$
EUR (as functional currency Er

against US$

T(REHE
of the relevant group entities) &%) 4 3E7t

(3,226) (6,069)
(13,590) (4,001)
(643) (151)
791 B
(263) (339)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

EEERS  AEKRR
@ I T BE = R F A
% MHREI AL
REREERSNER B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BRRME

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARB3IR)

39 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(iiif)

Price risk

Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw
materials of the Group. The prices for
tinplate and aluminium may be affected
by market demand and supply, domestic
government policies and other economic
conditions. In order to maintain a continued
production cycle, the Group has a policy of
maintaining a certain level of the Group’s
tinplate and aluminium inventories. The
level of the Group’s tinplate and aluminium
inventories will depend on orders on hand,
the prices of tinplate and aluminium in the
market and the perceived future trend of the
tinplate and aluminium prices. To partially
minimise the Group’s market price risk
exposure, the Group enters into commodity
futures contracts of aluminium. In selecting
suppliers, the Group usually takes into
consideration the price and quality of the
tinplate and aluminium. The directors of the
Company believe it is not necessary for the
Group to enter into any long-term supply
contracts with its suppliers to ensure stable
material prices as there are various sources
of tinplate and aluminium and the Group has
not experienced any difficulties in securing
a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

Interest rate risk

Except for bank deposits with stable
interest rates, the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets. The Group’s interest
rate risk mainly arises from bank borrowings.
Bank borrowings obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. The Group has not
hedged its cash flow and fair value interest
rate risks. The interest rates and terms of
repayments of bank borrowings are disclosed
in Note 27.

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A
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BERARBEEEBRREE

(&)

ot %5 R B R 3 (4K
(a) WHEER (&)

(i)

(iii)

RN

BO#EME—RAEERN
FERMAE o B O #E A
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HE - BABATERE
N H A 88 AR R & o
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SEEESHEEESEO
AN 88 12 7 2R 5 E AP
ERE AU AEET
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39 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk (continued)

Management does not anticipate any
significant impact on interest-bearing assets
resulting from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of bank deposits
are not expected to change significantly.

If interest rates had been increased or
decreased by 25 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit
for the year ended 31 December 2021 would
decrease/increase by RMB8,003,000 (2020:
RMB8,098,000).

(b) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer
credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December.
The amounts presented are gross carrying
amounts for financial assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

39 %ﬂgﬁ%ﬁt#ﬁ%iﬁa%&ﬁ%

MR EREZE (E)
(a) WHEERE (&)

(i) FIE@RB (E)
BRRITERA T EE
HTEAEEE  E12
BEHAMNEHEEH TS
Hit BEEELTMNE

B2 98B
A& -

e HEERET
FimA = EFA TR
ORI B R, - NEENE
£2021F12A31H 1k
FEMFBBRLD
#h1 A R #8,003,000
7t (2020F : AR
8,098,0007T) °

(b) 1EEEE
AEBEHELRAN 58
RIUEWMBE=ZFETRS &
BAEBHBX TEHAE
EXRAGAAANETR
SHEFPETEREZ 5
O RE B E R AR TR AR
ETHBEE  UBERAS
BB EEERZRRR -
HRARERARBELCEEMLT
MEEBEENR S BRIk
REBEAENHPIEER
RlHtE - BRIARKETRM
ERAXZ G-

i

THREIMNI2A3IBERK
SEEERR (E2KEBH
RRIMNK AR 3RS 0 B A XA B
Rl MEREREERE
ERB&EAMO - 256 &
BERATREEMNBKREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂjﬁiﬁﬁ M;J-'E‘I (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREFIR)

39 Financial risk management objectives and 39 MEEAREEAEREE

e policies (continued) (%)
CASH FLOWS
GaReREX Financial risk factors (continued) Bk EE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EEEE (&)
As at 31 December 2021 2021F12A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
BRHEEER HREREERSE
NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED Simplified
g'TN:T'I‘E‘;I:‘E‘;TS Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach

RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR AREBTR AR®Tn ARBTR ARET:n

Trade receivables* EUlleN
Financial assets included T ATERF ~ H i€
in prepayments, other W R EMEEN

receivables and other EREE
FIVE-YEAR assets - - - 2,329,726 2,329,726
FINANCIAL - Normal** - E3" 121,239 - - - 121239
SUMMARY . 2
SEREE Pledggd deposits gnd Eiﬁﬁﬁmg

restricted deposit BRAEFR

— Not yet past due™* — FARE E 36,327 - - - 36,327

Cash and cash equivalents RE&RBELZED
— Not yet past due™* — FARE 1,917,295 - - - 1,917,295

2,074,861 -

2,329,726 4,404,587
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(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

39 BIXEREEEEZERERK

39 Financial risk management objectives and

. . . CONSOLIDATED
policies (continued) (&) STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
Financial risk factors (continued) BEREEREE (&) BABRERER

(b) Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2020

(b) 1=EEEE (&)
M2020512A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
BHEEER PHEREERE
BEMEEER PHEREEEE NOTES T0 THE
Simplified CONSOLIDATED
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach UL
o - — I STATEMENTS
F—EE FREE FREE BHNE EARMBREMT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARBT:x
Trade receivables* B 5 RG - - - 205039 2,050,398
Financial assets included ~ :FABM - Eft
in prepayments, other et R Bt B 8
receivables and other PREE
assets FIVE-YEAR
- Normal* - &~ 72,744 - - - 72,744 FINANCIAL
; 2 SUMMARY
P\edggd deposits gnd ET&W?M& REEHE
restricted deposit BR&ER
- Not yet past due™* — FAR S 97,407 - - - 97,407
Cash and cash equivalents BE&RBELZED
~ Not yet past due™* - AR 1,944,230 - - - 1,944,230
2,114,381 - - 2,050,398 4,164,779
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies * AR EERFEZ 7L
the simplified approach for impairment, information EACL-E ¢ -1
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in Note 20. TR 14 [ 19 B R T 7
2045 -

>k

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

As at 31 December 2021, all pledged deposits,
restricted deposit and bank balances were
deposited with licensed financial institutions
without significant credit risk. The Group has
concentration of credit risk as 7% (2020: 46%) of
the Group’s bank balances was due from COFCO
Finance. Management does not expect any losses
from non-performance of these counterparties.

**

i Et AT B IEW
HREMEEN & BEE
I R 2 B B ] 2E E R
REDHEENIZEEER
B Y] 15 7 58 LA & 18
o R E(ZHE E AR E
[IEF] - ZR ZE2H
BEMEEEERDEI7
FE) °

R2021FE12H318 » BF
BEBFFEHRERHTF
A FNIRITAE R TE A FFHE
THEE WEEXER
B o K EEE G BEE
R g R R A A S E R
TTAE B Z7% (20204 :
46%) KB H I TE o B
BE TS HEEL
S Y F BT B T KA
1l fE5 78 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
%—:\éﬂji%i&%l}ﬁa (Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBFIR)

39 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2020 (continued)
Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral. Further quantitative data in respect
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents,
the availability of funds through adequate amounts
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close
out market positions.

Except for non-current interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities, all the Group’s
financial liabilities will be settled within one year
or on demand based on the remaining contractual
maturity date at the end of the reporting period.

The maturity profile of the Group’s interest-bearing
bank borrowings and lease liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

39 BXEREEEEZERERK

(&)

B REREE (E)

(b) EEERE (&)
M2020512A31H (&)
AR AEBEEELRAA -
EERENEZFEMTR
S WL AT AT -
HAEE®EYRE S ERK
MELEMEERKREBNE
S TERRERAVERE
B 5F 2070 1 55 -

(c) REEzREE
HENRDHESRREER
FHBZHHREERESE
BY BBRRBEIRBEE X
EEERERENGERETH
BE®MEEMIHET 28
H o

BROEMEN AT BRITIER LA
EREIN REBREHRD
HTIRAEOMRAE K
SEMBMBRAERN —F
NRBEREHR -

REBEAEORMRNARE K
SERNRERRO BIRT
ERRHERENHEBR
LN

6 to less
Less than than 12 1to After
6 months months 5 years 5 years Total
DR6EA 6EAZ12BR 1EE5% 5% Bt
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥Tn AR¥TR AR%Tn
2021 20215
Interest-bearing bank FRRITER
borrowings 645,909 1,356,751 2,281,936 - 4,284,596
Lease liabilities HEaE 4,488 10,593 27,160 41,813 84,054
650,397 1,367,344 2,309,096 41,813 4,368,650
2020 2020%F
Interest-bearing bank STERTER
borrowings 1,036,785 1,279,269 2,014,575 - 4,330,629
Lease liabilities MEERE 5,544 6,305 27,694 51,493 91,036
1,042,329 1,285,574 2,042,269 51,493 4,421,665

CPMC Holdings Limited & 8 #£5 kB R A A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi) 42 & Bk & 35 22 R &F

(AARFITR)

39 Financial risk management objectives and 39 BHEAREEAEREE

policies (continued) (48) Pl

CASH FLOWS
Financial risk factors (continued) BEREEREE (&) BABRERER
Capital management BAEE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year ended 31 December 2021.

AEEEARERNTIZANRRE
AR BB NS ERE TR
RENEARLLE - M HEER
K KAEBREE -

AEERELSER LS RIE@EE
EZRBER  BEENERBWE
AEBEAAZRRNBRRINTREDN
TR MBRRREERNSEITIR
7 o REEWRZHFERINAE R
HERS - H £2021F12A31H
IEFE EEBERNERE  BURk
EFE R E o
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FIVE-YEAR
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group HMERNEMAR & NEBIRE Fsm?‘wc/\l:t
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. ERLERETEEER o ZLETHIE REHEHE

This ratio is calculated as net interest-bearing bank
borrowings divided by total equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, in which the net borrowings
are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a moderate gearing
ratio. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

FHERITEFUFRER AR R B IRA
FEAEBIEAERFE  ERER
FESBRAERERAERREE
B -

75 B SRS A AR L A
BAKT o s BIR 2 B K
mE -

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBT T
Total interest-bearing bank FFEIRITE B
borrowings (Note 27) (B az27) 4,214,282 4,263,720
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RekReE
(Note 22) B (K :#22) (1,917,295) (1,944,230)
Net borrowings BRRE 2,296,987 2,319,490
Equity attributable to equity ZAYNCI & ST DN
holders of the Company FEAE %R 5,477,698 5,217,680
Gearing ratio GERESs 2 42% 44%
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

eV BRRME

(AAREFIR)

40 Statement of financial position of the

Company

Information about the statement of financial position of
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:

40 74T F IR K

B R DRI & HIR M #5iR R &

ZEREINT

2021 2020
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - EKEE - 18
Right-of-use assets EREEE 73 978
Investments in subsidiaries RWBERANEE 3,886,471 3,935,214
Prepayments AR - 1,334
3,886,544 3,937,544
Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries NS E 2,696,841 2,608,958
Prepayments, other receivables AR - A ERSR R
and other assets B & E 380 4,945
Cash and cash equivalents BeENREFEDY 68,016 336,402
2,765,237 2,950,305
Current liabilities RBAE
Due to subsidiaries FET BB 2 B3R 440,399 464,926
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 1,473,094 1,746,529
Other payables and accruals H bS5 R FEETIE E 2,472 2,247
Lease liabilities HEBaE 76 920
1,916,041 2,214,622
Net current assets REBEEFE 849,196 735,683
Total assets less WEERRBEE
current liabilities 4,735,740 4,673,227
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFESRITER 1,811,560 1,629,148
Lease liabilities HEAE - 79
Total non-current liabilities HWERBEE 1,811,560 1,629,227
Net assets HEE 2,924,180 3,044,000
Equity =
Share capital fi% A 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves (Note) s (H i) 193,747 313,567
Total equity HRER 2,924,180 3,044,000
Zhang Xin Zhang Ye
RE PR
Director Director
= EE
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40 Statement of financial position of the 40 AR TEBARR T (F)

P CONSOLIDATED
Company (continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Note: B - BARSHER
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABZ FEESGRnT
Share-
based Exchange
payment fluctuation Retained
reserve reserve profits Total
DYi3iR:]
EREGHG EXRDEG  BEAR i CONSOLIDATED
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 FINANCIAL
As at 1 January 2020 202051318 18,780 99,971 73,437 192,188 FEMBRRMET
Profit and total comprehensive FEMBRZERZEE
income for the year - 21,491 437,017 458,508
2019 final dividend declared B EIR2019F RER 2 - - (63,904) (63,904)
2020 interim and special dividends ~ 2020%F 5] BRI 2 12 - - (144,745) (144,745)
Repurchase of own shares BB A5 KR 30 - - (128,480) (128,480)
As at 31 December 2020 and 20205127318 &
1 January 2021 2021F1A1H 18,780 121,462 173,325 313,567
Profit and total comprehensive FEMBRZENGEE FIVE-YEAR
income for the year - (64,001) 233,671 169,670 FINANCIAL
2020 final and special dividends BEIR2020F K& & SUMMARY
declared KRR S 12 - - (164,787) (164,787) nEMBHE
2021 interim dividend 2021 R HIRR S 12 - - (124,703) (124,703)
As at 31 December 2021 M2021F12 4318 18,780 57,461 117,506 193,747

41 Approval of the consolidated financial M HEFEMBEHREK

statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved BEEYR2022F3A228 it R IE
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 BB REMEHRE -

March 2022.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFHBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate,

TREJASERNBEREAMBFEZ
XA BE RERFEBEESHE
HEER TR E S TEE
BwmE Y B EHOEWER)

B A W

is as below:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARE®ETT AR%TE ARETR
Revenue ON 9,566,382 7,344,747 7,287,271 6,591,307 5,978,238
Cost of sales HERA (8,236,171) (6,181,523)  (6,189,886) (5,621,212)  (5,017,347)
Gross profit EA 1,330,211 1,163,224 1,097,385 970,095 960,891
Other income, gains and losses HEml A W REE 142,245 107,290 61,389 53,402 49,633
Selling and marketing expenses ~ HERLHE R (409,853) (323,161) (315,794) (310,937) (286,891)
Administrative expenses THER (431,922) (341,344) (320,200) (276,446) (269,548)
Finance costs HRER (65,590) (99,063) (135,878) (90,366) (43,839)
Share of results of joint ventures ~ [EIEALREES 1,568 91 - - -
Share of losses of an associate BB E R RBE - - - - (16)
Profit before income tax B BT 45 B4 A1 R B 566,659 507,037 386,902 345,748 410,230
Income tax expense EHAZ (93,200) (113,004) (80,363) (80,476) (98,358)
Profit for the year FENH 473,459 394,033 306,539 265,272 311,872
Attributable to: el
Equity holders of the Company ARAARAREA 462,498 389,388 302,090 255,061 310,511
Non-controlling interests R 10,961 4,645 4,449 10,211 1,361
473,459 394,033 306,539 265,272 311,872
Assets, liabilities and EE BEH
non-controlling interests FERER
Total assets BEE 12,991,814 11,796,365 11,317,531 10,975,684 10,250,514
Total liabilities BEE (7,172,775)  (6,293,402)  (6,102,538)  (5,727,096)  (4,958,422)
Non-controlling interests FERER (341,341) (285,283) (279,289) (351,551) (316,552)
5,477,698 5,217,680 4,935,704 4,897,037 4,975,540
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